
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
03052014.1545 Page 1 of 4 

2014 Regular Session     The Florida Senate  

 COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

   

    COMMUNITY AFFAIRS 

 Senator Simpson, Chair 

 Senator Thompson, Vice Chair 

 
MEETING DATE: Wednesday, March 5, 2014 

TIME: 1:30 —3:30 p.m. 
PLACE: 301 Senate Office Building 

MEMBERS: Senator Simpson, Chair; Senator Thompson, Vice Chair; Senators Bradley, Hukill, Latvala, Smith, 
Soto, Stargel, and Thrasher 

 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
1 
 

 
SB 626 

Hays 
(Identical H 587) 
 

 
Charitable Exemption from Ad Valorem Taxation; 
Providing that, for purposes of the charitable 
exemption from ad valorem taxation, property owned 
by an exempt organization is used for a charitable 
purpose if the organization has taken affirmative 
steps to prepare the property for a charitable purpose, 
etc. 
 
CA 03/05/2014 Favorable 
AFT   
AP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 

 
2 
 

 
SB 730 

Galvano 
(Identical H 503) 
 

 
Municipal Governing Body Meetings; Authorizing the 
governing body of a municipality to hold joint 
meetings with the governing body of the county within 
which the municipality is located, etc. 
 
CA 03/05/2014 Fav/CS 
GO   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 

 
3 
 

 
CS/SB 378 

Military and Veterans Affairs, 
Space, and Domestic Security / 
Abruzzo 
(Similar H 677) 
 

 
County and Municipal Parks; Requiring counties and 
municipalities to provide partial or full discounts on 
park entrance fees to military members, veterans, and 
the spouses and parents of certain deceased military 
members, law enforcement officers, and firefighters; 
requiring that individuals seeking the discount present 
written documentation satisfactory to the county or 
municipality which evidences eligibility; defining the 
term “park entrance fee” and providing certain 
exclusions, etc. 
 
MS 02/18/2014 Fav/CS 
CA 03/05/2014 Fav/CS 
AP   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Community Affairs 
Wednesday, March 5, 2014, 1:30 —3:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
03052014.1545 Page 2 of 4 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
4 
 

 
SB 358 

Ring 
(Compare CS/H 139) 
 

 
Volunteers for Organized Youth Sports and 
Recreational Programs; Expanding provisions relating 
to athletic coaches for independent sanctioning 
authorities to require youth sports or recreation 
authorities to conduct specified background screening 
of all volunteers with any youth athletic team or 
organized youth recreational program using publicly 
owned facilities; prohibiting a youth sports or 
recreation authority from delegating such duty; 
requiring that specified documentation be maintained 
for a specified period by such authorities, etc. 
 
CF 02/04/2014 Favorable 
CA 03/05/2014 Favorable 
RC   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 

 
5 
 

 
SB 392 

Brandes / Clemens 
(Identical H 761) 
 

 
State Speed Zones; Raising the maximum allowable 
speed limit on certain highways; increasing the 
maximum allowable speed limit on roadways under 
the jurisdiction of the Department of Transportation, 
etc.  
 
TR 01/16/2014 Favorable 
CA 03/05/2014 Favorable 
AP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 7 Nays 2 
 

 
6 
 

 
CS/SB 586 

Environmental Preservation and 
Conservation / Altman 
(Similar CS/H 325) 
 

 
Brownfields; Revising legislative intent with regard to 
community revitalization in certain areas; revising 
procedures for designation of brownfield areas by 
local governments; providing procedures for adoption 
of a resolution; providing requirements for notice and 
public hearings; authorizing local governments to use 
a term other than “brownfield area” when naming 
such areas; providing an exemption from liability for 
property damages for entities that execute and 
implement certain brownfield site rehabilitation 
agreements, etc.  
 
EP 02/05/2014 Fav/CS 
CA 03/05/2014 Favorable 
JU   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 8 Nays 1 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Community Affairs 
Wednesday, March 5, 2014, 1:30 —3:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
03052014.1545 Page 3 of 4 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
7 
 

 
CS/SB 846 

Ethics and Elections / Latvala 
(Compare H 655, S 606) 
 

 
Governmental Ethics; Specifying the applicability of 
certain provisions of the Code of Ethics for Public 
Officers and Employees to members of the executive 
council of the Florida Clerks of Court Operations 
Corporation;  requiring an officer required to 
participate in annual ethics training to certify 
participation on his or her full and public disclosure of 
financial interests; specifying the applicability of 
certain provisions of the Code of Ethics for Public 
Officers and Employees to division officers of 
Enterprise Florida, Inc., etc.  
 
EE 02/17/2014 Fav/CS 
CA 03/05/2014 Fav/CS 
AP   
 

 
Fav/CS 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 

 
8 
 

 
SB 806 

Bradley 
(Identical H 651) 
 

 
Value Adjustment Board Proceedings; Requiring the 
clerk of the value adjustment board to have available 
and distribute specified forms; authorizing the owner 
of multiple items of tangible personal property to file a 
joint petition with the value adjustment board under 
certain circumstances; requiring the property 
appraiser to include the property record card in an 
evidence list for a value adjustment board hearing 
under certain circumstances, etc. 
 
CA 03/05/2014 Favorable 
AFT   
AP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 

 
9 
 

 
CS/SB 544 

Agriculture / Simpson 
(Similar CS/H 523, Compare CS/H 
525, Link S 546) 
 

 
Licensure to Carry a Concealed Weapon or Firearm; 
Authorizing an applicant for a license to carry a 
concealed weapon or firearm to submit the 
application to an appointed tax collector; authorizing 
the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 
Services to appoint tax collectors to accept 
applications for new or renewal licenses to carry a 
concealed weapon or firearm on behalf of the Division 
of Licensing of the Department of Agriculture and 
Consumer Services; providing an appropriation, etc. 
 
CJ 02/03/2014 Favorable 
AG 02/17/2014 Fav/CS 
CA 03/05/2014 Favorable 
AP   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 9 Nays 0 
 



COMMITTEE MEETING EXPANDED AGENDA 

Community Affairs 
Wednesday, March 5, 2014, 1:30 —3:30 p.m.            
 

 

 S-036 (10/2008) 
03052014.1545 Page 4 of 4 

TAB BILL NO. and INTRODUCER 
BILL DESCRIPTION and 

SENATE COMMITTEE ACTIONS COMMITTEE ACTION 

 
10 
 

 
SB 926 

Simpson 
(Similar H 957) 
 

 
Local Regulation of Wage Theft; Providing 
requirements for county ordinances regulating wage 
theft; authorizing county funding to assist in 
addressing claims of wage theft; preempting further 
regulation of wage theft to the state; providing an 
exception for an ordinance enacted by a specified 
date, etc. 
 
CA 03/05/2014 Favorable 
JU   
RC   
 

 
Favorable 
        Yeas 6 Nays 3 
 

 
 
 

 
Other Related Meeting Documents 
 
 

 
 
 

 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  SB 626 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Hays 

SUBJECT:  Charitable Exemption from Ad Valorem Taxation 

DATE:  March 3, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. White  Yeatman  CA  Favorable 

2.     AFT   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 626 expands the ad valorem tax exemption for charitable purpose to include when the exempt 

organization owning the property takes affirmative steps to prepare the property for a charitable 

purpose.  

II. Present Situation: 

Property Tax Assessments 

Article VII, section 4 of the Florida Constitution requires that all property be assessed at just 

value for ad valorem tax purposes. Just value has been interpreted by the courts to mean fair 

market value, or what a willing buyer would pay a willing seller for the property in an arm’s 

length transaction.1 Section 193.011, F.S., requires property appraisers to consider eight factors 

in determining the property’s just valuation.2 

 

Article VII, section 4 of the Florida Constitution provides exceptions to this requirement for 

agricultural land, land producing high water recharge to Florida's aquifers, and land used 

exclusively for noncommercial recreational purposes, all of which may be assessed solely on the 

basis of their character or use. Tangible personal property that is held as inventory may be 

assessed at a specified percentage of its value or may be totally exempted.3 The State 

Constitution also limits the amount by which the assessed value may increase in a given year for 

certain classes of property.4 

 

                                                 
1 See Walter v. Shuler, 176 So. 2d 81 (Fla. 1965); Deltona Corp. v. Bailey, 336 So. 2d 1163 (Fla. 1976); Southern Bell Tel. & 

Tel. Co. v. Dade County, 275 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1973). 
2 See s. 193.011(1)-(8), F.S. 
3 Section 196.185, F.S. 
4 See FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 4(d) & (g) 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 626   Page 2 

 

Article VII, sections 3 and 6 of the Florida Constitution permits a number of tax exemptions. 

 

Property Entitled to Charitable, Religious, Scientific, or Literary Exemptions 

In determining whether the use of a property qualifies the property for an ad valorem tax 

exemption under s. 196.196, F.S., the property appraiser must consider the nature and extent of 

the charitable or other qualifying activity compared to other activities performed by the 

organization owning the property, and the availability of the property for use by other charitable 

or other qualifying entities.5 Only the portions of the property used predominantly for the 

charitable or other qualified purposes may be exempt from ad valorem taxation. If the property 

owned by an exempt entity is used exclusively for exempt purposes, it shall be totally exempt 

from ad valorem taxation. 

 

Property used for religious purposes may be exempt if the entity has taken affirmative steps to 

prepare the property for use as a house of worship. The term "affirmative steps" is defined by 

statute to mean: 

 environmental or land use permitting activities, 

 creation of architectural or schematic drawings, 

 land clearing or site preparation,  

 construction or renovation activities, or  

 other similar activities that demonstrate a commitment to a religious use.6 

 

In 2009, the Legislature amended s. 196.196, F.S., to provide that property owned by an exempt 

organization that is qualified as charitable under s. 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, is 

considered to be used for a charitable purpose if the organization has taken “affirmative steps” to 

prepare the property to provide affordable housing to persons or families meeting the income 

restrictions for extremely-low, very-low, low, and moderate income families.7 The 2009 

amendment also provided penalties for properties granted a charitable exemption under this 

subsection that are transferred for purposes other than affordable housing, or if the property is 

not actually used as affordable housing, within 5 years after the exemption is granted. 

 

Charitable Organizations 

Under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code, an organization may only be tax-exempt 

if it is organized and operated for exempt purposes, including charitable and religious purposes. 

None of the organization's earnings may benefit any private shareholder or individual, and the 

organization may not attempt to influence legislation as a substantial part of its activities. 

Charitable purposes include relief of the poor, the distressed or the underprivileged, the 

advancement of religion, and lessening the burdens of government. 

 

Section 196.012(7), F.S., defines a charitable purpose as a function or service which is of such a 

community service that its discountenance could legally result in the allocation of public funds 

for the continuance of the function or the service. 

                                                 
5 Section 196.196(1)(a)-(b), F.S. 
6 Section 196.196(3), F.S. 
7 Chapter 2009-96, Laws of Fla. (2009 SB 360). 



BILL: SB 626   Page 3 

 

 

Determining Profit vs. Non-Profit Status of an Entity 

Section 196.195, F.S., outlines the statutory criteria that a property appraiser must consider in 

determining whether an applicant for a religious, literary, scientific, or charitable exemption is a 

nonprofit or profit-making venture. When applying for an exemption under this section, an 

applicant is required to provide the property appraiser with “such fiscal and other records 

showing in reasonable detail the financial condition, record of operations, and exempt and 

nonexempt uses of the property . . . for the immediately preceding fiscal year.”8 

 

The applicant must show that “no part of the subject property, or the proceeds of the sale, lease, 

or other disposition thereof, will inure to the benefit of its members, directors, or officers or any 

person or firm operating for profit or for a nonexempt purpose.”9 

 

Based on the information provided by the applicant, the property appraiser must use the specified 

statutory criteria outlined in subsection (2) of s. 196.195, F.S., to determine whether the applicant 

is a nonprofit or profit-making venture or if the property is used for a profit-making purpose.10 

 

A religious, literary, scientific, or charitable exemption may not be granted until the property 

appraiser, or value adjustment board on appeal, has determined the applicant to be nonprofit 

under s. 196.195, F.S.11 

 

After calculating the assessed value of the property, the appraiser subtracts the value of any 

applicable exemptions to determine the property’s taxable value. The taxable value multiplied by 

the millage rate equals the property’s yearly tax bill. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 amends s. 196.196, F.S., to extend the ad valorem tax exemption for charitable 

purposes to properties that are owned by exempt organizations that have taken affirmative steps 

to prepare the property for a charitable purpose, as defined in s. 196.012, F.S. 

 

Section 2 provides an effective date of July 1, 2014. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Article VII, section 18(b) of the Florida Constitution requires any general law that 

reduces a local government’s authority to raise revenues in the aggregate, to be passed by 

a two-thirds vote of the membership of each house of the Legislature.12 By reducing the 

tax base upon which counties and municipalities may raise ad valorem revenue, this bill 

will reduce a local government’s revenue-raising authority. 

                                                 
8 Section 196.195(1), F.S. 
9 Section 196.195(3), F.S. 
10 Section 196.195(2)(a)-(e), F.S. 
11 Section 196.195(4), F.S. 
12 FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 18(b). 



BILL: SB 626   Page 4 

 

 

Article VII, section 18(d) of the Florida Constitution provides an exemption if the law is 

determined to have an insignificant fiscal impact.13 An insignificant fiscal impact means 

an amount not greater than ten cents times the average statewide population for the 

applicable fiscal year.14 A fiscal estimate is not available for this bill. If it is determined 

that this bill has more than an insignificant fiscal impact, it will require a two-thirds vote 

of the membership of each house of the Legislature for passage. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

Non-profit organizations that own real property and take affirmative steps to prepare that 

property for a charitable purpose will be exempt from ad valorem taxation. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Non-profit organizations that own real property and take affirmative steps to prepare that 

property for a charitable purpose will be exempt from ad valorem taxation. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

This bill may have an impact on local government revenue as a result of extending the ad 

valorem tax exemption for charitable purposes to properties that are owned by exempt 

organizations that have taken affirmative steps to prepare the property for a charitable 

purpose. The Revenue Estimating Conference has not determined the fiscal impact of this 

bill. 

 

The Department of Revenue may need to review and update Form DR-504, Ad Valorem 

Tax Exemption Application and Return, as a result of this bill. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

                                                 
13 FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 18(d). 
14 As of April 1, 2013, the total state population is estimated to be 19,259,543. University of Florida, Bureau of Economic 

and Business Research, Florida Estimates of Population 2013 (Apr. 1, 2013), at 21. 



BILL: SB 626   Page 5 

 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends section 196.196 of the Florida Statutes. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 626 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1886143Î188614 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/4/2014 11:51:06 AM 578-02106-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Thrasher) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 22 - 23 3 

and insert: 4 

steps to prepare the property for a charitable purpose and the 5 

property is not being used for profitmaking purposes while 6 

affirmative steps are taken. If the property owned by an exempt 7 

organization is not in actual use for a charitable purpose 8 

within 5 years after the date the organization is granted an 9 

exemption, the organization is subject to sanctions as set forth 10 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 626 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1886143Î188614 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/4/2014 11:51:06 AM 578-02106-14 

in paragraph (5)(b). The term “affirmative steps” means 11 

 12 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 13 

And the title is amended as follows: 14 

Delete lines 4 - 6 15 

and insert: 16 

the property for a charitable purpose; clarifying that 17 

an organization claiming an exception for property 18 

that is not used for charitable purposes is subject to 19 

sanctions; providing an 20 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 626 

 

 

  

By Senator Hays 

 

 

 

 

 

11-00900-14 2014626__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to the charitable exemption from ad 2 

valorem taxation; amending s. 196.196, F.S.; providing 3 

that, for purposes of the charitable exemption from ad 4 

valorem taxation, property owned by an exempt 5 

organization is used for a charitable purpose if the 6 

organization has taken affirmative steps to prepare 7 

the property for a charitable purpose; providing an 8 

effective date. 9 

  10 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 11 

 12 

Section 1. Subsection (3) of section 196.196, Florida 13 

Statutes, is amended to read: 14 

196.196 Determining whether property is entitled to 15 

charitable, religious, scientific, or literary exemption.— 16 

(3) Property owned by an exempt organization is used for a 17 

religious purpose if the institution has taken affirmative steps 18 

to prepare the property for use as a house of public worship. 19 

Property owned by an exempt organization is used for a 20 

charitable purpose if the institution has taken affirmative 21 

steps to prepare the property for a charitable purpose as 22 

defined in s. 196.012. The term “affirmative steps” means 23 

environmental or land use permitting activities, creation of 24 

architectural plans or schematic drawings, land clearing or site 25 

preparation, construction or renovation activities, or other 26 

similar activities that demonstrate a commitment of the property 27 

to a charitable use or a religious use as a house of public 28 

worship. For purposes of this subsection, the term “public 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 626 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

11-00900-14 2014626__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

worship” means religious worship services and those other 30 

activities that are incidental to religious worship services, 31 

such as educational activities, parking, recreation, partaking 32 

of meals, and fellowship. 33 

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 34 







 

 

SENATOR ALAN HAYS 
11th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
COMMITTEES: 
Appropriations Subcommittee on General 
   Government, Chair 
Children, Families, and Elder Affairs, Vice Chair 
Governmental Oversight and  
   Accountability, Vice Chair 
Appropriations 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Criminal and  
   Civil Justice 
Banking and Insurance 
Commerce and Tourism 
 
SELECT COMMITTEE: 
Select Committee on Indian River Lagoon 
   and Lake Okeechobee Basin 
 
JOINT COMMITTEES: 
Joint Select Committee on Collective Bargaining, 
   Co-Chair 
Joint Legislative Auditing Committee 
Joint Legislative Budget Commission 
  

 
 REPLY TO: 
   871 South Central Avenue, Umatilla, Florida 32784-9290  (352) 742-6441 
   320 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5011 
   1104 Main Street, The Villages, Florida 32159  (352) 360-6739  FAX: (352) 360-6748 
   685 West Montrose Street, Suite 110, Clermont, Florida 34711   (352) 241-9344   FAX:  (888) 263-3677 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

March 3, 2014 

 

Senator Wilton Simpson, Chair 

Community Affairs Committee 

404 S. Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL 32399-1100 

 

RE:  SB 626 Charitable Organizations 

 

Dear Chair Simpson,  

 

I respectfully request that you allow my aide, Nanci Cornwell to present the above reference bill 

in committee.  I will be in another committee presenting bills and will be unable to make it to the 

Community Affairs Committee in time to present the information. 

 

Thank you for your favorable consideration of this request. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
 

D. Alan Hays, DMD 

State Senator  

District 11 

 

CC:  Tom Yeatman, Staff Director 

 Ann Whitaker, Administrative Assistant 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  CS/SB 730 

INTRODUCER:  Community Affairs Committee and Senator Galvano 

SUBJECT:  Municipal Governing Body Meetings 

DATE:  March 3, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Stearns  Yeatman  CA  Fav/CS 

2.     GO   

 

Please see Section IX. for Additional Information: 

COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE - Substantial Changes 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 730 authorizes the governing body of a municipality to hold joint meetings upon matters 

of mutual interest with the governing body of the county within which the municipality is located 

at a time and place prescribed by ordinance or resolution. The meeting may be located inside or 

outside the boundaries of the municipality. 

II. Present Situation: 

County Government Meeting Authority 

The Florida Constitution provides non-charter counties the power of self-government as is 

provided by general or special law.1 The legislative and governing body of a non-charter county 

has the power to carry on county government to the extent not inconsistent with general or 

special law.2 Non-charter counties are further authorized to hold special and regular meetings at 

“any appropriate public place in the county,” after giving proper public notice.3 Charter counties 

have all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law or special law.4 These 

provisions give charter and non-charter counties the authority to hold joint meetings with cities at 

any place within the county. 

 

                                                 
1 Fla. Const. art. VIII, s. 1(f).  
2 Section 125.01, F.S. 
3 Section 125.001, F.S. 
4 Fla. Const. art VIII, s. 1(g). 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 730   Page 2 

 

Municipal Government Meeting Authority 

The Florida Constitution grants local governments broad home rule authority. Specifically, 

municipalities have those governmental, corporate, and proprietary powers that enable them to 

conduct municipal government, perform their functions and provide services, and exercise any 

power for municipal purposes, except as otherwise provided by law.5 However, the Florida 

Constitution states that annexation of unincorporated territory, merger of municipalities, and 

exercise of extra-territorial powers by municipalities shall be as provided by general or special 

law.6 Similarly, s. 166.021, F.S., gives municipalities home rule powers with the following 

exceptions: annexation, merger, exercise of extraterritorial power, and subjects prohibited by the 

state constitution or preempted to state or county government. 

 

In 2011, the Legislature created s. 166.0213, F.S., to allow small municipalities that did not have 

the proper facilities available to act as a temporary city hall to hold public meetings within five 

miles of their jurisdictional boundaries. Prior to the enactment of that law, multiple attorney 

general opinions had indicated that there was no statutory authorization to hold public meetings 

outside of the municipality, as required by the Florida Constitution.7 “[I]n the absence of such 

statutory authorization, acts and proceedings at meetings held outside the municipal jurisdiction 

are void unless such actions are statutorily authorized.”8 

 

Joint meetings between the governing bodies of cities and counties are common practice across 

the state. These meetings generally take place in the concerned city, however, legislative staff 

has found several instances of joint meetings held beyond municipal boundaries, including in the 

counties of Highlands, Charlotte and Indian River.9 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 of the bill amends s. 166.0213, F.S., to authorize the governing body of a municipality 

to hold joint meetings to receive, discuss, and act upon matters of mutual interest with the 

governing body of the county within which the municipality is located. The time and place of the 

joint meeting may be prescribed by municipal ordinance or resolution. The meeting may be 

located inside or outside the municipality boundaries.  

 

Section 2 provides an effective date of July 1, 2014.  

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

                                                 
5 Art. VIII, s. 2(b), Fla. Const.; see also s. 166.021, F.S. 
6 Art. VIII, s. 2(c), Fla. Const. 
7 Art. VIII, s. 2(c), Fla. Const.; s. 166.021, F.S., Op. Att’y Gen. Fla 2008-01 (2008); Op. Att’y Gen. Fla 2003-03 (2003); Op. 

Att’y Gen. Fla 75-139 (1975); see also County of Okeechobee v. Florida Nat. Bank, 150 So. 124, 126 (Fla. 1933). 
8 Op. Att’y Gen. Fla 2008-01 (2008). 
9 List of Meeting Notices for Joint meetings held beyond municipal boundaries on file with Community Affairs Committee 

Staff. 



BILL: CS/SB 730   Page 3 

 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

Article I, section 24(b) of the Florida Constitution, and s. 286.011, F.S., known as the 

Sunshine Law, specify the requirements for open meetings. Open meetings are defined as 

any meeting of any board or commission of any state agency or authority or of any 

agency or authority of any county, municipal corporation, or political subdivision, at 

which official acts are to be taken. No resolution, rule, or formal action shall be 

considered binding unless it is taken or made at an open meeting.10 

 

At least one public meeting over 100 miles from the relevant jurisdiction has been held to 

be a violation of the Sunshine Laws because it was decided that affected citizens were not 

given reasonable opportunity to attend.11  

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

None. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

None. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends section 166.0213 of the Florida Statutes. 

                                                 
10 Section 286.011, F.S. 
11 Rhea v. School Bd. of Alachua County, 636 So.2d 1383 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). 



BILL: CS/SB 730   Page 4 

 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Community Affairs on March 5, 2014:  
Provides that the county governing body may attend a joint meeting with a municipal 

governing body within the municipal boundaries under certain circumstances.  

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 730 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì199272:Î199272 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/3/2014 12:15:12 PM 578-01732-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Bradley) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 18 - 22 3 

and insert: 4 

(2) The governing body of a municipality may hold joint 5 

meetings with the governing body of the county within which the 6 

municipality is located in order to receive, discuss, and act 7 

upon matters of mutual interest. A joint meeting may be held 8 

within the municipality or the county at such time and place as 9 

may be prescribed by ordinance or resolution. 10 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. SB 730 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì199272:Î199272 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/3/2014 12:15:12 PM 578-01732-14 

 11 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 12 

And the title is amended as follows: 13 

Delete line 6 14 

and insert: 15 

municipality is located; providing for the location 16 

and time of such meetings; providing an effective 17 

date. 18 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 730 

 

 

  

By Senator Galvano 

 

 

 

 

 

26-00887A-14 2014730__ 

Page 1 of 1 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to municipal governing body meetings; 2 

amending s. 166.0213, F.S.; authorizing the governing 3 

body of a municipality to hold joint meetings with the 4 

governing body of the county within which the 5 

municipality is located; providing an effective date. 6 

  7 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 8 

 9 

Section 1. Section 166.0213, Florida Statutes, is amended 10 

to read: 11 

166.0213 Governing body meetings.— 12 

(1) The governing body of a municipality having a 13 

population of 500 or fewer residents may hold meetings within 5 14 

miles of the exterior jurisdictional boundary of the 15 

municipality at such time and place as may be prescribed by 16 

ordinance or resolution. 17 

(2) The governing body of a municipality may hold joint 18 

meetings to receive, discuss, and act upon matters of mutual 19 

interest with the governing body of the county within which the 20 

municipality is located at such time and place as may be 21 

prescribed by ordinance or resolution. 22 

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 23 





 

 

SENATOR BILL GALVANO 
26th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
COMMITTEES: 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Education, Chair 
Agriculture 
Appropriations 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Health 
   and Human Services 
Education 
Gaming 
Health Policy 
Regulated Industries 
Rules 
 

 

 
 REPLY TO: 
   1023 Manatee Avenue West, Suite 201, Bradenton, Florida 34205 
   326 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5026 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

 

 

 

February 10, 2014 

 

 

 

Senator Wilton Simpson 

315 Knott Building 

404 South Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL  32399 

 

Dear Chairman Simpson: 

 

I respectfully request that SB 730, Municipal Governing Body Meetings, be scheduled for a 

hearing in the Committee on Community Affairs at your earliest convenience.   

 

If I may be of assistance to you on this or any other matter, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Thank you for your consideration of this matter. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

Bill Galvano 

 

 

cc:   Tom Yeatman 

 Ann Whittaker 



 
The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 378 

INTRODUCER:  Community Affairs Committee; Military and Veterans Affairs, Space, and Domestic 

Security Committee; and Senator Abruzzo 

SUBJECT:  County and Municipal Parks 

DATE:  March 5, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Ryon  Ryon  MS  Fav/CS 

2. White  Yeatman  CA  Fav/CS 

3.     AP   

 

Please see Section IX. for Additional Information: 

COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE - Substantial Changes 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/SB 378 requires county and municipal departments of parks and recreation to provide a 

full or partial discount on park entrance fees to the following individuals: 

 An active duty military servicemember; 

 An honorably discharged military veteran; 

 An honorably discharged military veteran with a service-connected disability; 

 The surviving spouse or parents of a military servicemember who died in combat; and 

 The surviving spouse or parent of a law enforcement officer or a firefighter who died in the 

line of duty. 

 

The bill also requires regional transportation authorities to provide disabled veterans with 

discounts on fares or charges. 

II. Present Situation: 

Veteran and Military Presence in Florida 

 

The composition of military personnel who reside in Florida consists of the following: 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 378   Page 2 

 

 1.6 million veterans;1 

 249,000 veterans with a service-connected disability;2 

 56,700 active duty personnel;3 

 35,600 reservists;4 and 

 12,000 Florida National Guard members.5 

 
After their military service, veterans may qualify for a variety of benefits administered by the U.S. 

Department of Veteran’s Affairs (VA), and by the State of Florida. Family members of veterans also 

may qualify for benefits, and for monthly VA payments as survivors of disabled or pensioned 

veterans.6 

 

State Park Entrance Fee Discounts 

 

The Division of Recreation and Parks (DRP) within the Department of Environmental Protection 

oversees Florida’s 160 state parks. The DRP offers two types of annual entrance passes: the 

individual annual entrance pass for $60 and the family annual entrance pass for $120. The DRP 

currently provides park entrance fee discounts pursuant to the following:7 

 Active duty members and honorably discharged veterans of the U.S. Armed Forces, National 

Guard, or reserve components receive a 25 percent discount on an annual entrance pass; 

 Veterans with service-connected disabilities receive a free-for-life family annual entrance 

pass; 

 Surviving spouses and parents of deceased members of the U.S. Armed Forces, National 

Guard, or reserve components who have fallen in combat receive a free-for-life family annual 

entrance pass; and  

 Surviving spouses and parents of a law enforcement officer or firefighter who died in the line 

of duty receive a free-for-life family annual entrance pass.  

 

The table below reflects the application of the Florida state park entrance fee discounts provided 

in s. 258.0145, F.S., for fiscal year 2012-13.8 

 

State Park Entrance Fee Discounts: FY 2012-13 

(Pursuant to s. 258.0145, F.S.) 

Individual Entrance Pass  

(25% discount: active duty servicemembers and veterans) 
1,115 

Value of Discount $16,725 

Family Annual Entrance Pass  

(25% discount: active duty servicemembers and veterans) 
3,200 

                                                 
1 Florida Department of Veterans’ Affairs, Fast Facts, http://floridavets.org/?page_id=50 (last visited Feb. 28, 2014). 
2 Id. 
3 Data provided by Haas Center for Business Research and Economic Development at the University of West Florida.  
4 Id. 
5 Florida Department of Military Affairs, About Us, http://www.floridaguard.army.mil/about-us (last visited Feb. 28, 2014). 
6 U.S. Dep’t of Veterans Affairs, Office of Public Affairs, State Summary: Florida (Nov. 2010); Florida Dep’t of Veteran’s 

Affairs, Florida Veteran’s Benefits Guide (2013), available at http://floridavets.org/?page_id=110 (last visited Mar. 5, 2014); 

Florida Dep’t of Revenue, Homestead and Other Exemptions, 

http://dor.myflorida.com/dor/property/taxpayers/exemptions.html (last visited Mar. 5, 2014). 
7 Section 258.0145, F.S. 
8 Data provided by Department of Environmental Protection staff on 2-12-14. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 378   Page 3 

 

Value of Discount $96,000 

Lifetime Family Annual Entrance Pass 
(Full discount: disabled veterans; the spouse and parents of a fallen military 

servicemember, law enforcement officer, or firefighter) 

14,381 

Value of Discount $1,725,720 

Total Passes FY 12-13 18,696 

Total Value of Discount $1,838,445 

 

Current law does not address entrance fee discounts for county and municipal parks for current 

and former military personnel and their families or the families of deceased first responders. 

There are approximately 250 county and municipal parks and recreation agencies in Florida, 

each managing a number of park areas, which offer a variety of amenities.9 

 

Florida Transportation Authorities and Passenger Rail Systems 

Chapters 348 and 349, F.S., govern the Florida Regional Transportation Authorities. Chapter 

343, F.S., provides for the creation of the South Florida Regional Transportation Authority, the 

Central Florida Regional Transportation Authority, the Northwest Florida Transportation 

Corridor Authority, and the Tampa Bay Area Regional Transportation Authority. Chapter 348, 

F.S., provides for the creation of the Miami-Dade Expressway Authority, the Tampa-

Hillsborough County Expressway Authority, the Orlando-Orange County Expressway Authority, 

the Santa Rosa Bay Bridge Authority, and the Osceola County Expressway Authority. Chapter 

349, F.S., establishes the Jacksonville Transportation Authority. 

 

Tri-Rail, operated by the South Florida Regional Transportation Authority, is the only publicly 

funded passenger rail system in the state.10 Tri-Rail currently offers a 50 percent discount on Fare 

EASY Cards to persons with disabilities. A few of the acceptable forms of documentation to 

present at the ticket kiosk include a Disabled Veterans ID, a letter from a physician, a Drivers 

License indicating disability, a Medicare Card, or Social Security documentation for Disability 

Benefits.11 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill creates sections 125.028 and 166.0447, F.S., to require county departments of parks and 

recreation and municipal departments of parks and recreation, respectively, to provide a partial 

or a full discount on park entrance fees to the following persons: 

 A current member of the U.S. Armed Forces, including its reserve and National Guard 

components;  

 An honorably discharged veteran of the U.S. Armed Forces, including its reserve and 

National Guard components;  

 An honorably discharged veteran with a service-connected disability as determined by the 

U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs; 

                                                 
9 Data provided by the Florida Recreation and Parks Association, Inc., on 2-14-14. 
10 South Florida Regional Transportation Authority, Overview, http://www.sfrta.fl.gov/overview.aspx (last visited Mar. 5, 

2014). 
11 Tri-Rail, Discount Policy, http://www.tri-rail.com/fares/discount-policy/ (last visited Mar. 5, 2014). 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 378   Page 4 

 

 The surviving spouse and parents of a deceased member of the U.S. Armed Forces, including 

its reserve and National Guard components, who died in the line of duty under combat-

related conditions; and  

 The surviving spouse and parents of a law enforcement officer or firefighter who died in the 

line of duty. 

 

The bill also defines the term “park entrance fee” to mean a fee charged to access lands managed 

by a county or city park or recreation department, excluding expanded amenity fees for amenities 

such as, campgrounds, aquatic facilities, stadiums or arenas, facility rentals, special events, boat 

launching, golf, zoos, museums, gardens, or programs taking place within public lands. 

 

The bill also provides disabled veterans, as described in section 295.07(1)(a), with discounts 

when using a transportation system or facility owned or operated by a regional transportation 

authority. The regional transportation authority may offer either a full or partial discount to a 

disabled veteran, upon a showing of written documentation evidencing eligibility. 

 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2014. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Article VII, section 18(b) of the Florida Constitution requires any general law that 

reduces a local government’s authority to raise revenues in the aggregate, to be passed by 

a two-thirds vote of the membership of each house of the Legislature.12 This bill has the 

effect of reducing municipal and county revenues generated from park entrance fees by 

adding discounts for the military, their families, and the families of deceased first 

responders. The bill may be exempt from needing a two-thirds vote due to insignificant 

fiscal impact,13 but no fiscal impact estimate is available at this time. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
12 FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 18(b). 
13 FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 18(d). An insignificant fiscal impact means an amount not greater than ten cents times the average 

statewide population for the applicable fiscal year. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 378   Page 5 

 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Current and former military personnel, spouses and parents of deceased military 

servicemembers who have fallen in combat and also the spouses and parents of law 

enforcement officers or firefighters who have fallen in the line of duty will be eligible for 

a full or partial discount on entrance fees at county and municipal parks. Disabled 

military veterans will be eligible for a full or partial discount when using a transportation 

system or facility owned or operated by a regional transportation authority. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

County and municipal departments of parks and recreation will experience a decrease in 

revenue generated from park entrance fees as a result of this bill. To the extent disabled 

veterans use the discount provided at transportation systems, regional transportation 

authorities will experience a decrease in revenue from tickets and fees. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill creates Sections 125.028 and 166.0447 of the Florida Statutes. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Community Affairs on March 5, 2014: 

Requires regional transportation authorities to offer a discount to disabled veterans using 

their transportation systems or facilities. 

 

CS by Military and Veterans Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security on February 18, 

2014: 

Requires county and city departments of parks and recreation to provide a partial or a full 

discount on park entrance fees to persons listed in the bill. It also defines the term “park 

entrance fee.” 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 378 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì280972:Î280972 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/5/2014 11:37:53 AM 578-02152-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Soto) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Between lines 78 and 79 3 

insert: 4 

Section 3. Section 163.58, Florida Statutes, is created to 5 

read: 6 

163.58 Transportation fare discounts.—A regional 7 

transportation authority shall provide a partial or a full 8 

discount on fares and on other charges to a disabled veteran as 9 

described in s. 295.07(1)(a) for the use of a transportation 10 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 378 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì280972:Î280972 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/5/2014 11:37:53 AM 578-02152-14 

system or transportation facility owned or operated by the 11 

authority upon a showing of written documentation satisfactory 12 

to the authority which evidences eligibility for the discount. 13 

 14 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 15 

And the title is amended as follows: 16 

Delete lines 2 - 12 17 

and insert: 18 

An act relating to discounts on public facility fees 19 

and fares; creating ss. 125.028 and 166.0447, F.S.; 20 

requiring counties and municipalities to provide 21 

partial or full discounts on park entrance fees to 22 

military members, veterans, and the spouses and 23 

parents of certain deceased military members, law 24 

enforcement officers, and firefighters; requiring that 25 

individuals seeking the discount present written 26 

documentation satisfactory to the county or 27 

municipality which evidences eligibility; defining the 28 

term “park entrance fee” and providing certain 29 

exclusions; creating s. 163.58, F.S.; requiring 30 

regional transportation authorities to provide partial 31 

or full discounts on fares and on other charges for 32 

certain disabled veterans; 33 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 378 

 

 

  

By the Committee on Military and Veterans Affairs, Space, and 

Domestic Security; and Senator Abruzzo 

 

 

 

 

583-01865-14 2014378c1 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to county and municipal parks; 2 

creating ss. 125.028 and 166.0447, F.S.; requiring 3 

counties and municipalities to provide partial or full 4 

discounts on park entrance fees to military members, 5 

veterans, and the spouses and parents of certain 6 

deceased military members, law enforcement officers, 7 

and firefighters; requiring that individuals seeking 8 

the discount present written documentation 9 

satisfactory to the county or municipality which 10 

evidences eligibility; defining the term “park 11 

entrance fee” and providing certain exclusions; 12 

providing an effective date. 13 

  14 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 15 

 16 

Section 1. Section 125.028, Florida Statutes, is created to 17 

read: 18 

125.028 Military, law enforcement, and firefighter county 19 

park fee discounts.— 20 

(1) A county park or recreation department shall provide a 21 

partial or a full discount on park entrance fees to the 22 

following individuals who present written documentation 23 

satisfactory to the county department which evidences 24 

eligibility for the discount: 25 

(a) A current member of the United States Armed Forces or 26 

its reserve components, or the National Guard. 27 

(b) An honorably discharged veteran of the United States 28 

Armed Forces or its reserve components, or the National Guard. 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 378 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

583-01865-14 2014378c1 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(c) An honorably discharged veteran of the United States 30 

Armed Forces or its reserve components, or the National Guard, 31 

who has a service-connected disability as determined by the 32 

United States Department of Veterans Affairs. 33 

(d) A surviving spouse or parent of a deceased member of 34 

the United States Armed Forces or its reserve components, or the 35 

National Guard, who died in the line of duty under combat-36 

related conditions. 37 

(e) A surviving spouse or parent of a law enforcement 38 

officer, as defined in s. 943.10(1), or a firefighter, as 39 

defined in s. 633.102, who died in the line of duty. 40 

(2) As used in this section, the term “park entrance fee” 41 

means a fee charged to access lands managed by a county park or 42 

recreation department. The term does not include expanded 43 

amenity fees for amenities such as, campgrounds, aquatic 44 

facilities, stadiums or arenas, facility rentals, special 45 

events, boat launching, golf, zoos, museums, gardens, or 46 

programs taking place within public lands. 47 

Section 2. Section 166.0447, Florida Statutes, is created 48 

to read: 49 

166.0447 Military, law enforcement, and firefighter 50 

municipal park fee discounts.— 51 

(1) A municipal park or recreation department shall provide 52 

a partial or a full discount on park entrance fees to the 53 

following individuals who present written documentation 54 

satisfactory to the municipal department which evidences 55 

eligibility for the discount: 56 

(a) A current member of the United States Armed Forces or 57 

its reserve components, or the National Guard. 58 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 378 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

583-01865-14 2014378c1 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b) An honorably discharged veteran of the United States 59 

Armed Forces or its reserve components, or the National Guard. 60 

(c) An honorably discharged veteran of the United States 61 

Armed Forces or its reserve components, or the National Guard, 62 

who has a service-connected disability as determined by the 63 

United States Department of Veterans Affairs. 64 

(d) A surviving spouse or parent of a deceased member of 65 

the United States Armed Forces or its reserve components, or the 66 

National Guard, who died in the line of duty under combat-67 

related conditions. 68 

(e) A surviving spouse or parent of a law enforcement 69 

officer, as defined in s. 943.10(1), or a firefighter, as 70 

defined in s. 633.102, who died in the line of duty. 71 

(2) As used in this section, the term “park entrance fee” 72 

means a fee charged to access lands managed by a municipal park 73 

or recreation department. The term does not include expanded 74 

amenity fees for amenities such as, campgrounds, aquatic 75 

facilities, stadiums or arenas, facility rentals, special 76 

events, boat launching, golf, zoos, museums, gardens, or 77 

programs taking place within public lands. 78 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 79 





The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  SB 358 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Ring 

SUBJECT:  Volunteers for Organized Youth Sports and Recreational Programs 

DATE:  March 3, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Sanford  Hendon  CF  Favorable 

2. Stearns  Yeatman  CA  Favorable 

3.     RC   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 358 expands the current background screening requirements for coaches of youth athletic 

teams to cover all volunteers of youth sports and recreation authorities. The bill provides 

definitions for “volunteer” and “youth sports or recreation authority.” 

 

The bill creates a rebuttable presumption that an authority that has followed the requirements of 

the bill was not negligent in authorizing a volunteer to participate in authority activities.  

 

The bill requires recreational programs to adopt bylaws and policies related to concussions and 

head injuries, including the removal of any youth that suffers a concussion or head injury from 

participation. The bill also requires programs to obtain the informed consent of parents or 

guardians related to the nature and risks of concussions and head injuries.  

 

The bill encourages youth sports and recreation authorities to participate in the Volunteer and 

Employee Criminal History System described in s. 943.0542, F.S. 

II. Present Situation: 

Definitions 

Current law defines an “athletic coach” as a person who is authorized by an independent 

sanctioning authority to work for 20 or more hours within a calendar year, whether for 

compensation or as a volunteer, for a youth athletic team based in this state, and has direct 

contact with one or more minors on the youth athletic team. 

 

An “independent sanctioning authority” means a private, nongovernmental entity that organizes, 

operates, or coordinates a youth athletic team in this state if the team includes one or more 

minors and is not affiliated with a private school as defined in s. 1002.01, F.S. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 358   Page 2 

 

 

Background Screenings for Athletic Coaches 

Independent sanctioning authorities are required to conduct background screenings of athletic 

coaches. A background screening consists of a name search of the state and federal registries of 

sexual predators and sexual offenders on websites maintained by the Florida Department of Law 

Enforcement (FDLE) and the Attorney General of the United States.1 

 

Background Screenings for Employment at Parks, Playgrounds, and Day Care Centers 

A state agency or governmental subdivision must search for a potential volunteer or employee’s 

identifying information in the sexual predators and sexual offenders registry maintained by the 

FDLE prior to employing that person at any park, playground, day care center, or other place 

where children regularly congregate.2  

 

Prohibited Employment for Registered Sexual Predators 

It is a third degree felony for a registered sexual predator to work or volunteer at any business, 

school, day care center, park, playground or other place where children regularly congregate.3 

This law appears to prohibit a registered sexual predator from volunteering for a recreational 

program that involves children. 

 

Sexual Predator and Offender Information 

The FDLE compiles information regarding sex offenders and makes that information available to 

the public. The information on the FDLE public website of sexual offenders and sexual predators 

is derived from the Florida Department of Corrections, the Florida Department of Highway 

Safety and Motor Vehicles, and various law enforcement officials.4 The Dru Sjodin National Sex 

Offender Public Website of the United States Department of Justice provides a centralized 

database to search for information about the location of people convicted of sexual crimes.  

 

Liability for Negligent Hiring 

In a civil action for the death, injury or damage to a third person caused by an intentional tort of 

an employee, the employee’s employer is presumed not to have been negligent in hiring the 

employee if the employer conducted a background investigation of the prospective employee 

prior to hiring and the investigation did not reveal any information that reasonably demonstrated 

the unsuitability of the prospective employee for the particular work to be performed or the 

employment in general.5  

 

                                                 
1 Section 943.0438, F.S. 
2 Section 943.04351, F.S. 
3 Section 775.21(10)(b), F.S. 
4 Florida Department of Law Enforcement, Florida Sexual Offenders and Predators, available at 

http://offender.fdle.state.fl.us (last visited Feb. 13, 2014). 
5 Section 768.096, F.S. 



BILL: SB 358   Page 3 

 

The background investigation must include: 

 a criminal background check obtained from the FDLE; 

 reasonable efforts to contact references and former employers; 

 a job application form that includes questions requesting detailed information regarding 

previous criminal convictions; 

 a check of the applicant’s driver’s license record, if relevant to the work to be performed; or 

 an interview of the prospective employee.6 

 

However, the election by an employer not to conduct an investigation prior to hiring does not 

raise a presumption that the employer failed to use reasonable care in hiring an employee.7 

 

Volunteer and Employee Criminal History System 

The FDLE and the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) provide criminal record information on 

applicants, employees, and volunteers to qualified, Florida-based organizations through the 

Volunteer and Employee Criminal History System (VECHS) program. This allows qualified 

organizations to more effectively screen out current and prospective volunteers and employees 

who are not suitable for contact with children, the elderly, or the disabled. 

 

Generally, to be qualified to participate in the VECHS program, an organization must provide 

“care”8 or “care placement services” to children, the elderly, or the disabled.9  

 

The VECHS program is not available to organizations currently required to obtain criminal 

history record checks on their employees and/or volunteers under other statutory provisions, such 

as day care centers. Those organizations must continue to follow the statutory mandates that 

specifically apply to them. If, however, an organization is required to obtain state and national 

checks on only specific types of employees or volunteers, the VECHS program may be able to 

process requests for state and national checks on the organization’s other employees or 

volunteers. 

 

To qualify to access the VECHS program, an organization must: 

 submit an application to FDLE explaining what functions the organization performs that 

serve children, the elderly, or disabled persons; 

 sign an agreement that the criminal history information will only be used to screen 

employees and volunteers of that organization for employment purposes; 

 submit a Civil Workflow Customer Registration form; and 

 submit $40.50 for each employee or $33.00 for each volunteer electronic submission.10 

 

                                                 
6 Id. 
7 Id. 
8 The word “care” is defined in s. 943.0542, F.S., to include the provision of recreation to children. 
9 Florida Department of Law Enforcement, Volunteer And Employee Background Checks, available at 

http://www.fdle.state.fl.us/content/getdoc/9023f5ac-2c0c-465c-995c-f949db57d0dd/VECHS.aspx (last visited Feb. 13, 

2014). 
10 Id. 



BILL: SB 358   Page 4 

 

If an organization becomes qualified and provides the required information for criminal history 

record requests, FDLE, with the assistance of the FBI, will provide the organization with the 

following: 

 an indication that the person has no criminal history, i.e., no serious arrests in state or 

national databases, if there are none; 

 the criminal history record showing arrests and/or convictions for Florida and other states, if 

any; and 

 notification of any warrants or domestic violence injunctions that the person may have.11 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 substitutes “volunteers” for “athletic coaches” and “organized youth sports and 

recreation” for “independent sanctioning” authorities throughout s. 943.0438, F.S. As a result, 

the bill enlarges the number of persons and organizations subject to the background screening 

requirements. 

 

The bill defines “volunteer” as a person who:  

 is authorized by a youth sports or recreation authority to work, whether for compensation 

or as a volunteer, for a youth athletic team or organized youth recreational program using 

publicly owned facilities based in this state; and  

 has direct contact with one or more minors on this youth athletic team. 

 

The bill defines “youth sports or recreation authority” as a private, nongovernmental entity that 

organizes, operates, or coordinates a youth athletic team or organized youth recreational program 

using publicly owned facilities in this state if the team or program includes one or more minors 

and is not affiliated with a private school as defined in s. 1002.01, F.S. 

 

The bill requires background screenings of each prospective volunteer and annual screenings of 

current volunteers. The screenings are required to use either the sexual predator and sexual 

offender database maintained by the FDLE in accordance with s. 943.043, F.S., or the database 

maintained by the Attorney General of the United States in accordance with 42 U.S.C. s. 16920. 

Alternatively, an authority may utilize a commercial consumer reporting agency that complies 

with the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act and includes a search of the sexual predator and 

sexual offender websites listed above.  

 

The authority must disqualify any volunteer identified on a registry. The authority must provide 

written notice to a disqualified volunteer within seven days of disqualification.  

 

In the event of a civil action related to sexual misconduct committed by a volunteer, the bill 

creates a rebuttable presumption that an authority that complied with the background screening 

and disqualification requirements was not negligent in authorizing the volunteer to participate in 

authority-sponsored activities. 

 

The bill also requires that “youth sports or recreation authorities”: 

 maintain records of screenings and disqualifications for at least 5 years;  

                                                 
11 Id. 



BILL: SB 358   Page 5 

 

 adopt guidelines to educate volunteers and others about the nature and risk of concussions 

and head injuries;  

 adopt bylaws and policies requiring the parents or guardians of a youth that is participating in 

or a candidate for an athletic or recreational program to sign and return an informed consent 

relating to concussions and head injuries; and  

 adopt bylaws or policies that require each youth suspected of having sustained a concussion 

or head injury to be immediately removed from the activity and prevented from returning 

without clearance from an authorized doctor. 

 

Youth sports and recreation authorities are encouraged to participate in the Volunteer and 

Employee Criminal History System, as authorized by the National Child Protection Act of 1993 

and s. 943.0542, F.S. 

 

Section 2 provides an effective date of July 1, 2014. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The sex offender registry screening requirements of the bill are expected to have a 

nominal effect on the authorities. The state and national registries are public websites that 

can be accessed by persons with minimal computer skills, and searches can be conducted 

relatively quickly. Those authorities electing to perform searches via a commercial 

consumer reporting agency may incur moderate expenses for the screening. The 

authorities may pass these screening costs on to volunteer applicants and incur no costs 

from this screening requirement. 

 

Screening through the VECHS program does require payment of a fee. While the bill 

does not require authorities to do a VECHS search, the authorities are encouraged to use 

the VECHS system. 



BILL: SB 358   Page 6 

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

FDLE reports no projected fiscal impact from the bill. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

The bill substantially amends section 943.0438 of the Florida Statutes. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 358 

 

 

  

By Senator Ring 

 

 

 

 

 

29-00558-14 2014358__ 

Page 1 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to volunteers for organized youth 2 

sports and recreational programs; amending s. 3 

943.0438, F.S.; defining the terms “volunteer” and 4 

“youth sports or recreation authority”; expanding 5 

provisions relating to athletic coaches for 6 

independent sanctioning authorities to require youth 7 

sports or recreation authorities to conduct specified 8 

background screening of all volunteers with any youth 9 

athletic team or organized youth recreational program 10 

using publicly owned facilities; prohibiting a youth 11 

sports or recreation authority from delegating such 12 

duty; requiring that specified documentation be 13 

maintained for a specified period by such authorities; 14 

conforming provisions to changes made by the act; 15 

providing an effective date. 16 

  17 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 18 

 19 

Section 1. Section 943.0438, Florida Statutes, is amended 20 

to read: 21 

943.0438 Volunteers Athletic coaches for organized youth 22 

sports and recreation independent sanctioning authorities.— 23 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 24 

(a) “Volunteer Athletic coach” means a person who: 25 

1. Is authorized by a youth sports or recreation an 26 

independent sanctioning authority to work for 20 or more hours 27 

within a calendar year, whether for compensation or as a 28 

volunteer, for a youth athletic team or organized youth 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 358 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

29-00558-14 2014358__ 

Page 2 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

recreational program using publicly owned facilities based in 30 

this state; and 31 

2. Has direct contact with one or more minors on the youth 32 

athletic team. 33 

(b) “Youth sports or recreation Independent sanctioning 34 

authority” means a private, nongovernmental entity that 35 

organizes, operates, or coordinates a youth athletic team or 36 

organized youth recreational program using publicly owned 37 

facilities in this state if the team or program includes one or 38 

more minors and is not affiliated with a private school as 39 

defined in s. 1002.01. 40 

(2) A youth sports or recreation An independent sanctioning 41 

authority shall: 42 

(a)1. Conduct a background screening of each current and 43 

prospective volunteer athletic coach. The authority may not 44 

delegate this responsibility to an individual team or program 45 

and may not authorize a No person shall be authorized by the 46 

independent sanctioning authority to act as a volunteer an 47 

athletic coach unless a background screening is has been 48 

conducted and does did not result in disqualification under 49 

paragraph (b). Background screenings shall be conducted annually 50 

for each volunteer athletic coach. For purposes of this section, 51 

a background screening shall be conducted with a search of the 52 

volunteer’s athletic coach’s name or other identifying 53 

information against state and federal registries of sexual 54 

predators and sexual offenders, which are available to the 55 

public on Internet sites provided by: 56 

a. The Department of Law Enforcement under s. 943.043; and 57 

b. The Attorney General of the United States under 42 58 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 358 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

29-00558-14 2014358__ 

Page 3 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

U.S.C. s. 16920. 59 

2. For purposes of this section, a background screening 60 

conducted by a commercial consumer reporting agency in 61 

compliance with the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act using the 62 

identifying information referenced in subparagraph 1. and that 63 

includes searching that information against the sexual predator 64 

and sexual offender Internet sites listed in sub-subparagraphs 65 

1.a. and b. is shall be deemed to satisfy in compliance with the 66 

requirements of this paragraph section. 67 

(b) Disqualify a any person from acting as a volunteer an 68 

athletic coach if he or she is identified on a registry 69 

described in paragraph (a). 70 

(c) Provide, within 7 business days after following the 71 

background screening under paragraph (a), written notice to a 72 

person disqualified under this section advising the person of 73 

the results and of his or her disqualification. 74 

(d) Maintain for at least 5 years documentation of: 75 

1. The results for each person screened under paragraph 76 

(a); and 77 

2. The written notice of disqualification provided to each 78 

person under paragraph (c). 79 

(e) Adopt guidelines to educate volunteers athletic 80 

coaches, officials, administrators, and youth athletes and their 81 

parents or guardians of the nature and risk of concussion and 82 

head injury. 83 

(f) Adopt bylaws or policies that require the parent or 84 

guardian of a youth who is participating in athletic competition 85 

or other recreational programs or who is a candidate for an 86 

athletic team or recreational program to sign and return an 87 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 358 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

29-00558-14 2014358__ 

Page 4 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

informed consent that explains the nature and risk of concussion 88 

and head injury, including the risk of continuing to play after 89 

concussion or head injury, each year before participating in 90 

athletic competition or other recreational programs, or engaging 91 

in any practice, tryout, workout, or other physical activity 92 

associated with the youth’s candidacy for an athletic team or 93 

recreational program. 94 

(g) Adopt bylaws or policies that require each youth 95 

athlete or recreational program participant who is suspected of 96 

sustaining a concussion or head injury in a practice or 97 

competition to be immediately removed from the activity. A youth 98 

athlete or recreational program participant who is has been 99 

removed from an activity may not return to practice or 100 

competition until the youth or participant submits to a 101 

volunteer or volunteer supervisor the athletic coach a written 102 

medical clearance to return stating that he or she the youth 103 

athlete no longer exhibits signs, symptoms, or behaviors 104 

consistent with a concussion or other head injury. Medical 105 

clearance must be authorized by the appropriate health care 106 

practitioner trained in the diagnosis, evaluation, and 107 

management of concussions as defined by the Sports Medicine 108 

Advisory Committee of the Florida High School Athletic 109 

Association. 110 

(3) In a civil action for the death of, or injury or damage 111 

to, a third person caused by the intentional tort of a volunteer 112 

an athletic coach that relates to alleged sexual misconduct by 113 

the volunteer athletic coach, there is a rebuttable presumption 114 

that the youth sports or recreation independent sanctioning 115 

authority was not negligent in authorizing the person to act as 116 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 358 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

29-00558-14 2014358__ 

Page 5 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

a volunteer athletic coach if the authority complied with the 117 

background screening and disqualification requirements of 118 

subsection (2) before prior to such authorization. 119 

(4) The Legislature encourages youth sports and recreation 120 

independent sanctioning authorities for youth athletic teams to 121 

participate in the Volunteer and Employee Criminal History 122 

System, as authorized by the National Child Protection Act of 123 

1993 and s. 943.0542. 124 

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 125 



 

 

SENATOR JEREMY RING 
29th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
COMMITTEES: 
Governmental Oversight and Accountability, Chair 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Finance and  
   Tax, Vice Chair 
Appropriations 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation, 
   Tourism, and Economic Development 
Banking and Insurance 
Commerce and Tourism 
Judiciary 
Rules 
 
JOINT COMMITTEES: 
Joint Legislative Auditing Committee 
Joint Select Committee on Collective Bargaining 
  

 
 REPLY TO: 
   5790 Margate Boulevard, Margate, Florida 33063  (954) 917-1392  FAX: (954) 917-1394 
   405 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5029 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

February  5, 2014 

 

Senator Wilton Simpson, Chair 

Committee on Community Affairs 

315 Knott Building 

404 South Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL 32399 

 

Dear Chairman Simpson, 

 

I am writing to respectfully request your cooperation in placing Senate Bill 358, relating to 

volunteers for organized youth sports and recreational programs, on the Committee on 

Community Affairs agenda at your earliest convenience.  I would greatly appreciate the 

opportunity to discuss the bill at greater length before your committee. 

 

Thank you in advance for your assistance.  As always, please do not hesitate to contact me with 

any questions or comments you may have. 

 

Very Truly Yours, 

 
Jeremy Ring 

Senator District 29 

 

 

cc: Tom Yeatman, Staff Director 

      Ann Whittaker, Committee Administrative Assistant 



 

 

SENATOR JEREMY RING 
29th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
COMMITTEES: 
Governmental Oversight and Accountability, Chair 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Finance and  
   Tax, Vice Chair 
Appropriations 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Transportation, 
   Tourism, and Economic Development 
Banking and Insurance 
Commerce and Tourism 
Judiciary 
Rules 
 
JOINT COMMITTEES: 
Joint Legislative Auditing Committee 
Joint Select Committee on Collective Bargaining 
  

 
 REPLY TO: 
   5790 Margate Boulevard, Margate, Florida 33063  (954) 917-1392  FAX: (954) 917-1394 
   405 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5029 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

March 3, 2014 

 

Senator Wilton Simpson, Chair 

Committee on Community Affairs 

315 Knott Building 

404 South Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, FL 32399 

 

Dear Chairman Simpson 

 

I appreciate you including my legislation, SB 358, relating to Volunteers for Organized Youth 

Sports and Recreational Programs, on the Committee on Community Affairs agenda.  During the 

committee meeting on March 5, my legislative assistant J.J. Piskadlo will be presenting the bill 

on my behalf. 

 

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you or your staff have any questions. 

 

Very Truly Yours, 

 
Jeremy Ring 

Senator District 29  

 

 

cc: Tom Yeatman, Staff Director 

      Ann Whittaker, Committee Administrative Assistant 

  



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  SB 392 

INTRODUCER:  Senators Brandes and Clemens 

SUBJECT:  State Speed Zones 

DATE:  March 3, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Price  Eichin  TR  Favorable 

2. White  Yeatman  CA  Favorable 

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 392 raises the maximum allowable speed limit on certain highways and authorizes, but does 

not require, the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) to increase the speed limit on 

certain roadway types, subject to the new maximum limits. The bill also directs the FDOT to 

determine the minimum speed limit on certain highways and makes technical and conforming 

changes. 

II. Present Situation: 

Speed Limit History and Current Law 

The FDOT has long been charged with posting maximum and minimum speed limits on state 

and federal highways in Florida, subject at various times to national speed limits. Prior to 1974, 

state law authorized the FDOT to set maximum and minimum speed limits for travel on 

roadways under its authority, not to exceed 70 mph, with discretion for certain highways outside 

of a city or state roads connecting links or extensions thereof within a city.1 

 

In 1974, a National Maximum Speed Limit (NMSL), designed chiefly to conserve fuel, took 

effect, establishing a national maximum speed limit of 55 mph. Congress relaxed the law in 

1987, allowing states to set speed limits of up to 65 mph on interstate roads in areas with fewer 

than 50,000 people ("rural interstates"). In 1995, Congress repealed the NMSL, allowing states 

to set their own speed limits (or none at all) on their roads. Most states have since increased the 

speed limits on some or all of their roads. 

 

Since 1996, the authorized maximum speed limits on state highways are as follows: 

 70 mph on limited access highways, 

                                                 
1 Chapter 71-135, Laws of Fla. 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 392   Page 2 

 

 65 mph on any other highways outside an urban area of 5,000 or more persons with at least 

four lanes divided by a median strip, and 

 60 mph on other roadways under FDOT jurisdiction.2 

 

As to minimum speeds on state roads in Florida, s. 316.183(2), F.S., establishes 40 mph as the 

minimum on all highways that are a part of the National System of Interstate and Defense 

Highways and have not fewer than four lanes. If the posted speed limit is 70 mph, the minimum 

speed is 50 mph. 

 

Moving Violation Fines and Surcharges 

Section 318.18(3), F.S., provides the following fines, in addition to court costs, for moving 

violations involving unlawful speed: 

 

For speed exceeding the 

limit by: 
Fine 

1-5 mph Warning 

6-9 mph $25 

10-14 mph $100 

15-19 mph $150 

20-29 mph $175 

30 mph and above $250 

 

In addition, a motorist must pay an additional fine for exceeding the speed limit in: a school 

zone, designated school crossing, construction zone, enhanced penalty zone, or toll collection 

facility.3 Section 318.21, F.S., provides for the disposition of civil penalties by county courts. Of 

the civil penalties collected by county courts for monthly distribution, 50.8 percent is to be paid 

to the municipality where the violation occurred.4 

 

Intent of Speed Limits 

The Traffic Engineering & Operations Office of the FDOT notes that the “primary intent for 

establishing a speed zone is to improve vehicular and pedestrian safety by reducing the 

probability and severity of crashes.” 

 

“The “statutory” or allowable speed limits mandated by state statutes prevail on the types 

of roads and/or locations identified within state, municipality, and county jurisdictions. 

Such speed limits may be altered upward or downward by speed zoning thus creating 

specific or altered speed limits or restrictions for prescribed segments of highways…”5 

 

Establishment of Speed Limits/Speed Differential/85th Percentile Rule 

                                                 
2 Section 316.187(2), F.S. 
3 Section 318.18(3)(c)-(f), F.S. 
4 Section 318.21(2)(g)2, F.S. 
5 FDOT, Speed Zoning for Highways, Roads & Streets, Topic No. 750-010-002 (March 2010), available at 

http://www.dot.state.fl.us/trafficoperations/speedzone/Speed_Zoning_Manual_Complete_03_17_2011.pdf (last visited 

Feb. 20, 2014). 



BILL: SB 392   Page 3 

 

The 85th percentile rule is used by all states to establish speed limits. The Institute of 

Transportation Engineers reports: 

 

“The most widely accepted method by state and local agencies is to set the limit at or 

below the speed at which 85 percent of the traffic is moving. … Studies have shown 

crash rates are lowest at around the 85th percentile speed. Drivers traveling significantly 

faster OR slower than this speed are at a greater risk for being in a crash. It is not high 

speeds alone that relate to crash risk; it is the variation of speed within the traffic stream.” 

 

“Large variations in speed within the traffic stream create more conflicts and passing 

maneuvers.” 

 

“According to a Federal Highway Administration study, all states and most local 

agencies use the 85th percentile speed of free flowing traffic as the basic factor in 

establishing speed limits. 

 

“Radar, laser and other methods are used to collect speed data from random vehicles on a 

given roadway. This speed is subject to revision based upon such factors as: crash 

experience, roadway geometrics, parking, pedestrians, curves, adjacent development and 

engineering judgment. This practice is in accordance with the MUTCD.6 

 

“In the final analysis, it is the judgment of the traffic engineer that determines which, if 

any, of the factors in the speed study warrant an adjustment of the 85th percentile speeds. 

After all variables are considered and a speed limit is established, traffic should flow at a 

safe and efficient level.”7 

 

The FDOT performs spot speed studies, calculates the 85th percentile speed, and then establishes 

speed limits on state highways, subject to the statutory maximum limits.8 The FDOT advises 

that: 

 

“It is common traffic engineering knowledge that about 85% of all drivers travel at 

reasonably safe speeds for the various roadway conditions they encounter, regardless of 

speed limit signs.” 

 

“Based on this knowledge, a traffic engineering study is conducted to establish speed 

limits on the state highway. The Department uses the “85th percentile” method of 

determining appropriate and safe posted speed limits in conjunction with the maximum 

statute-based speeds. This method is based on extensive nationally accepted studies and 

observations. By measuring the speed of hundreds of vehicles at various points along the 

                                                 
6 The Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, which is a uniform system of traffic control devices for use on the streets 

and highways of the state adopted by the FDOT pursuant to s. 316.0745, F.S. Per s. 316.0745(3), F.S., “All official traffic 

control signals or official traffic control devices purchased and installed in this state by any public body or official shall 

conform with the manual and specifications published by the Department of Transportation….” 
7 Institute of Traffic Engineers, Speed Zoning Information, A Case of “Majority Rule,” available at 

http://www.motorists.org/other/Winter05.pdf (last visited Feb. 19, 2014). 
8 FDOT, Speed Zoning for Highways, Roads & Streets, supra note 4, at 16-23. 



BILL: SB 392   Page 4 

 

roadway, traffic engineers are able to use data to determine a reasonable and safe 

maximum speed to post for all vehicles to travel.”9 

 

Once the 85th percentile speed is identified and revised based on factors such as roadway 

conditions, crash experience, and applied engineering judgment, a maximum limit is established. 

Because vehicle speed differential; i.e., large variations in speed within the traffic stream, have a 

clearly established impact on crash risk, an appropriate minimum allowable speed may also be 

set. The FDOT then periodically reviews maximum speed limits on state roads for a variety of 

reasons, such as a request for review from a citizen or an effort to study the effects of a prior 

increase in the limit. 

 

Speed/Safety Relationship 

Noting a disparity in findings among various studies of aggregate data relating to the relationship 

between increased speed and vehicle crashes, the National Cooperative Highway Research 

Program (NCHRP,) a branch of the National Academy of Science, analyzed the results of several 

studies of specific locations before and after an increase in the posted speed limit.10 Results of 

the NCHRP study are encapsulated in the following table: 

 

Increase in 
Speed Limit 

(mph) 

Change in Avg 
Actual Speed 

Change in Total 
Crash 

Change in 
Probability of Fatal 

Injury 

Total Change in 
Fatal Injury Count 

55 to 65 +3 mph +3.3% +24% +28% 

65 to 75 +3 mph +0.64% +12% +13% 

 

Similarly, the Federal Highway Administration notes that “the effects of speed on safety are 

complex and only partially known.”11 However: 

 

“There is clear and convincing evidence that crash severity increases with individual 

vehicle speed. This finding is supported by theory and statistical analysis. 

 

“A vehicle’s kinetic energy is proportional to its velocity squared. When a crash occurs, 

all or part of the kinetic energy is dissipated, primarily through friction and mass 

deformation. As kinetic energy increases exponentially with speed, so does the potential 

for mass deformation, including humans that are inside and outside of the vehicle. 

Analysis of crash statistics have shown that the probability of being injured in a crash 

increases as the change in speed at impact increases, particularly when this change in 

speed occurs over a short time duration.”12 

 

                                                 
9 FDOT, Frequently Asked Questions – Speed Limits, http://www.dot.state.fl.us/trafficoperations/faqs/speedlimitfaq.shtm 

(last visited Feb. 19, 2014). 
10 National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Safety Impacts and Other Implications of Raised Speed Limits on High-

Speed Roads, Research Results Digest 303 (March 2006), available at 

http://onlinepubs.trb.org/onlinepubs/nchrp/nchrp_w90.pdf (last visited Feb. 20, 2014). 
11 Federal Highway Administration, Speed Concepts: Informational Guide, Chapter 3 (Sep. 2009), available at 

http://safety.fhwa.dot.gov/speedmgt/ref_mats/fhwasa10001/ (last visited Feb. 19, 2014). 
12 Id. 



BILL: SB 392   Page 5 

 

Speed/Fuel Use Relationship 

A study by the Fuels, Engines and Emissions Research Center of the Oak Ridge National 

Laboratory,13 conducted on 74 vehicles, model years 2003 to 2012, including “various sizes of 

sedans, wagons, and SUVs, as well as pickup trucks, minivans and a few “muscle cars” and 

sports cars,” showed the following general negative effect of increased speed on fuel economy: 

 

Speed Increase Average mpg decrease for a  

given 10 mph increase in speed 

50 to 60 mph 12.4 

60 to 70 mph 14.0 

70 to 80 mph  15.4  

All three increments 13.9 

 

Speed Limits in Areas of Local Government 

While provisions related to traffic control are applicable and uniform throughout the state,14 

municipalities and counties have original jurisdiction over all streets and highways located 

within their respective boundaries, other than state roads.15 Local governments may also exercise 

jurisdiction over any private road, or limited access road owned or controlled by a special district, 

located within its boundaries, if the local government and the party owning or controlling such road 

provide for municipal traffic control jurisdiction by written agreement approved by the governing 

body of the municipality. 
 

Section 316.189, F.S., stipulates that the maximum speed within any municipality or county is 30 

mph. However, municipalities and counties may set speed zones altering such speeds, both as to 

maximum and minimum, in accordance with an investigation determining such a change is 

reasonable and in conformity to criteria promulgated by the FDOT.16 Within residential districts, a 

municipality may lower the maximum speed limit to 20 or 25 mph on local streets and highways 

after an investigation determines that such a limit is reasonable. No speed zone in a municipality or 

county shall permit a speed of more than 60 miles per hour. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Generally, the bill revises statutes that control minimum and maximum speed limits on certain 

roadways in the state. The bill does not require raising posted speed limits on any road. Rather, 

the FDOT is authorized to increase the speed limits on the identified roadways, subject to the 

new maximum limits, and to set minimum speed limits on those roadways, as described below. 

 

Section 1 amends s. 316.183(2), F.S., to eliminate statutorily specified minimum speed limits on 

all highways that are a part of the National System of Interstate and Defense Highways with at 

least four lanes and to authorize the FDOT to determine the safe and advisable minimum speed 

                                                 
13 Green Car Congress, ORNL researchers quantify the effect of increasing highway speed on fuel economy (Jan. 18, 2013), 

http://www.greencarcongress.com/2013/01/thomas-20130117.html (last visited Feb. 19, 2014). 
14 Section 316.007, F.S. 
15 Section 316.006(2), (3), F.S. 
16 Any alteration of speed limits on municipal or county streets and roads must be based upon an engineering and traffic 

investigation. “Altered speed limits established solely on the basis of individual or group opinions are considered contrary to 

the intent of the statute.” FDOT, Speed Zoning for Highways, Roads & Streets, supra note 4, at 22. 



BILL: SB 392   Page 6 

 

limit on all such highways. Discretion to set minimum speed limits on all highways that are a 

part of the National System of Interstate and Defense Highways with at least four lanes is 

granted to the FDOT. 

 

Section 2 amends s. 316.187(2), F.S., to increase by five miles per hour the existing authorized 

maximum speed limits on state highways in Florida as follows: 

 

 75 mph on limited access highways, 

 70 mph on any other highways outside an urban area of 5,000 or more persons with at least 

four lanes divided by a median strip, and 

 65 mph on other roadways under FDOT jurisdiction. 

 

Section 3 provides the bill takes effect on July 1, 2014. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

There may be an indeterminate impact on the private sector. Increased personal injury or 

deaths, property damage, and litigation costs associated with increased crash severity 

might be anticipated. Increased fuel consumption by individual travelers choosing to 

travel at higher speeds on any roadways upon which the speed limit may be increased is 

also expected. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The FDOT advises it expects an “indeterminate insignificant” fiscal impact and reports 

“[a]ny increases to speed limits would involve engineering study costs and speed limit 

signage change including fabrication and installation costs, on a case by case basis.”17 

                                                 
17 Florida Dep’t of Transportation, Senate Bill 392 Analysis (July 1, 2014). 



BILL: SB 392   Page 7 

 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes:  316.183 and 316.87. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 392 

 

 

  

By Senators Brandes and Clemens 

 

 

 

 

 

22-00244B-14 2014392__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to state speed zones; amending s. 2 

316.183, F.S.; conforming a provision to changes made 3 

by the act; making technical changes; amending s. 4 

316.187, F.S.; raising the maximum allowable speed 5 

limit on certain highways; increasing the maximum 6 

allowable speed limit on roadways under the 7 

jurisdiction of the Department of Transportation; 8 

providing an effective date. 9 

  10 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 11 

 12 

Section 1. Subsection (2) of section 316.183, Florida 13 

Statutes, is amended to read: 14 

316.183 Unlawful speed.— 15 

(2) On all streets or highways, the maximum speed limits 16 

for all vehicles must be 30 miles per hour in business or 17 

residence districts, and 55 miles per hour at any time at all 18 

other locations. However, with respect to a residence district, 19 

a county or municipality may set a maximum speed limit of 20 or 20 

25 miles per hour on local streets and highways after an 21 

investigation determines that such a limit is reasonable. It is 22 

not necessary to conduct a separate investigation for each 23 

residence district. The Department of Transportation shall 24 

determine the safe and advisable minimum speed limit on all 25 

highways that are comprise a part of the National System of 26 

Interstate and Defense Highways and have at least not fewer than 27 

four lanes is 40 miles per hour, except that when the posted 28 

speed limit is 70 miles per hour, the minimum speed limit is 50 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 392 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

22-00244B-14 2014392__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

miles per hour. 30 

Section 2. Subsection (2) of section 316.187, Florida 31 

Statutes, is amended to read: 32 

316.187 Establishment of state speed zones.— 33 

(2)(a) The maximum allowable speed limit on limited access 34 

highways is 75 70 miles per hour. 35 

(b) The maximum allowable speed limit on any other highway 36 

that which is outside an urban area of 5,000 or more persons and 37 

that which has at least four lanes divided by a median strip is 38 

70 65 miles per hour. 39 

(c) The Department of Transportation is authorized to set 40 

such maximum and minimum speed limits for travel over other 41 

roadways under its authority as it deems safe and advisable, not 42 

to exceed as a maximum limit 65 60 miles per hour. 43 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 44 







The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  CS/SB 586 

INTRODUCER:  Environmental Preservation and Conservation Committee and Senator Altman 

SUBJECT:  Brownfields 

DATE:  March 3, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Gudeman  Uchino  EP  Fav/CS 

2. Stearns  Yeatman  CA  Favorable 

3.               JU        

        

Please see Section IX. for Additional Information: 

COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE - Substantial Changes 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 586 clarifies procedures for brownfield designation under the Brownfields 

Redevelopment Act. The bill provides additional liability protection for individuals responsible 

for rehabilitating brownfield sites. 

II. Present Situation: 

The Brownfields Redevelopment Act 

The term “brownfield” came into existence in the 1970s and originally referred to any previously 

developed property, regardless of any contamination issues. The term, as it is currently used, 

originated in 1992 during a U.S. Congressional field hearing and is defined by the U.S. 

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) as, “real property, the expansion, redevelopment, or 

reuse of which may be complicated by the presence or potential presence of a hazardous 

substance, pollutant, or contaminant.”1 In 1995, the EPA created the Brownfields Program in 

order to manage contaminated property through site remediation and redevelopment. The 

program was designed to provide local communities access to federal funds allocated for 

                                                 
1 Robert A. Jones and William F. Welsh, Michigan Brownfield Redevelopment Innovation: Two Decades of Success, 

(Sept. 2010), available at http://www.miseagrant.umich.edu/downloads/focus/brownfields/10-201-EMU-Final-Report.pdf 

(last visited Jan. 27, 2014). 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 586   Page 2 

 

redevelopment, including environmental assessments and cleanups, environmental health 

studies, and environmental training programs.2 

 

In 1997, the Florida Legislature enacted the Brownfields Redevelopment Act (Act).3 The Act 

provides financial and regulatory incentives to encourage voluntary remediation and 

redevelopment of brownfield sites in order to improve public health and reduce environmental 

hazards.4 The Act required the Department of Environmental Protection (DEP) to adopt rules to 

determine site-specific investigation methods, clean-up methods, and cleanup target levels by 

incorporating risk based corrective action (RBCA) principles,5 which it did in 1998.6 In 2013, in 

an effort to provide consistency and consolidate the cleanup criteria rules, the DEP repealed Rule 

62-785, Florida Administrative Code, and is currently merging the rules with Rule 62-780, 

Florida Administrative Code. 

 

The Act provides liability protection for program participants who have not caused or 

contributed to the contamination of a brownfield site on or after July 1, 1997. A person who 

successfully completes a brownfield site rehabilitation agreement (BSRA) is relieved from 

further liability for remediation of the contaminated site or sites to the state and to third parties.7 

The Act also provides protection from liability for contribution to any other party who has or 

may incur liability for cleanup of the contaminated site.8 The Act does not limit the right of a 

third party, other than the state, to pursue an action for damages to property or person. An action 

may not require rehabilitation in excess of what is outlined in the approved BSRA, or required 

by the DEP or the local pollution control program.9  

 

The Act provides lenders the same liability protections as program participants as long as the 

lender has not caused or contributed to the contamination of a brownfield site. The lender 

liability protections are provided to encourage financing of real-property transactions involving 

brownfield sites.10 

 

The Act also created the brownfield redevelopment bonus refund to provide a refund to qualified 

businesses for new jobs that are created in a brownfield area.11 The Act identifies specific 

                                                 
2
The Florida Brownfields Association, Brownfields 101, available at 

http://floridabrownfields.org/associations/11916/files/Brownfields101.pdf (last visited Jan. 27, 2014).  
3 See ch. 97-277, Laws of Fla. 
4 DEP, Florida Brownfields Redevelopment Act-1998 Annual Report, available at 

http://www.dep.state.fl.us/waste/quick_topics/publications/wc/brownfields/leginfo/1998/98final.pdf (last visited Jan. 27, 

2014). 
5 ASTM International defines “risk based corrective action principles” as consistent decision-making processes for 

assessment and response to chemical releases. See http://www.astm.org/Standards/E2081.htm (last visited Jan. 27, 2014). 
6 See Rule 62-785, F.A.C.  
7
Id. “Brownfield site rehabilitation agreement (BSRA) means an agreement entered into between the person responsible for 

brownfield site rehabilitation and the DEP or a delegated local program. The BSRA shall at a minimum establish the time 

frames, schedules, and milestones for completion of site rehabilitation tasks and submission of technical reports, and other 

commitments or provisions pursuant to s. 376.80(5), F.S., and [Rule 62-780, F.A.C.]” 
8 Todd S. Davis, Brownfields: A Comprehensive Guide to Redeveloping Contaminated Property, 525 (2d ed. 2002).  
9 Section 376.82, F.S. 
10 Id.  
11 Section 288.107, F.S. 



BILL: CS/SB 586   Page 3 

 

procedures and criteria for the designation of a brownfield area by local governments, counties, 

and municipalities.12  

Economic Incentives 

In 1998, the Legislature passed SBs 244, 1202, and 1204, providing economic and financial 

incentives to promote the redevelopment of brownfield areas.13 SB 1202 created the Brownfield 

Area Loan Guarantee Program, which authorizes up to five years of state loan guarantees for 

redevelopment and applies to 50 percent of the primary lender loan.14 The loan guarantee applies 

to 75 percent of the lender loan if the brownfield area redevelopment is for “affordable” 

housing.15 SB 244 authorized a voluntary cleanup tax credit of up to 35 percent of the costs of 

voluntary cleanup activity of brownfield areas with a maximum allowable amount of $250,000 

per site per year.16 SB 1204 authorized the Brownfield Property Ownership Clearance Assistance 

and Revolving Loans Trust Fund to facilitate the redevelopment of properties that may be more 

difficult to redevelop due to various liens on the property or complications from bankruptcy. The 

trust fund was created to help clear prior liens on the property through the negotiation process. 

The loans would then be repaid by the resale of the brownfield property and other activities that 

may have enhanced the property’s value.17 This trust fund was never capitalized or used for its 

intended purpose and was later repealed.18  

 

In 2006, the Legislature passed HB 7131, which substantially increased the economic and 

financial incentives for redevelopment of brownfield areas and repealed the Brownfield Property 

Ownership Clearance Assistance and Revolving Loans Trust Fund.19 The voluntary cleanup tax 

credit increased from 35 percent to 50 percent, which may be applied against intangible property 

tax and corporate income tax for the remediation of the brownfield area with a maximum 

allowable amount of $500,000 per year per site. The Brownfield Areas Loan Guarantee Program 

increased from 10 percent to 25 percent. The percentage of tax credit that may be received 

during the final year of cleanup was increased from 10 percent to 25 percent and the amount was 

increased from $50,000 to $500,000. The total amount of tax credits that may be granted for 

brownfield cleanup was increased from $2 million annually to $5 million annually. The law also 

provides incentives for cleaning unlicensed or historic solid waste dumpsites and requires 

Enterprise Florida, Inc., to market brownfields for redevelopment and job growth.20 

 

                                                 
12 See ss. 376.80, 125.66, and 166.041, F.S., respectively. 
13 See chs. 98-198, 98-75, and 98-118, Laws of Fla., respectively.  
14 Section 376.86, F.S. 
15 “Affordable” housing, as defined in s. 420.0004, F.S., means that monthly rents or monthly mortgage payments including 

taxes, insurance, and utilities do not exceed 30 percent of that amount which represents the percentage of median adjusted 

gross annual income for the households as indicated in ss. 420.0004(9), (11), (12), or (17), F.S. 
16 Section 220.1845, F.S. 
17 See ch. 98-118, Laws of Fla.  
18 The Florida Senate, Comm. On Government Efficiency Appropriations, Senate Bill CS/SB 1092 Staff Analysis, (April 4, 

2006), available at http://archive.flsenate.gov/data/session/2006/Senate/bills/analysis/pdf/2006s1092.ge.pdf (last visited Feb. 

4, 2014).  
19 See ch. 2006-291, Laws of Fla.  
20 See ss. 196.012, 196.1995, 199.1055, 220.1845, 288.9015, 376.30781, 376.80, and 376.86, F.S. Sections 376.87 and 

376.875, F.S., were repealed. 



BILL: CS/SB 586   Page 4 

 

In 2008, the Legislature passed HB 527 providing additional tax credits for brownfield area 

developers.21 The law allows a tax credit for the costs incurred to remove solid waste from a 

brownfield site. The tax credit applicant may claim 50 percent of the cost of solid waste removal, 

not to exceed $500,000. An additional 25 percent of the total site rehabilitation costs, up to 

$500,000, may be claimed if a health care facility is constructed on the brownfield site.22  

The DEP must submit an annual report to the President of the Senate and Speaker of the House 

by August 1 each year. The annual report must include the number, locations and sizes of the 

brownfield sites that have been remediated or are currently being rehabilitated under the 

provisions of the Act.23 

Brownfield Designation Procedures 

Currently, a local government that has jurisdiction over a proposed brownfield area is required to 

notify the DEP of the decision to designate the brownfield area for rehabilitation according to the 

Act. The notification must include a resolution containing a map of the proposed area and the 

parcels to be included in the brownfield designation. Municipalities and counties that propose to 

designate a brownfield area must do so according to the resolution adoption procedures outlined 

in ss. 166.041 and 125.66, F.S., respectively, and notice the public hearing according to 

ss. 166.041(3)(c)2. and 125.66(4)(b)2., F.S., respectively.24  

 

The Act requires a local government that proposes to designate a brownfield area that is outside 

of a community redevelopment area, enterprise zone, empowerment zone, closed military base, 

or designated brownfield pilot project, to notify the DEP of the proposed designation. The 

notification must include a resolution that contains a map of the proposed area and the parcels to 

be included in the brownfield designation. The local government is also required to consider if 

the area warrants development, confirm the area is not too large, determine if the area has the 

potential for the private sector to participate in the rehabilitation, and determine whether the area 

has sites that can be used for recreation, cultural or historical preservation.25  

 

The Act allows a local government to designate a brownfield area if the person who owns or 

controls a potential brownfield area is requesting the designation and has agreed to rehabilitate 

and redevelop the area. The redevelopment must provide an economic benefit to the area and 

create at least five permanent new jobs. The redevelopment of the proposed area must be 

consistent with the local comprehensive plan and be able to be permitted. Notice of the proposed 

designation must be provided to the residents of the area and published in a newspaper of local 

circulation. The person requesting the designation must also provide reasonable assurance of 

sufficient financial resources to complete the rehabilitation and redevelopment of the brownfield 

area and enter into a site rehabilitation agreement with the department or local pollution control 

program.26  

 

                                                 
21 See ch. 2008-238, Laws of Fla.  
22 Section 376.30781, F.S.  
23 Section 376.85, F.S. 
24 Chapter 97-277, Laws of Fla. 
25 Id.  
26 Id. 



BILL: CS/SB 586   Page 5 

 

The Act also requires that if property owners within the proposed designation area request in 

writing to the local government to have their properties removed from the designation, then the 

request must be granted.27 

 

As of November 22, 2013, local governments have adopted 352 resolutions to officially 

designate brownfield areas and 190 BSRAs have been executed. A total of 69 Site Rehabilitation 

Completion Orders or “No Further Action” orders have been issued since the inception of the 

program for sites that have been remediated to levels protective of human health and the 

environment. The remaining sites are in some phase of site assessment or cleanup. 28 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 amends s. 376.78, F.S., to clarify that the redevelopment of a brownfield area within a 

community redevelopment area, empowerment zone, closed military base, or designated 

brownfield pilot project area has a positive impact on these areas. By specifying these areas, the 

bill prioritizes them over non-specified areas. 

 

Section 2 amends s. 376.80, F.S., to clarify, reorganize, and revise the procedures for the 

designation of a brownfield area for the purpose of rehabilitation under the Act.  

 

The bill specifies the following procedures for the designation of a brownfield area:  

 A local government with jurisdiction over the brownfield area must adopt a resolution to 

designate the proposed area.  

 The local government must notify the DEP, and, if applicable, the local pollution control 

program within 30 days of the adoption of the resolution. 

 The resolution must continue to include a detailed map of the parcels to be designated or a 

legal description of the parcels along with a less detailed map. 

 Municipalities must adopt the resolution according to s. 166.041, F.S., and the procedures for 

public hearings must comply with s. 166.041(3)(c)2, F.S. 

 Counties must adopt the resolution according to s. 125.66, F.S., and the procedures for the 

public hearings must comply with s. 125.66(4)(b), F.S.  

 Property owners within the proposed brownfield area who make written requests to have 

their properties removed from the designation before the adoption of the resolution must be 

granted the request.  

 

The bill specifies that if a designation is proposed by a local government that has jurisdiction 

over the area and the area is located outside an existing community redevelopment area, or if 

designation is proposed by a non-governmental entity, then the following public hearing and 

notification procedures are required:  

 At least one of the required public hearings must be conducted as close to the proposed area 

as possible to provide an opportunity for public input on the size of the area, the objectives 

for rehabilitation, job opportunities and economic development, and residents’ 

considerations. 

                                                 
27 Id. 
28 DEP, Senate Bill 586 Agency Analysis (Jan. 2014) (on file with the Senate Committee on Environmental Preservation and 

Conservation).  



BILL: CS/SB 586   Page 6 

 

 Notice of the public hearing must be published in a newspaper of general circulation, 

published in ethnic newspapers or community bulletins, posted in the affected area, and 

announced at a scheduled meeting of the local governing body held prior to the public 

hearing.  

 At the public hearing, the local government must consider whether the proposed brownfield 

area: 

o warrants development; 

o covers an overly large area;  

o has the potential for the private sector to participate in the rehabilitation; and 

o contains sites that may be used for recreational open space, cultural, or historical 

preservation purposes.  

 

The bill specifies that if the designation is proposed by a local government that has jurisdiction 

over the area and the area is located inside an existing community redevelopment area, an 

enterprise zone, an empowerment zone, a closed military base, or a designated brownfield pilot 

project, then the public hearing considerations outlined above are not required. However, the 

local government must comply with the notification and resolution adoption procedures outlined 

earlier. 

 

The bill specifies that if the designation is proposed by individuals, corporations, partnerships, 

limited liability corporations, community-based organizations, not-for-profit corporations, or 

other non-governmental entities, then the following public hearing and notification procedures 

are required: 

 A public hearing must be conducted as close to the proposed area as possible to provide an 

opportunity for public input on the size of the area, the objectives for rehabilitation, job 

opportunities and economic developments, and local residents’ considerations. 

 Notice of the public hearing must be published in a newspaper of general circulation, 

published in an ethnic newspaper or community bulletin, posted in the affected area, and 

announced at a scheduled meeting of the local governing body held prior to the public 

hearing.  

 The person proposing the designation must also meet the following criteria: 

o the person owns or controls the proposed area; 

o the rehabilitation and redevelopment of the proposed area will be economically beneficial 

and include the creation of at least five new, permanent jobs; 

o the redevelopment is consistent with the local comprehensive plan and is able to be 

permitted; 

o the person has provided reasonable assurance of sufficient financial resources to 

complete the rehabilitation and redevelopment of the brownfield area; and 

o the person must enter into a site rehabilitation agreement with the DEP or local pollution 

control program. The person is entitled to negotiate the terms of the agreement.  

 

The bill specifies that a local government that designates a brownfield area according to these 

procedures is not required to use the term “brownfield area” within the name of the brownfield 

area designated by the local government.  

 

Section 3 amends s. 376.82, F.S., to revise the liability protection for a person who executes and 

implements a successful BSRA to include liability protection for: 



BILL: CS/SB 586   Page 7 

 

 claims of any person for property damage; 

 diminished value of real property or improvements; 

 lost or delayed rent, sale, or use of real property or improvements; and  

 the stigma to real property or improvements caused by the contamination that was addressed 

in the BSRA. 

 

The liability protection applies to causes of action occurring on or after July 1, 2014. The bill 

specifies that the liability protection does not apply to a person who commits fraud in 

demonstrating site conditions, in completing a site rehabilitation agreement, or who exacerbates 

contamination of a property subject to a BSRA in violation of applicable laws, which causes 

property damage.  

 

Section 4 provides an effective date of July 1, 2014.  

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

The bill eliminates the right of a third party to pursue an action for property damages, 

unless a person commits fraud in demonstrating site conditions, in completing a site 

rehabilitation agreement, or exacerbates contamination of a property subject to a BSRA 

in violation of applicable laws. The elimination of this legal remedy may harm third 

parties whose properties are damaged. However, individuals, corporations, community-

based organizations, and not-for-profit corporations proposing to designate brownfield 

areas should benefit from this limitation of liability provision. The fiscal impacts are too 

remote to determine at this time. 



BILL: CS/SB 586   Page 8 

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

Local governments may incur costs associated with damages to public property that has 

been impacted by contamination from a brownfield site due to the limitation of liability 

provisions in the bill. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 376.78, 376.80, and 

376.82. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Environmental Preservation and Conservation on February 5, 2014: 
The committee substitute: 

 resolves the technical deficiency that was present in the bill by requiring the 

municipalities and counties to adhere to the public hearing procedures outlined in 

ss. 166.041(3)(c)2. and 125.66(4)(b), F.S., respectively;  

 resolves the technical deficiency that was present in the bill by eliminating the 

conflicting newspaper publication size requirement; and  

 allows the local government that designates a brownfield area to eliminate the term 

“brownfield area” within the name of the brownfield area once it has been designated 

by the local government.  

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

By the Committee on Environmental Preservation and Conservation; 

and Senator Altman 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 1 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to brownfields; amending s. 376.78, 2 

F.S.; revising legislative intent with regard to 3 

community revitalization in certain areas; amending s. 4 

376.80, F.S.; revising procedures for designation of 5 

brownfield areas by local governments; providing 6 

procedures for adoption of a resolution; providing 7 

requirements for notice and public hearings; 8 

authorizing local governments to use a term other than 9 

“brownfield area” when naming such areas; amending s. 10 

376.82, F.S.; providing an exemption from liability 11 

for property damages for entities that execute and 12 

implement certain brownfield site rehabilitation 13 

agreements; providing for applicability; providing an 14 

effective date. 15 

  16 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 17 

 18 

Section 1. Subsection (8) of section 376.78, Florida 19 

Statutes, is amended to read: 20 

376.78 Legislative intent.—The Legislature finds and 21 

declares the following: 22 

(8) The existence of brownfields within a community may 23 

contribute to, or may be a symptom of, overall community 24 

decline, including issues of human disease and illness, crime, 25 

educational and employment opportunities, and infrastructure 26 

decay. The environment is an important element of quality of 27 

life in any community, along with economic opportunity, 28 

educational achievement, access to health care, housing quality 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 2 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

and availability, provision of governmental services, and other 30 

socioeconomic factors. Brownfields redevelopment, properly done, 31 

can be a significant element in community revitalization, 32 

especially within community redevelopment areas, enterprise 33 

zones, empowerment zones, closed military bases, or designated 34 

brownfield pilot project areas. 35 

Section 2. Subsections (1) and (2) of section 376.80, 36 

Florida Statutes, are amended, and subsection (12) is added to 37 

that section, to read: 38 

376.80 Brownfield program administration process.— 39 

(1) The following general procedures apply to brownfield 40 

designations: 41 

(a) The local government with jurisdiction over a proposed 42 

brownfield area shall designate such area pursuant to this 43 

section. 44 

(b) For a brownfield area designation proposed by: 45 

1. The jurisdictional local government, the designation 46 

criteria under paragraph (2)(a) apply unless the local 47 

government proposes to designate a brownfield area within a 48 

specified redevelopment area as provided in paragraph (2)(b). 49 

2. Any person other than a governmental entity, including, 50 

but not limited to, individuals, corporations, partnerships, 51 

limited liability companies, community-based organizations, or 52 

not-for-profit corporations, the designation criteria under 53 

paragraph (2)(c) apply. 54 

(c) Except as otherwise provided, the following provisions 55 

apply to all proposed brownfield area designations: 56 

1. Notification to the department following adoption.—A 57 

local government with jurisdiction over the brownfield area must 58 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 3 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

notify the department, and, if applicable, the local pollution 59 

control program under s. 403.182, of its decision to designate a 60 

brownfield area for rehabilitation for the purposes of ss. 61 

376.77-376.86. The notification must include a resolution 62 

adopted, by the local government body. The local government 63 

shall notify the department and, if applicable, the local 64 

pollution control program under s. 403.182, of the designation 65 

within 30 days after adoption of the resolution. 66 

2. Resolution adoption.—The brownfield area designation 67 

must be carried out by a resolution adopted by the 68 

jurisdictional local government, to which includes is attached a 69 

map adequate to clearly delineate exactly which parcels are to 70 

be included in the brownfield area or alternatively a less-71 

detailed map accompanied by a detailed legal description of the 72 

brownfield area. For municipalities, the governing body shall 73 

adopt the resolution in accordance with the procedures outlined 74 

in s. 166.041, except that the procedures for the public 75 

hearings on the proposed resolution must be in the form 76 

established in s. 166.041(3)(c)2. For counties, the governing 77 

body shall adopt the resolution in accordance with the 78 

procedures outlined in s. 125.66, except that the procedures for 79 

the public hearings on the proposed resolution must be in the 80 

form established in s. 125.66(4)(b). 81 

3. Right to be removed from proposed brownfield area.—If a 82 

property owner within the area proposed for designation by the 83 

local government requests in writing to have his or her property 84 

removed from the proposed designation, the local government 85 

shall grant the request. For municipalities, the governing body 86 

shall adopt the resolution in accordance with the procedures 87 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 4 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

outlined in s. 166.041, except that the notice for the public 88 

hearings on the proposed resolution must be in the form 89 

established in s. 166.041(3)(c)2. For counties, the governing 90 

body shall adopt the resolution in accordance with the 91 

procedures outlined in s. 125.66, except that the notice for the 92 

public hearings on the proposed resolution shall be in the form 93 

established in s. 125.66(4)(b)2. 94 

4. Notice and public hearing requirements for designation 95 

of a proposed brownfield area outside a redevelopment area or by 96 

a nongovernmental entity.—Compliance with the following 97 

provisions is required before designation of a proposed 98 

brownfield area under paragraph (2)(a) or paragraph (2)(c): 99 

a. At least one of the required public hearings shall be 100 

conducted as close as is reasonably practicable to the area to 101 

be designated to provide an opportunity for public input on the 102 

size of the area, the objectives for rehabilitation, job 103 

opportunities and economic developments anticipated, 104 

neighborhood residents’ considerations, and other relevant local 105 

concerns. 106 

b. Notice of a public hearing must be made in a newspaper 107 

of general circulation in the area, must be made in ethnic 108 

newspapers or local community bulletins, must be posted in the 109 

affected area, and must be announced at a scheduled meeting of 110 

the local governing body before the actual public hearing. 111 

(2)(a) Local government-proposed brownfield area 112 

designation outside specified redevelopment areas.—If a local 113 

government proposes to designate a brownfield area that is 114 

outside a community redevelopment area areas, enterprise zone 115 

zones, empowerment zone zones, closed military base bases, or 116 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 5 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

designated brownfield pilot project area areas, the local 117 

government shall provide notice, adopt the resolution, and 118 

conduct the public hearings pursuant to paragraph in accordance 119 

with the requirements of subsection (1)(c), except at least one 120 

of the required public hearings shall be conducted as close as 121 

reasonably practicable to the area to be designated to provide 122 

an opportunity for public input on the size of the area, the 123 

objectives for rehabilitation, job opportunities and economic 124 

developments anticipated, neighborhood residents’ 125 

considerations, and other relevant local concerns. Notice of the 126 

public hearing must be made in a newspaper of general 127 

circulation in the area and the notice must be at least 16 128 

square inches in size, must be in ethnic newspapers or local 129 

community bulletins, must be posted in the affected area, and 130 

must be announced at a scheduled meeting of the local governing 131 

body before the actual public hearing. At a public hearing to 132 

designate the proposed brownfield area In determining the areas 133 

to be designated, the local government must consider: 134 

1. Whether the brownfield area warrants economic 135 

development and has a reasonable potential for such activities; 136 

2. Whether the proposed area to be designated represents a 137 

reasonably focused approach and is not overly large in 138 

geographic coverage; 139 

3. Whether the area has potential to interest the private 140 

sector in participating in rehabilitation; and 141 

4. Whether the area contains sites or parts of sites 142 

suitable for limited recreational open space, cultural, or 143 

historical preservation purposes. 144 

(b) Local government-proposed brownfield area designation 145 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 6 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

within specified redevelopment areas.—Paragraph (a) does not 146 

apply to a proposed brownfield area if the local government 147 

proposes to designate the brownfield area inside a community 148 

redevelopment area, enterprise zone, empowerment zone, closed 149 

military base, or designated brownfield pilot project area and 150 

the local government complies with paragraph (1)(c). 151 

(c)(b) Brownfield area designation proposed by persons 152 

other than a governmental entity.—For designation of a 153 

brownfield area that is proposed by a person other than the 154 

local government, the local government with jurisdiction over 155 

the proposed brownfield area shall provide notice and adopt a 156 

resolution to designate the a brownfield area pursuant to 157 

paragraph (1)(c) if, at the public hearing to adopt the 158 

resolution, the person establishes all of the following under 159 

the provisions of this act provided that: 160 

1. A person who owns or controls a potential brownfield 161 

site is requesting the designation and has agreed to 162 

rehabilitate and redevelop the brownfield site.; 163 

2. The rehabilitation and redevelopment of the proposed 164 

brownfield site will result in economic productivity of the 165 

area, along with the creation of at least 5 new permanent jobs 166 

at the brownfield site that are full-time equivalent positions 167 

not associated with the implementation of the brownfield site 168 

rehabilitation agreement and that are not associated with 169 

redevelopment project demolition or construction activities 170 

pursuant to the redevelopment of the proposed brownfield site or 171 

area. However, the job creation requirement does shall not apply 172 

to the rehabilitation and redevelopment of a brownfield site 173 

that will provide affordable housing as defined in s. 420.0004 174 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 7 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

or the creation of recreational areas, conservation areas, or 175 

parks.; 176 

3. The redevelopment of the proposed brownfield site is 177 

consistent with the local comprehensive plan and is a 178 

permittable use under the applicable local land development 179 

regulations.; 180 

4. Notice of the proposed rehabilitation of the brownfield 181 

area has been provided to neighbors and nearby residents of the 182 

proposed area to be designated pursuant to paragraph (1)(c), and 183 

the person proposing the area for designation has afforded to 184 

those receiving notice the opportunity for comments and 185 

suggestions about rehabilitation. Notice pursuant to this 186 

subparagraph must be made in a newspaper of general circulation 187 

in the area, at least 16 square inches in size, and the notice 188 

must be posted in the affected area.; and 189 

5. The person proposing the area for designation has 190 

provided reasonable assurance that he or she has sufficient 191 

financial resources to implement and complete the rehabilitation 192 

agreement and redevelopment of the brownfield site. 193 

(d)(c) Negotiation of brownfield site rehabilitation 194 

agreement.—The designation of a brownfield area and the 195 

identification of a person responsible for brownfield site 196 

rehabilitation simply entitles the identified person to 197 

negotiate a brownfield site rehabilitation agreement with the 198 

department or approved local pollution control program. 199 

(12) A local government that designates a brownfield area 200 

pursuant to this section is not required to use the term 201 

“brownfield area” within the name of the brownfield area 202 

designated by the local government. 203 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 8 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Section 3. Paragraphs (a) and (b) of subsection (2) of 204 

section 376.82, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 205 

376.82 Eligibility criteria and liability protection.— 206 

(2) LIABILITY PROTECTION.— 207 

(a) Any person, including his or her successors and 208 

assigns, who executes and implements to successful completion a 209 

brownfield site rehabilitation agreement, is shall be relieved 210 

of: 211 

1. Further liability for remediation of the contaminated 212 

site or sites to the state and to third parties. and of 213 

2. Liability in contribution to any other party who has or 214 

may incur cleanup liability for the contaminated site or sites. 215 

3. Liability for claims of any person for property damage, 216 

including, but not limited to, diminished value of real property 217 

or improvements; lost or delayed rent, sale, or use of real 218 

property or improvements; or stigma to real property or 219 

improvements caused by contamination addressed by a brownfield 220 

site rehabilitation agreement. Notwithstanding any other 221 

provision of this chapter, this subparagraph applies to causes 222 

of action accruing on or after July 1, 2014. This subparagraph 223 

does not apply to a person who commits fraud in demonstrating 224 

site conditions or completing site rehabilitation of a property 225 

subject to a brownfield site rehabilitation agreement or who 226 

exacerbates contamination of a property subject to a brownfield 227 

site rehabilitation agreement in violation of applicable laws, 228 

which causes property damages. 229 

(b) This section does not limit shall not be construed as a 230 

limitation on the right of a third party other than the state to 231 

pursue an action for damages to persons for bodily harm property 232 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 586 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

592-01670-14 2014586c1 

Page 9 of 9 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

or person; however, such an action may not compel site 233 

rehabilitation in excess of that required in the approved 234 

brownfield site rehabilitation agreement or otherwise required 235 

by the department or approved local pollution control program. 236 

Section 4. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 237 















 

 

SENATOR THAD ALTMAN 
16th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
 
 
COMMITTEES: 
Military Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security, Chair 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Criminal and  
   Civil Justice 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Finance and Tax 
Children, Families, and Elder Affairs 
Criminal Justice 
Environmental Preservation and Conservation 
 
SELECT COMMITTEE 
Indian River Lagoon and Lake Okeechobee 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Committee on Public Counsel Oversight 
  

 
 REPLY TO: 
   6767 North Wickham Road, Suite 211, Melbourne, Florida 32940  (321) 752-3138 
   314 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5016 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

 

 

March 4, 2014 

 

 

The Honorable Wilton Simpson  

Senate Committee on Community Affairs, Chair  

315 Knott Building  

404 South Monroe Street  

Tallahassee, FL 32399  

 

Dear Chairman Simpson: 

 

Senate Bill 0586, related to Brownfields is on the Community Affairs Committee agenda on 

March 5, 2014.  Since I will be chairing the Military and Veterans Affairs, Space, and Domestic 

Security Committee, I will be unable to attend.   

 

Please recognize my Legislative Assistant Rick Kendust to present SB 0586 on my behalf.  

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.   

 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Thad Altman 

 

 

cc: Tom Yeatman, Staff Director, 315 Knott Building 

 Ann Whittaker, Committee Administrative Assistant 

 

 

TA/svb 

 



 

 

SENATOR THAD ALTMAN 
16th District 

THE FLORIDA SENATE 
 

Tallahassee, Florida  32399-1100 
 

 
 
 
COMMITTEES: 
Military Affairs, Space, and Domestic Security, Chair 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Criminal and  
   Civil Justice 
Appropriations Subcommittee on Finance and Tax 
Children, Families, and Elder Affairs 
Criminal Justice 
Environmental Preservation and Conservation 
 
SELECT COMMITTEE 
Indian River Lagoon and Lake Okeechobee 
 
JOINT COMMITTEE: 
Joint Administrative Procedures Committee 
  

 
 REPLY TO: 
   6767 North Wickham Road, Suite 211, Melbourne, Florida 32940  (321) 752-3138 
   314 Senate Office Building, 404 South Monroe Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1100  (850) 487-5016 
 

Senate’s Website:  www.flsenate.gov 
 
 

 DON GAETZ GARRETT RICHTER 
 President of the Senate President Pro Tempore 
 

 

 

February 5, 2014 

 
The Honorable Wilton Simpson  

Senate Committee on Community Affairs, Chair  

315 Knott Building  

404 South Monroe Street  

Tallahassee, FL 32399  
 

Dear Chairman Simpson: 

 

I respectfully request that SB 0586, related to Brownsfields, be placed on the committee agenda 

at your earliest convenience.   

 

Thank you for your consideration, and please do not hesitate to contact me should you have any 

questions. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Thad Altman 

 

 

 cc: Tom Yeatman, Staff Director, 315 Knott Building 

 Ann Whittaker, Committee Administrative Assistant 

 

 

TA/svb 

 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  CS/CS/SB 846 

INTRODUCER:  Community Affairs Committee; Ethics and Elections Committee; and Senator Latvala 

SUBJECT:  Governmental Ethics 

DATE:  March 5, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Carlton  Roberts  EE  Fav/CS 

2. White  Yeatman  CA  Fav/CS 

3.     AP   

 

Please see Section IX. for Additional Information: 

COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE - Substantial Changes 

 

I. Summary: 

CS/CS/SB 846 contains ethical reforms for several quasi-governmental entities. The changes will 

apply to: 

 The Florida Clerk of Courts Operation Corporation; 

 Enterprise Florida, Inc.; 

 The divisions, including any corporations created to carry out its missions, of Enterprise 

Florida, Inc.; and 

 The Florida Development Finance Corporation. 

 

Among those changes, the bill makes clear that members of the governing bodies of those 

entities are subject to certain standards of conduct, anti-nepotism provisions, voting conflicts, 

and post-service lobbying restrictions. A two year post-service prohibition on lobbying is also 

applied to members of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation. 

 

The bill requires elected municipal officers to complete 4 hours of annual ethics, public records, 

and open meetings training.  

 

The financial disclosure laws are amended to provide a mechanism for the Commission on 

Ethics (Commission) to initiate proceedings, without having first received a complaint, against a 

person who has failed or refused to file their annual financial disclosure form and has accrued the 

maximum automatic fine. If the Commission initiates a proceeding, it would determine whether 

the failure to file was willful and, if so, recommend to the appropriate person or governing board 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 2 

 

that the officer be removed from office. Additionally, the bill amends how the Commission 

collects unpaid automatic fines for failure to file annual financial disclosure by making wage 

garnishment possible under certain circumstances. 

 

The bill requires certain citizen support and direct support organizations to adopt a code of ethics 

and specifies that certain provisions must be included in the code of ethics. 

 

The bill also regulates those who lobby certain independent special districts by creating a statute 

that closely resembles the legislative lobbying provisions in s. 11.045, F.S., and the executive 

branch lobbying provisions in s. 112.3215, F.S. The bill requires lobbyists to register in a 

district’s lobbying registration system, and provides jurisdiction to the Commission concerning 

complaints alleging violations of the new requirements. 

 

The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2014. 

II. Present Situation: 

For purposes of this analysis, the present situation will be addressed in the Effect of Proposed 

Changes section below. 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Quasi-Governmental Entities 

Florida Clerks of Court Operations Corporation 

Present Situation: The Florida Clerks of Court Operations Corporation is created as a “public 

corporation” in s. 28.35, F.S.1 Membership consists of each of the Florida Clerks of Circuit 

Court. The Corporation is governed by an executive council which is composed of eight Clerks 

who are elected by the members, a designee of the President of the Florida Senate, a designee of 

the Speaker of the Florida House of Representatives, and a designee of the Chief Justice of the 

Florida Supreme Court. The Clerks of the Circuit Court are subject to the Code of Ethics for 

Public Officers and Employees in part III, ch. 112, F.S., (“Code of Ethics”) in their official 

capacities as Clerks of Circuit Court. 

 

It is not clear that the members of the Executive Council would be subject to the Code of Ethics 

in that capacity.2 A public corporation like this Corporation would not be an “agency” unless 

there is specific language to that effect. In the case of this Corporation, s. 28.35(1)(c), F.S., 

states: 

 

The corporation shall be considered a political subdivision of the state and shall be 

exempt from the corporate income tax. The corporation is not subject to chapter 120. 

                                                 
1 Section 28.35(1)(a), F.S. 
2 Unless otherwise specified, the various provisions of the Code of Ethics only apply to public officers and public employees. 

Those provisions contemplate service to an “agency.” For purposes of the Code of Ethics, the term “agency” means any state, 

regional, county, local, or municipal government entity of this state, whether executive, judicial, or legislative; any 

department, division, bureau, commission, authority, or political subdivision of this state herein; or any public school, 

community college, or state university. See, s. 112.312(2), F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 3 

 

 

Political subdivisions are, in fact, an “agency” pursuant to s. 112.312(2), F.S. However, in the 

context of s. 28.35(1)(c), F.S., it appears that that phrase is used only to exempt the Corporation 

from corporate income tax. Moreover, if the Legislature intended to subject these types of 

entities to the Code of Ethics, in whole or in part, it has historically done so expressly.3 

 

Effect of the Bill: The bill clarifies that members of the Florida Clerks of Court Operations 

Corporation Executive Council are subject to the standards of conduct in s. 112.313, F.S., the 

“anti-nepotism” provision in s. 112.3135, F.S., and the voting conflicts standard applicable to 

state officers in s. 112.3143(2), F.S. The bill clarifies that, for purposes of those sections, the 

members of the Executive Council are public officers or employees. Finally, members of the 

Executive Council are prohibited from representing others for compensation before the 

Corporation for a period of two years after the end of their service on the Council.4 

 

Enterprise Florida, Inc. and its Divisions: 

Present Situation: Enterprise Florida, Inc., is created in s. 288.901, F.S., as a non-profit 

corporation. It is expressly provided that Enterprise Florida, Inc., is “not a unit or entity of state 

government.” The members of the Board of Directors of Enterprise Florida, Inc., are composed 

of various state officers and private individuals.5 

 

Notwithstanding that Enterprise Florida, Inc., is not a unit or entity of state government, the 

Legislature has provided that the members of its Board are subject to the anti-nepotism provision 

in s. 112.3135, F.S., the voting conflicts standard applicable to statewide officers in 

s. 112.3143(2), F.S., and the standards of conduct in s. 112.313, F.S. However, s. 288.901(1)(c), 

F.S., specifically exempts members of the Board from the prohibition on “quid pro quo” gifts in 

s. 112.313(2), F.S.6 Finally, members of the Board who are not otherwise required to file annual 

financial disclosure are required to file an Annual Statement of Financial Interests pursuant to 

s. 112.3145, F.S. 

 

The statutes are silent concerning application of any provisions of the Code of Ethics to the 

Divisions of Enterprise Florida authorized pursuant to s. 288.92, F.S. 

 

Effect of the Bill: The bill prohibits members of the Board from accepting “quid pro quo” gifts as 

provided in s. 112.313(2), F.S. The members of the Board of Directors would be prohibited from 

representing others for compensation before the Corporation for a period of two years after the 

end of their service on the Board of Directors pursuant to s. 112.313(9), F.S.7 

                                                 
3 See, for example, s. 627.351(6)(d)3., F.S. 
4 By its own terms, s. 112.313(9), F.S., applies to various officers and employees throughout three branches of state 

government. The Executive Council of the Florida Clerk of Courts Operations Corporation does not appear to fit into any of 

the definitions limiting the scope of s. 112.313(9), F.S. While stylistically unusual, the use of “including s. 112.313(9), F.S.” 

is intended to clarify that the two year lobbying prohibition therein applies to members of the Executive Council. 
5 Section 288.901(5)-(7), F.S. 
6 Section 112.313(2), F.S., prohibits solicitation or acceptance of anything of value when based upon any understanding that 

the officer’s vote, official action, or judgment would be influenced by the gift. 
7 By its own terms, s. 112.313(9), F.S., applies to various officers and employees throughout three branches of state 

government. Neither the Board of Directors of Enterprise Florida nor the officers and agents of its divisions fit into any of the 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 4 

 

 

The officers and agents of the Divisions of Enterprise Florida, and corporations created to carry 

out its mission, would be subject to the standards of conduct in s. 112.313, F.S., the anti-

nepotism provision in s. 112.3135, F.S., and the voting conflicts standard applicable to statewide 

officers in s. 112.3143(2), F.S. As with the members of the Board of Directors, the officers of the 

Divisions of Enterprise Florida (including corporations created to carry out its mission) are 

prohibited from representing others for compensation before Enterprise Florida, Inc. for a period 

of two years after the end of their service pursuant to s. 112.313(9), F.S. These ethics standards 

would apply to: 

 Officers of the Divisions of Enterprise Florida;  

 Officers of subsidiaries of Enterprise Florida; 

 Officers of corporations created to carry out the missions of Enterprise Florida; and 

 Officers of corporations that Enterprise Florida is required to contract with by law. 

 

Florida Development Finance Corporation 

Present Situation: The Florida Development Finance Corporation is created in s. 288.9604, F.S., 

to assist businesses interested in moving into Florida with obtaining financing and other 

economic information and services.8 The Corporation is “created a public body corporate and 

politic” and is “constituted as a public instrumentality.” The Board of Directors is composed of 

five members selected by the Governor who were nominated by Enterprise Florida, Inc.”9 The 

statutes are silent as to the applicability of the Code of Ethics to the members of the Board of 

Directors of the Florida Development Finance Corporation. 

 

Effect of the Bill: While an argument could be made that the Florida Development Finance 

Corporation is subject to the entire Code of Ethics, the enabling legislation does not clearly state 

that any provision of the Code of Ethics applies to the Corporation. As noted above, the 

Legislature has historically expressly made entities like this subject to the Code in whole or in 

part. The Legislature has not done so in this case. So, the bill clarifies that members of the 

Florida Development Finance Corporation Board of Directors are subject to the standards of 

conduct in s. 112.313, F.S., the “anti-nepotism” provision in s. 112.3135, F.S., and the voting 

conflicts standard applicable to state officers in s. 112.3143(2), F.S. The bill clarifies that, for 

purposes of those sections, the members of the Board of Directors are public officers or 

employees. Finally, members of the Board of Directors would be prohibited from representing 

others for compensation before the Corporation for a period of two years after the end of their 

service on the Board.10 

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation 

Present Situation: Citizens Property Insurance Corporation is created in s. 627.351(6), F.S., to 

ensure there is an orderly market for property insurance for Floridians. Pursuant to 

                                                 
definitions limiting the scope of s. 112.313(9), F.S. While stylistically unusual, the use of “including s. 112.313(9), F.S.,” is 

intended to clarify that the two year lobbying prohibition therein applies to members of the Board. 
8 Section 288.9602, F.S. 
9 Section 288.9604(2), F.S. 
10 By its own terms, s. 112.313(9), F.S., applies to various officers and employees throughout three branches of state 

government. The Florida Development Finance Corporation Board of Directors does not appear to fit into any of the 

definitions limiting the scope of s. 112.313(9), F.S. While stylistically unusual, the use of “including s. 112.313(9), F.S.” is 

intended to clarify that the two year lobbying prohibition therein applies to members of the Board of Directors. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 5 

 

s. 627.351(6)(d)3., F.S., senior managers and members of the Board of Governors are subject to 

the Code of Ethics and are required to file annual financial disclosure pursuant to s. 112.3145, 

F.S. 

 

Effect of the Bill: The bill subjects the Executive Director of Citizens Property Insurance 

Corporation to the Code of Ethics, and the financial disclosure requirement. The bill prohibits a 

former Executive Director, or former member of the Board of Governors, from representing 

another person or entity before the corporation for a period of two years after leaving. 

Additionally, a former Executive Director, or former member of the Board of Governors may not 

enter employment or a contractual relationship with an insurer that entered into a take-out bonus 

agreement with the Corporation while he or she served, for a period of two years. 

 

Annual Ethics Training 

Present Situation: Currently, constitutional officers are required to complete a minimum of four 

hours of ethics training annually.11 The law requires training in ethics, public records, and open 

meetings laws. In accordance with statutory requirement, the Commission has promulgated rules 

specifying what provisions of Florida’s ethics laws must be covered.12 

 

Effect of the Bill: The bill requires elected municipal officers to complete the required ethics 

training. Beginning January 1, 2015, all officers subject to the training requirement must certify 

completion of the requirement on their annual financial disclosure forms. The bill provides that 

an officer who assumes office after March 31 is not subject to the ethics training requirement 

until the following year. However, a person who assumes office on or before March 31 is 

required to complete ethics training in the year in which he or she assumes office. Finally, the 

bill specifies that failure to affirm completion of the ethics training requirement does not 

constitute an immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis error or omission. Therefore, a person 

who fails to indicate he or she completed the ethics training requirement does not get the 

opportunity to amend their form. Rather, the complaint proceedings begin immediately. 

 

Financial Disclosure 

Present Situation: Pursuant to ss. 112.3144 and 112.3145, F.S., certain public officers are 

required to file financial disclosure annually. Failure to file financial disclosure results in an 

automatic fine of $25 per day, up to a maximum of $1,500. If a filer fails to pay the fine as 

required by law, the unpaid fine can be given to a collections agency for collection, money may 

be withheld from the filer’s public paycheck, or the Commission on Ethics, or its collection 

agency, can seek garnishment of the filer’s private wages. 

 

Currently, the Commission on Ethics may not initiate an investigation into alleged violations of 

the financial disclosure laws, or any other laws, without having first received a complaint. 

 

Effect of the Bill: The bill amends the financial disclosure laws by providing a mechanism for the 

Commission on Ethics to initiate proceedings, without having first received a complaint, against 

                                                 
11 Section 112.3142, F.S. 
12 Rule 34-7.025, F.A.C. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 6 

 

a person who has failed or refused to file their annual financial disclosure form and has accrued 

the maximum automatic fine. These complaints would follow the same procedure in place for 

any other ethics complaint made to the Commission. If the Commission initiates a proceeding, it 

would determine whether the failure to file was willful and, if so, enter an order recommending 

that the officer be removed from office. The bill also clarifies the provisions concerning 

complaints that allege an immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis error or omission. The 

linguistic changes are not intended to affect the current process for complaints alleging an 

immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis error or omission. That process, passed as part of SB 

2 in 2013, requires the Commission to allow the filer a chance to amend his or her financial 

disclosure form if the Commission receives a complaint after August 25 alleging only an 

immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis error or omission. The bill clarifies that the 

Department of State is only required to send an incumbent’s financial disclosure form upon 

qualifying. 

 

The bill amends the provisions that were passed as part of SB 2 in 2013 providing the 

Commission additional tools to collect unpaid automatic fines for failure to file annual financial 

disclosure. Specifically, the bill clarifies that there are two separate processes available. The first 

provision codifies the common law right of employers to withhold salary-related payments as it 

would be applicable to public officers and employees.13 Under this provision, the bill authorizes 

withholding an amount up to the entire amount of any salary-related payment and any additional 

amount from the next salary-related payment necessary to pay off any remaining balance of the 

fine. There is an exception for current public officers and employees whose public salary is his 

or her primary source of income, and that withholding the full amount of the fine owed would 

present an undue hardship. Under those circumstances, the entity paying the salary-related 

payment would be authorized to reduce the withholding to not less than ten percent of the salary-

related payment. The bill clarifies that this process is separate and distinct from the ability to 

garnish wages by moving those provisions to a newly created statute. 

 

Citizen Support Organizations and Direct Support Organizations 

Present Situation: Currently, s. 112.326, F.S., authorizes the governing body of any political 

subdivision, by ordinance, or agency, by rule, to impose upon its own officers and employees 

additional or more stringent standards of conduct and disclosure requirements than those 

specified in the Code of Ethics, provided that those standards of conduct and disclosure 

requirements do not otherwise conflict with the provisions of the Code of Ethics. 

 

Effect of the Bill: The bill requires citizen support and direct support organizations to adopt a 

code of ethics and specifies that certain provisions must be included in the code of ethics. 

Specifically, the code of ethics adopted must contain the standards of conduct in s. 112.313, 

F.S.14 Those organizations are authorized to adopt additional or more stringent standards of 

conduct and disclosure requirements than are contained in the state’s Code of Ethics for Public 

                                                 
13 See, e.g. Atwater v. Roudebush, 42 F.Supp. 622 (D.C. IL, 1976). 
14 Section 112.313, F.S., contains the major standards of conduct including, but not limited to: Solicitation and acceptance of 

anything of value under certain circumstances; doing business with one’s own agency; misuse of public position, certain 

employment or contractual relationships; disclosure of certain information learned by virtue of one’s public position in order 

to benefit oneself or others; and several other provisions. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 7 

 

Officers and Employees. Citizen support and direct support organizations are required to 

conspicuously post their code of ethics on their website. 

 

Independent Special Districts 

Present Situation: Special districts are local units of special purpose government, within limited 

geographical areas, which are utilized to manage, own, operate, maintain, and finance basic 

capital infrastructure, facilities, and services. According to the Official List of Special Districts 

maintained by the Department of Economic Opportunity (DEO),15 there are 1,008 independent 

special districts and 644 dependent special districts. All special districts must comply with the 

requirements of the Uniform Special District Accountability Act of 1989 which was enacted by 

the Legislature to reform and consolidate laws relating to special districts. The Act provides for 

the definitions, creation, operation, financial report, taxation and non-ad valorem assessments, 

elections and dissolution of most special districts. 

 

Currently, there are no provisions of law that require lobbyists to register before lobbying special 

independent districts. Also, there is no requirement that the lobbyists disclose the identity of 

those who retained them or the compensation paid to the lobbyist for his or her services. Finally, 

there is no provision that is an outright ban on lobbyists giving anything of value to those who 

run or serve on boards of independent special districts. 

 

Currently, the only applicable laws regulating what can be given to those who run or serve on 

boards of independent special districts are: 

 the prohibition against “quid pro quo” gifts, regardless of value;16 

 the prohibition against unauthorized compensation, regardless of value;17 and 

 the “old” gifts law, which prohibits solicitation and acceptance of gifts from certain 

individuals, including lobbyists, over $100 in value.18 

 

Section 112.3148, F.S., also imposes certain disclosure requirements on the lobbyist and public 

officers and employees. 

 

Effect of the Bill: The bill regulates those who lobby certain independent special districts by 

creating a statute that essentially mirrors the legislative lobbying provisions in s. 11.045, F.S., 

and the executive branch lobbying provisions in s. 112.3215, F.S. The bill applies to expressway 

authorities, port authorities, water management districts, hospital districts, children’s services 

districts, or independent special districts with annual revenues of $5 million that exercise ad 

valorem taxing authority. Specifically, the bill will: 

 Require the districts to maintain a lobbyist registration system. 

 Require lobbyists of those districts to register prior to lobbying. 

 Prohibit unregistered lobbyists from representing clients before districts. 

 Require lobbyists to notify the district that their representation of a principal has ended. 

                                                 
15 The Special District Information Program within the DEO serves as the clearinghouse for special district information, and 

maintains a list of special districts categorized by function. 
16 Section 112.313(2), F.S. 
17 Section 112.313(4), F.S. 
18 Section 112.3148, F.S. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 8 

 

 Authorize districts to accept the same forms that are used by lobbyists to register with the 

Legislature or Executive Branch. 

 Provides that complaints alleging a violation of the new requirements would be sent to the 

Commission on Ethics. 

 Authorizes districts to establish a fee of up to $40. 

 Requires moneys collected to be used for administration of the lobbyist registration system. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

The bill requires elected municipal officers to complete a 4 hour ethics training, and 

certify completion of the requirement on their annual financial disclosure forms. Often 

the county or city attorney already provides this training for new officers. Article VII, 

section 18(a) of the Florida Constitution limits the Legislature when attempting to pass 

any general law that requires a local government to take action that requires an 

expenditure of money.19 However, Article VII, section 18(d) of the Florida Constitution 

provides an exemption if the law is determined to have an insignificant fiscal impact.20 

An insignificant fiscal impact means an amount not greater than ten cents times the 

average statewide population for the applicable fiscal year.21 The fiscal impact of the bill 

on local governments has not been estimated, but the bill appears to be exempt. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None.  

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Section 8 of the bill, concerning lobbying special districts, may result in lobbyists having 

to pay a fee of up to $40 per principal to the special district. Because the number of 

lobbyists vary depending on the district, and the permissive nature of the registration fee 

provision, the actual impact is indeterminate. 

                                                 
19 FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 18(a). 
20 FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 18(d). 
21 As of April 1, 2013, the total state population is estimated to be 19,259,543. University of Florida, Bureau of Economic 

and Business Research, Florida Estimates of Population 2013 (Apr. 1, 2013), at 21. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 9 

 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

The bill imposes additional requirements to conduct complaint proceedings related to 

financial disclosure and independent special district lobbying. The number of additional 

proceedings that may result is indeterminate. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 28.35, 112.3142, 

112.3144, 112.3145, 112.31455, 288.901, 288.92, 288.9604, and 627.351. 

 

This bill also creates the following sections of the Florida Statutes: 112.31456, 112.3251, and 

112.3261. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Substantial Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS/CS by Community Affairs on March 5, 2014: 

 Narrows the scope of the lobbying restrictions imposed on independent special 

districts by providing applicability solely to expressway authorities, port authorities, 

water management districts, hospital districts, children’s services districts, or 

independent special districts with annual revenues of $5 million which exercise ad 

valorem taxing authority. 

o Those districts would be required to maintain a lobbyist registration system. 

o Lobbyists may not lobby those districts until they are registered. 
o Lobbyists are required to notify the district when their representation of a 

principal has ended. 
o Districts are permitted to accept the same forms used by lobbyists to register with 

the Legislature or Executive Branch.  
o Districts can establish a fee of up to $40, to be used to maintain their lobbyist 

registration system. 
o Provisions related to quarterly compensation reports, and an expenditure ban have 

been removed. 
 Limits the number of Form 6 financial disclosures that the Department of State is 

required to send to the Commission. 

 Removes references to Space Florida. 

 Extends the same ethics standards that apply to the Board of Enterprise Florida to 

other Officers throughout Enterprise Florida. 



BILL: CS/CS/SB 846   Page 10 

 

 Extends the ethics standards and post service standards that apply to the members of 

the Board of Directors of Citizens to the Executive Director of Citizens. 

 

CS by Ethics and Elections on February 17, 2014: 

 Provides that the requirement to certify completion of annual ethics training on 

financial disclosure forms is effective January 1, 2015; 

 Subjects expressway authorities and port authorities to the lobbying provisions 

concerning independent special districts; 

 Requires moneys collected pursuant to the special district lobbying provisions to be 

used solely for administration of those provisions; and 

 Provides that those who assume office after March 31 do not have to complete annual 

ethics training until the next calendar year. Those assuming office on or before 

March 31 are required to complete ethics training prior to the end of the year in which 

they assume office. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì318152ÆÎ318152 

 

Page 1 of 6 

3/4/2014 12:45:59 PM 578-02107-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: WD 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Before line 101 3 

insert: 4 

Section 1. Present subsections (2) through (9) of section 5 

11.045, Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (3) 6 

through (10), respectively, present subsections (8) and (9) of 7 

that section are amended, and a new subsection (2) is added to 8 

that section, to read: 9 

11.045 Lobbying before the Legislature; registration and 10 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì318152ÆÎ318152 

 

Page 2 of 6 

3/4/2014 12:45:59 PM 578-02107-14 

reporting; exemptions; penalties.— 11 

(2) An elected county or municipal officer may not lobby or 12 

register to lobby the Legislature on behalf of a person or 13 

entity other than his or her political subdivision. This 14 

subsection does not prohibit a person from being employed by, or 15 

contracting with, a lobbying firm if he or she does not 16 

personally represent clients before the Legislature. 17 

(9)(8) Any person required to be registered or to provide 18 

information pursuant to this section or pursuant to rules 19 

established in conformity with this section who knowingly fails 20 

to disclose any material fact required by this section or by 21 

rules established in conformity with this section, or who 22 

knowingly provides false information on any report required by 23 

this section or by rules established in conformity with this 24 

section, commits a noncriminal infraction, punishable by a fine 25 

not to exceed $5,000. Such penalty shall be in addition to any 26 

other penalty assessed by a house of the Legislature pursuant to 27 

subsection (8) (7). 28 

(10)(9) There is hereby created the Legislative Lobbyist 29 

Registration Trust Fund, to be used for the purpose of funding 30 

any office established for the administration of the 31 

registration of lobbyists lobbying the Legislature, including 32 

the payment of salaries and other expenses, and for the purpose 33 

of paying the expenses incurred by the Legislature in providing 34 

services to lobbyists. The trust fund is not subject to the 35 

service charge to general revenue provisions of chapter 215. 36 

Fees collected pursuant to rules established in accordance with 37 

subsection (3) (2) shall be deposited into the Legislative 38 

Lobbyist Registration Trust Fund. 39 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì318152ÆÎ318152 

 

Page 3 of 6 

3/4/2014 12:45:59 PM 578-02107-14 

Section 2. Present subsections (3) through (15) of section 40 

112.3215, Florida Statutes, are renumbered as subsections (4) 41 

through (16), respectively, present subsection (11) of that 42 

section is amended, and a new subsection (3) is added to that 43 

section, to read: 44 

112.3215 Lobbying before the executive branch or the 45 

Constitution Revision Commission; registration and reporting; 46 

investigation by commission.— 47 

(3) An elected county or municipal officer may not lobby or 48 

register to lobby an agency on behalf of a person or entity 49 

other than his or her political subdivision. This subsection 50 

does not prohibit a person from being employed by, or 51 

contracting with, a lobbying firm if he or she does not 52 

personally represent clients before an agency. 53 

(12)(11) Any person who is required to be registered or to 54 

provide information under this section or under rules adopted 55 

pursuant to this section and who knowingly fails to disclose any 56 

material fact that is required by this section or by rules 57 

adopted pursuant to this section, or who knowingly provides 58 

false information on any report required by this section or by 59 

rules adopted pursuant to this section, commits a noncriminal 60 

infraction, punishable by a fine not to exceed $5,000. Such 61 

penalty is in addition to any other penalty assessed by the 62 

Governor and Cabinet pursuant to subsection (11) (10). 63 

Section 3. Subsections (3), (4), and (7) of section 64 

11.0455, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 65 

11.0455 Electronic filing of compensation reports and other 66 

information.— 67 

(3) A report filed pursuant to this section must be 68 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì318152ÆÎ318152 

 

Page 4 of 6 

3/4/2014 12:45:59 PM 578-02107-14 

completed and filed through the electronic filing system not 69 

later than 11:59 p.m. of the day designated in s. 11.045. A 70 

report not filed by 11:59 p.m. of the day designated is a late-71 

filed report and is subject to the penalties under s. 11.045(4) 72 

s. 11.045(3). 73 

(4) Each report filed pursuant to this section is deemed to 74 

meet the certification requirements of s. 11.045(4)(a)4. s. 75 

11.045(3)(a)4., and as such subjects the person responsible for 76 

filing and the lobbying firm to the provisions of s. 11.045(8) 77 

and (9) s. 11.045(7) and (8). Persons given a secure sign-on to 78 

the electronic filing system are responsible for protecting it 79 

from disclosure and are responsible for all filings using such 80 

credentials, unless they have notified the office that their 81 

credentials have been compromised. 82 

(7) Each house of the Legislature shall provide by rule 83 

that the office make all the data filed available on the 84 

Internet in an easily understood and accessible format. The 85 

Internet website must also include, but not be limited to, the 86 

names and business addresses of lobbyists, lobbying firms, and 87 

principals, the affiliations between lobbyists and principals, 88 

and the classification system designated and identified by each 89 

principal pursuant to s. 11.045(3) s. 11.045(2). 90 

Section 4. Subsections (3), (4), and (7) of section 91 

112.32155, Florida Statutes, are amended to read: 92 

112.32155 Electronic filing of compensation reports and 93 

other information.— 94 

(3) A report filed pursuant to this section must be 95 

completed and filed through the electronic filing system not 96 

later than 11:59 p.m. of the day designated in s. 112.3215. A 97 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì318152ÆÎ318152 

 

Page 5 of 6 

3/4/2014 12:45:59 PM 578-02107-14 

report not filed by 11:59 p.m. of the day designated is a late-98 

filed report and is subject to the penalties under s. 99 

112.3215(6) s. 112.3215(5). 100 

(4) Each report filed pursuant to this section is 101 

considered to meet the certification requirements of s. 102 

112.3215(6)(a)4. s. 112.3215(5)(a)4. Persons given a secure 103 

sign-on to the electronic filing system are responsible for 104 

protecting it from disclosure and are responsible for all 105 

filings using such credentials, unless they have notified the 106 

commission that their credentials have been compromised. 107 

(7) The commission shall make all the data filed available 108 

on the Internet in an easily understood and accessible format. 109 

The Internet website shall also include, but not be limited to, 110 

the names and business addresses of lobbyists, lobbying firms, 111 

and principals, the affiliations between lobbyists and 112 

principals, and the classification system designated and 113 

identified by each principal pursuant to s. 112.3215(4) s. 114 

112.3215(3). 115 

 116 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 117 

And the title is amended as follows: 118 

Delete line 2 119 

and insert: 120 

An act relating to governmental ethics; amending ss. 121 

11.045 and 112.3215, F.S.; prohibiting an elected 122 

county or municipal officer from registering to lobby 123 

the Legislature or an agency on behalf of another 124 

person or entity other than his or her political 125 

subdivision; authorizing such an officer to be 126 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì318152ÆÎ318152 

 

Page 6 of 6 

3/4/2014 12:45:59 PM 578-02107-14 

employed by or contracted with a lobbying firm under 127 

certain circumstances; amending ss. 11.0455 and 128 

112.32155, F.S.; conforming cross-references to 129 

changes made by the act; amending s. 130 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì579214(Î579214 

 

Page 1 of 3 

3/4/2014 9:49:15 AM 578-01948-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment  1 

 2 

Delete lines 118 - 125 3 

and insert: 4 

2. The Legislature determines that it is in the public 5 

interest that the members of the executive council of the 6 

corporation be subject to the requirements of ss. 112.313, 7 

112.3135, and 112.3143(2), notwithstanding the fact that the 8 

council members are not public officers or employees. For 9 

purposes of these sections, the council members shall be 10 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì579214(Î579214 

 

Page 2 of 3 

3/4/2014 9:49:15 AM 578-01948-14 

considered to be public officers or employees. 11 

3. A member of the executive council of the corporation may 12 

not represent another person or entity for compensation before 13 

the corporation for a period of 2 years following his or her 14 

service on the executive council. 15 

 16 

Delete lines 625 - 642 17 

and insert: 18 

Section 9. Paragraph (c) of subsection (1) of section 19 

288.901, Florida Statutes, is amended, and paragraph (d) is 20 

added to that subsection, to read: 21 

288.901 Enterprise Florida, Inc.— 22 

(1) CREATION.— 23 

(c) The Legislature determines that it is in the public 24 

interest that for the members of the Enterprise Florida, Inc., 25 

board of directors to be subject to the requirements of ss. 26 

112.313, 112.3135, and 112.3143(2), and 112.313, excluding s. 27 

112.313(2), notwithstanding the fact that the board members are 28 

not public officers or employees. For purposes of those 29 

sections, the board members shall be considered to be public 30 

officers or employees. The exemption set forth in s. 112.313(12) 31 

for advisory boards applies to the members of the Enterprise 32 

Florida, Inc., board of directors. Further, each member of the 33 

board of directors who is not otherwise required to file 34 

financial disclosures pursuant to s. 8, Art. II of the State 35 

Constitution or s. 112.3144, shall file disclosure of financial 36 

interests pursuant to s. 112.3145. 37 

(d) A member of the Enterprise Florida, Inc., board of 38 

directors may not represent another person or entity for 39 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì579214(Î579214 

 

Page 3 of 3 

3/4/2014 9:49:15 AM 578-01948-14 

compensation before the corporation for a period of 2 years 40 

following his or her service on the board of directors. 41 

 42 

Delete lines 664 - 671 43 

and insert: 44 

2. The Legislature determines that it is in the public 45 

interest that a director of the board of directors of the 46 

Florida Development Finance Corporation be subject to ss. 47 

112.313, 112.3135, and 112.3143(2), notwithstanding the fact 48 

that the directors are not public officers or employees. For 49 

purposes of these sections, the directors shall be considered to 50 

be public officers or employees. 51 

3. A director of the board of directors of the corporation 52 

may not represent another person or entity for compensation 53 

before the corporation for a period of 2 years following his or 54 

her service on the board of directors. 55 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì368688lÎ368688 

 

Page 1 of 7 

3/4/2014 10:01:15 AM 578-01939A-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

 3 

Delete lines 173 - 304 4 

and insert: 5 

Section 3. Subsection (1), paragraph (g) of subsection (5), 6 

and paragraphs (a) and (c) of present subsection (7) of section 7 

112.3144, Florida Statutes, are amended, present subsections (6) 8 

through (9) of that section are redesignated as subsections (7) 9 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì368688lÎ368688 

 

Page 2 of 7 

3/4/2014 10:01:15 AM 578-01939A-14 

through (10), respectively, and a new subsection (6) is added to 10 

that section, to read: 11 

112.3144 Full and public disclosure of financial 12 

interests.— 13 

(1) An officer who is required by s. 8, Art. II of the 14 

State Constitution to file a full and public disclosure of his 15 

or her financial interests for any calendar or fiscal year shall 16 

file that disclosure with the Florida Commission on Ethics. 17 

Additionally, beginning January 1, 2015, an officer who is 18 

required to complete annual ethics training pursuant to s. 19 

112.3142 must certify on his or her full and public disclosure 20 

of financial interests that he or she has completed the required 21 

training. 22 

(5) Forms for compliance with the full and public 23 

disclosure requirements of s. 8, Art. II of the State 24 

Constitution shall be created by the Commission on Ethics. The 25 

commission shall give notice of disclosure deadlines and 26 

delinquencies and distribute forms in the following manner: 27 

(g) The notification requirements and fines of this 28 

subsection do not apply to candidates or to the first filing 29 

required of any person appointed to elective constitutional 30 

office or other position required to file full and public 31 

disclosure, unless the person’s name is on the commission’s 32 

notification list and the person received notification from the 33 

commission. The appointing official shall notify such newly 34 

appointed person of the obligation to file full and public 35 

disclosure by July 1. The notification requirements and fines of 36 

this subsection do not apply to the final filing provided for in 37 

subsection (7)(6). 38 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì368688lÎ368688 

 

Page 3 of 7 

3/4/2014 10:01:15 AM 578-01939A-14 

(6) If a person holding public office or public employment 39 

fails or refuses to file a full and public disclosure of 40 

financial interests for any year in which the person received 41 

notice from the commission regarding the failure to file and has 42 

accrued the maximum automatic fine authorized under this 43 

section, regardless of whether the fine imposed was paid or 44 

collected, the commission may initiate an investigation and 45 

conduct a public hearing without receipt of a complaint to 46 

determine whether the person’s failure to file is willful. Such 47 

investigation and hearing must be conducted in accordance with 48 

s. 112.324. Except as provided in s. 112.324(4), if the 49 

commission determines that the person willfully failed to file a 50 

full and public disclosure of financial interests, the 51 

commission shall enter an order recommending that the officer or 52 

employee be removed from his or her public office or public 53 

employment. 54 

(8)(7)(a) The commission shall treat an amended full and 55 

public disclosure of financial interests which that is filed 56 

before prior to September 1 of the current year in which the 57 

disclosure is due as the original filing, regardless of whether 58 

a complaint has been filed. If a complaint pertaining to the 59 

current year alleges a failure to properly and accurately 60 

disclose any information required by this section or if a 61 

complaint filed pertaining to a previous reporting period within 62 

the preceding 5 years alleges a failure to properly and 63 

accurately disclose any information required to be disclosed by 64 

this section, the commission may immediately follow complaint 65 

procedures in s. 112.324. However, If a complaint filed after 66 

August 25 alleges only an immaterial, inconsequential, or de 67 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì368688lÎ368688 

 

Page 4 of 7 

3/4/2014 10:01:15 AM 578-01939A-14 

minimis error or omission, the commission may not take any 68 

action on the complaint, other than notifying the filer of the 69 

complaint. The filer must be given 30 days to file an amended 70 

full and public disclosure of financial interests correcting any 71 

errors. If the filer does not file an amended full and public 72 

disclosure of financial interests within 30 days after the 73 

commission sends notice of the complaint, the commission may 74 

continue with proceedings pursuant to s. 112.324. 75 

(c) For purposes of this section, an error or omission is 76 

immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis if the original 77 

filing provided sufficient information for the public to 78 

identify potential conflicts of interest. However, failure to 79 

certify completion of annual ethics training required under s. 80 

112.3142 does not constitute an immaterial, inconsequential, or 81 

de minimis error or omission. 82 

Section 4. Present subsections (4) through (11) of section 83 

112.3145, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (5) 84 

through (12), respectively, a new subsection (4) is added to 85 

that section, paragraph (c) is added to present subsection (7) 86 

of that section, and paragraphs (a) and (c) of present 87 

subsection (9) of that section are amended, to read: 88 

112.3145 Disclosure of financial interests and clients 89 

represented before agencies.— 90 

(4) Beginning January 1, 2015, an officer who is required 91 

to complete annual ethics training pursuant to s. 112.3142 must 92 

certify on his or her statement of financial interests that he 93 

or she has completed the required training. 94 

(8)(7) 95 

(c) If a person holding public office or public employment 96 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì368688lÎ368688 

 

Page 5 of 7 

3/4/2014 10:01:15 AM 578-01939A-14 

fails or refuses to file an annual statement of financial 97 

interests for any year in which the person received notice from 98 

the commission regarding the failure to file and has accrued the 99 

maximum automatic fine authorized under this section, regardless 100 

of whether the fine imposed was paid or collected, the 101 

commission may initiate an investigation and conduct a public 102 

hearing without receipt of a complaint to determine whether the 103 

person’s failure to file is willful. Such investigation and 104 

hearing must be conducted in accordance with s. 112.324. Except 105 

as provided in s. 112.324(4), if the commission determines that 106 

the person willfully failed to file a statement of financial 107 

interests, the commission shall enter an order recommending that 108 

the officer or employee be removed from his or her public office 109 

or public employment. 110 

(10)(9)(a) The commission shall treat an amended annual 111 

statement of financial interests which that is filed before 112 

prior to September 1 of the current year in which the statement 113 

is due as the original filing, regardless of whether a complaint 114 

has been filed. If a complaint pertaining to the current year 115 

alleges a failure to properly and accurately disclose any 116 

information required by this section or if a complaint filed 117 

pertaining to a previous reporting period within the preceding 5 118 

years alleges a failure to properly and accurately disclose any 119 

information required to be disclosed by this section, the 120 

commission may immediately follow complaint procedures in s. 121 

112.324. However, If a complaint filed after August 25 alleges 122 

only an immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis error or 123 

omission, the commission may not take any action on the 124 

complaint, other than notifying the filer of the complaint. The 125 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì368688lÎ368688 

 

Page 6 of 7 

3/4/2014 10:01:15 AM 578-01939A-14 

filer must be given 30 days to file an amended statement of 126 

financial interests correcting any errors. If the filer does not 127 

file an amended statement of financial interests within 30 days 128 

after the commission sends notice of the complaint, the 129 

commission may continue with proceedings pursuant to s. 112.324. 130 

(c) For purposes of this section, an error or omission is 131 

immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis if the original 132 

filing provided sufficient information for the public to 133 

identify potential conflicts of interest. However, failure to 134 

certify completion of annual ethics training required under s. 135 

112.3142 does not constitute an immaterial, inconsequential, or 136 

de minimis error or omission. 137 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 138 

And the title is amended as follows: 139 

Delete lines 21 - 37 140 

and insert: 141 

or omissions on a disclosure; providing that failure 142 

to certify completion of annual ethics training on a 143 

disclosure does not constitute an immaterial, 144 

inconsequential, or de minimis error or omission; 145 

amending s. 112.3145, F.S.; requiring an officer 146 

required to participate in annual ethics training to 147 

certify participation on his or her statement of 148 

financial interests; authorizing the Commission on 149 

Ethics to initiate an investigation and hold a public 150 

hearing without receipt of a complaint in certain 151 

circumstances; requiring the commission to enter an 152 

order to remove an officer or public employee from 153 

public office or public employment in certain 154 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì368688lÎ368688 

 

Page 7 of 7 

3/4/2014 10:01:15 AM 578-01939A-14 

circumstances; prohibiting the commission from taking 155 

action on a complaint alleging certain errors or 156 

omissions on a statement; providing that failure to 157 

certify completion 158 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì401810hÎ401810 

 

Page 1 of 3 

3/4/2014 10:02:22 AM 578-02022-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with directory and title amendments) 1 

 2 

Between lines 189 and 190 3 

insert: 4 

(2) A person who is required, pursuant to s. 8, Art. II of 5 

the State Constitution, to file a full and public disclosure of 6 

financial interests and who has filed a full and public 7 

disclosure of financial interests for any calendar or fiscal 8 

year shall not be required to file a statement of financial 9 

interests pursuant to s. 112.3145(2) and (3) for the same year 10 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì401810hÎ401810 

 

Page 2 of 3 

3/4/2014 10:02:22 AM 578-02022-14 

or for any part thereof notwithstanding any requirement of this 11 

part. If an incumbent in an elective office has filed the full 12 

and public disclosure of financial interests to qualify for 13 

election to the same office or if When a candidate has qualified 14 

for office holds another office subject to the annual filing 15 

requirement, the qualifying officer shall forward an electronic 16 

copy of the full and public disclosure of financial interests to 17 

the commission no later than July 1. The electronic copy of the 18 

full and public disclosure of financial interests satisfies the 19 

annual disclosure requirement of this section. A candidate who 20 

does not qualify until after the annual full and public 21 

disclosure has been filed pursuant to this section shall file a 22 

copy of his or her disclosure with the officer before whom he or 23 

she qualifies. 24 

 25 

====== D I R E C T O R Y  C L A U S E  A M E N D M E N T ====== 26 

And the directory clause is amended as follows: 27 

Delete line 173 28 

and insert: 29 

Section 3. Subsections (1) and (2), paragraph (g) of 30 

subsection (5), 31 

 32 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 33 

And the title is amended as follows: 34 

Delete line 13 35 

and insert: 36 

of financial interests; revising the conditions under 37 

which a qualifying officer forwards a full and public 38 

disclosure of financial interests to the Commission on 39 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì401810hÎ401810 

 

Page 3 of 3 

3/4/2014 10:02:22 AM 578-02022-14 

Ethics; authorizing the Commission on 40 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì775920'Î775920 

 

Page 1 of 4 

3/4/2014 12:30:14 PM 578-02090A-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

 3 

Delete lines 404 - 624 4 

and insert: 5 

Section 8. Section 112.3261, Florida Statutes, is created 6 

to read: 7 

112.3261 Lobbying before governmental entities; 8 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì775920'Î775920 

 

Page 2 of 4 

3/4/2014 12:30:14 PM 578-02090A-14 

registration and reporting.— 9 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 10 

(a) “Governmental entity” means a water management 11 

district, a hospital district, a children’s services district, 12 

an expressway authority as the term “authority” is defined in s. 13 

348.0002, a port authority as the term is defined in s. 315.02, 14 

or an independent special district with annual revenues of more 15 

than $5 million, which exercises ad valorem taxing authority. 16 

(b) “Principal” has the same meaning as in s. 112.3215. 17 

(2) A person may not lobby a governmental entity until such 18 

person has registered as a lobbyist with that entity. Such 19 

registration shall be due upon initially being retained to lobby 20 

and is renewable on a calendar-year basis thereafter. Upon 21 

registration, the person shall provide a statement signed by the 22 

principal or principal’s representative stating that the 23 

registrant is authorized to represent the principal. The 24 

principal shall also identify and designate its main business on 25 

the statement authorizing that lobbyist pursuant to a 26 

classification system approved by the governmental entity. Any 27 

changes to the information required by this section must be 28 

disclosed within 15 days by filing a new registration form. The 29 

registration form shall require each lobbyist to disclose, under 30 

oath, the following: 31 

(a) The lobbyist’s name and business address. 32 

(b) The name and business address of each principal 33 

represented. 34 

(c) The existence of any direct or indirect business 35 

association, partnership, or financial relationship with any 36 

officer or employee of a governmental entity with which he or 37 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì775920'Î775920 

 

Page 3 of 4 

3/4/2014 12:30:14 PM 578-02090A-14 

she lobbies or intends to lobby. 38 

(d) In lieu of creating its own lobbyist registration 39 

forms, a governmental entity may accept a completed legislative 40 

branch or executive branch lobbyist registration form. 41 

(3) A governmental entity shall make lobbyist registrations 42 

available to the public. If a governmental entity maintains a 43 

website, a database of currently registered lobbyists and 44 

principals must be available on the entity’s website. 45 

(4) A lobbyist shall promptly send a written statement to 46 

the governmental entity cancelling the registration for a 47 

principal upon termination of the lobbyist’s representation of 48 

that principal. A governmental entity may remove the name of a 49 

lobbyist from the list of registered lobbyists if the principal 50 

notifies the entity that a person is no longer authorized to 51 

represent that principal. 52 

(5) A governmental entity may establish an annual lobbyist 53 

registration fee, not to exceed $40, for each principal 54 

represented. The governmental entity may use the moneys 55 

collected only to administer the provisions of this section. 56 

(6) A governmental entity shall be diligent to ascertain 57 

whether persons required to register pursuant to this section 58 

have complied. A governmental entity may not knowingly authorize 59 

a person who is not registered pursuant to this section to lobby 60 

the entity. 61 

(7) Upon discovery of a violation of this section, a 62 

governmental entity or any person may file a sworn complaint 63 

with the commission. 64 

 65 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 66 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì775920'Î775920 

 

Page 4 of 4 

3/4/2014 12:30:14 PM 578-02090A-14 

And the title is amended as follows: 67 

Delete lines 58 - 75 68 

and insert: 69 

from lobbying a governmental entity until registering; 70 

establishing registration requirements; requiring 71 

public availability of lobbyist registrations; 72 

establishing procedures for termination of a 73 

lobbyist’s registration; authorizing a governmental 74 

entity to establish a registration fee; requiring a 75 

governmental entity to monitor compliance with 76 

registration requirements; authorizing a governmental 77 

entity or person to file a complaint with the 78 

commission; amending s. 288.901, F.S.; specifying 79 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì1475265Î147526 

 

Page 1 of 1 

3/5/2014 9:54:41 AM 578-02147-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment to Amendment (775920)  1 

 2 

Delete line 17 3 

and insert: 4 

(b) “Lobbies” means seeking, on behalf of another person, 5 

to influence a governmental entity with respect to a decision of 6 

the entity in an area of policy or procurement or an attempt to 7 

obtain the goodwill of an entity official or employee. 8 

(c) “Lobbyist” has the same meaning as in s. 112.3215. 9 

(d) “Principal” has the same meaning as in s. 112.3215. 10 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì2337365Î233736 

 

Page 1 of 2 

3/4/2014 9:50:23 AM 578-01947A-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

 3 

Delete lines 643 - 655 4 

and insert: 5 

Section 10. Present paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of 6 

section 288.92, Florida Statutes, is redesignated as paragraph 7 

(c), and a new paragraph (b) is added to that subsection, to 8 

read: 9 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì2337365Î233736 

 

Page 2 of 2 

3/4/2014 9:50:23 AM 578-01947A-14 

288.92 Divisions of Enterprise Florida, Inc.— 10 

(2) 11 

(b)1. The Legislature determines that it is in the public 12 

interest that the following officers be subject to s. 112.313; 13 

s. 112.3135; and s. 112.3143(2), notwithstanding the fact that 14 

such officers are not public officers or employees: 15 

a. Officers of the divisions of Enterprise Florida, Inc.; 16 

b. Officers of subsidiaries of Enterprise Florida, Inc.; 17 

c. Officers of corporations created to carry out the 18 

missions of Enterprise Florida, Inc.; and 19 

d. Officers of corporations with which a division is 20 

required by law to contract with to carry out its missions. 21 

2. Such officers may not represent another person or entity 22 

for compensation before Enterprise Florida, Inc., for a period 23 

of 2 years after retirement from or termination of service to 24 

the division. 25 

 26 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 27 

And the title is amended as follows: 28 

Delete lines 81 - 82 29 

and insert: 30 

Officers and Employees to certain officers associated 31 

with the divisions of Enterprise Florida, Inc.; 32 

prohibiting such officers from representing a person 33 

or entity for compensation before Enterprise Florida, 34 

Inc., for a specified timeframe; amending s. 288.9604, 35 

F.S.; 36 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì516268DÎ516268 

 

Page 1 of 1 

3/4/2014 9:50:04 AM 578-01943-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 672 - 689. 3 

 4 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 5 

And the title is amended as follows: 6 

Delete lines 86 - 89 7 

and insert: 8 

Finance Corporation; amending 9 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì883636AÎ883636 

 

Page 1 of 4 

3/4/2014 9:48:48 AM 578-01940-14 

LEGISLATIVE ACTION 

Senate 

Comm: RCS 

03/05/2014 

 

 

 

 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

. 

 

House 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Committee on Community Affairs (Latvala) recommended the 

following: 

 

Senate Amendment (with title amendment) 1 

 2 

Delete lines 690 - 767 3 

and insert: 4 

Section 13. Paragraph (d) of subsection (6) of section 5 

627.351, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 6 

627.351 Insurance risk apportionment plans.— 7 

(6) CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION.— 8 

(d)1. All prospective employees for senior management 9 

positions, as defined by the plan of operation, are subject to 10 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì883636AÎ883636 

 

Page 2 of 4 

3/4/2014 9:48:48 AM 578-01940-14 

background checks as a prerequisite for employment. The office 11 

shall conduct the background checks pursuant to ss. 624.34, 12 

624.404(3), and 628.261. 13 

2. On or before July 1 of each year, employees of the 14 

corporation must sign and submit a statement attesting that they 15 

do not have a conflict of interest, as defined in part III of 16 

chapter 112. As a condition of employment, all prospective 17 

employees must sign and submit to the corporation a conflict-of-18 

interest statement. 19 

3. The executive director, senior managers, and members of 20 

the board of governors are subject to part III of chapter 112, 21 

including, but not limited to, the code of ethics and public 22 

disclosure and reporting of financial interests, pursuant to s. 23 

112.3145. Notwithstanding s. 112.3143(2), a board member may not 24 

vote on any measure that would inure to his or her special 25 

private gain or loss; that he or she knows would inure to the 26 

special private gain or loss of any principal by whom he or she 27 

is retained or to the parent organization or subsidiary of a 28 

corporate principal by which he or she is retained, other than 29 

an agency as defined in s. 112.312; or that he or she knows 30 

would inure to the special private gain or loss of a relative or 31 

business associate of the public officer. Before the vote is 32 

taken, such member shall publicly state to the assembly the 33 

nature of his or her interest in the matter from which he or she 34 

is abstaining from voting and, within 15 days after the vote 35 

occurs, disclose the nature of his or her interest as a public 36 

record in a memorandum filed with the person responsible for 37 

recording the minutes of the meeting, who shall incorporate the 38 

memorandum in the minutes. Senior managers and board members are 39 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì883636AÎ883636 

 

Page 3 of 4 

3/4/2014 9:48:48 AM 578-01940-14 

also required to file such disclosures with the Commission on 40 

Ethics and the Office of Insurance Regulation. The executive 41 

director of the corporation or his or her designee shall notify 42 

each existing and newly appointed member of the board of 43 

governors and senior managers of their duty to comply with the 44 

reporting requirements of part III of chapter 112. At least 45 

quarterly, the executive director or his or her designee shall 46 

submit to the Commission on Ethics a list of names of the senior 47 

managers and members of the board of governors who are subject 48 

to the public disclosure requirements under s. 112.3145. 49 

4. Notwithstanding s. 112.3148, or s. 112.3149, or any 50 

other provision of law, an employee or board member may not 51 

knowingly accept, directly or indirectly, any gift or 52 

expenditure from a person or entity, or an employee or 53 

representative of such person or entity, which has a contractual 54 

relationship with the corporation or who is under consideration 55 

for a contract. An employee or board member who fails to comply 56 

with subparagraph 3. or this subparagraph is subject to 57 

penalties provided under ss. 112.317 and 112.3173. 58 

5. The executive director, a member of the board of 59 

governors, and a any senior manager of the corporation are who 60 

is employed on or after January 1, 2007, regardless of the date 61 

of hire, who subsequently retires or terminates employment is 62 

prohibited from representing another person or entity before the 63 

corporation for 2 years after retirement from or termination of 64 

service to employment from the corporation. 65 

6. The executive director, a member of the board of 66 

governors, and a Any senior manager of the corporation are who 67 

is employed on or after January 1, 2007, regardless of the date 68 



Florida Senate - 2014 COMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. CS for SB 846 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ì883636AÎ883636 

 

Page 4 of 4 

3/4/2014 9:48:48 AM 578-01940-14 

of hire, who subsequently retires or terminates employment is 69 

prohibited from having any employment or contractual 70 

relationship for 2 years after retirement from or termination of 71 

service to the corporation with an insurer that has entered into 72 

a take-out bonus agreement with the corporation. 73 

 74 

================= T I T L E  A M E N D M E N T ================ 75 

And the title is amended as follows: 76 

Delete lines 92 - 97 77 

and insert: 78 

Officers and Employees to the executive director of 79 

Citizens Property Insurance Corporation; prohibiting a 80 

former executive director, senior manager, or member 81 

of the board of governors of the corporation from 82 

representing another person or entity before the 83 

corporation for a specified timeframe; prohibiting a 84 

former executive director, senior manager, or member 85 

of the board of governors from entering employment or 86 

a contractual relationship for a specified timeframe 87 

with certain insurers; providing an effective date. 88 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

By the Committee on Ethics and Elections; and Senator Latvala 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 1 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to governmental ethics; amending s. 2 

28.35, F.S.; specifying the applicability of certain 3 

provisions of the Code of Ethics for Public Officers 4 

and Employees to members of the executive council of 5 

the Florida Clerks of Court Operations Corporation; 6 

amending s. 112.3142, F.S.; requiring elected 7 

municipal officers to participate in annual ethics 8 

training; providing legislative intent; amending s. 9 

112.3144, F.S.; requiring an officer required to 10 

participate in annual ethics training to certify 11 

participation on his or her full and public disclosure 12 

of financial interests; authorizing the Commission on 13 

Ethics to initiate an investigation and hold a public 14 

hearing without receipt of a complaint in certain 15 

circumstances; requiring the commission to enter an 16 

order recommending removal of an officer or public 17 

employee from public office or public employment in 18 

certain circumstances; prohibiting the commission from 19 

taking action on a complaint alleging certain errors 20 

or omissions on a disclosure within a specified time 21 

period; providing that failure to certify completion 22 

of annual ethics training on a disclosure does not 23 

constitute an immaterial, inconsequential, or de 24 

minimis error or omission; amending s. 112.3145, F.S.; 25 

requiring an officer required to participate in annual 26 

ethics training to certify participation on his or her 27 

statement of financial interests; authorizing the 28 

Commission on Ethics to initiate an investigation and 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 2 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hold a public hearing without receipt of a complaint 30 

in certain circumstances; requiring the commission to 31 

enter an order to remove an officer or public employee 32 

from public office or public employment in certain 33 

circumstances; prohibiting the commission from taking 34 

action on a complaint alleging certain errors or 35 

omissions on a statement within a specified time 36 

period; providing that failure to certify completion 37 

of annual ethics training on a statement does not 38 

constitute an immaterial, inconsequential, or de 39 

minimis error or omission; amending s. 112.31455, 40 

F.S.; authorizing the Chief Financial Officer or 41 

governing body to withhold the entire amount of a fine 42 

owed and related administrative costs from salary-43 

related payments of certain individuals; authorizing 44 

the Chief Financial Officer or governing body to 45 

reduce the amount withheld if an individual can 46 

demonstrate a hardship; creating s. 112.31456, F.S.; 47 

authorizing the commission to seek wage garnishment of 48 

certain individuals to satisfy unpaid fines; 49 

authorizing the commission to refer unpaid fines to a 50 

collection agency; establishing a statute of 51 

limitations with respect to the collection of an 52 

unpaid fine; creating s. 112.3251, F.S.; requiring 53 

citizen support and direct-support organizations to 54 

adopt a code of ethics; establishing minimum 55 

requirements for a code of ethics; creating s. 56 

112.3261, F.S.; defining terms; prohibiting a person 57 

from lobbying an expressway authority, independent 58 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 3 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

special district, or port authority until registering; 59 

establishing registration requirements; requiring 60 

public availability of lobbyist registrations; 61 

establishing procedures for termination of a 62 

lobbyist’s registration; authorizing an authority or 63 

district to establish a registration fee; establishing 64 

requirements for quarterly compensation reports; 65 

requiring an authority or district to establish 66 

procedures with respect to the receipt of reports; 67 

prohibiting lobbying expenditures; prohibiting 68 

compensation to a firm not registered to lobby; 69 

providing for jurisdiction of complaints; providing a 70 

penalty; authorizing a person to request an advisory 71 

opinion from the commission; authorizing an authority, 72 

district, or person to file a complaint; requiring an 73 

authority or district to establish certain policies 74 

and procedures; amending s. 288.901, F.S.; specifying 75 

the applicability of certain provisions of the Code of 76 

Ethics for Public Officers and Employees to members of 77 

the Enterprise Florida, Inc., board of directors; 78 

amending s. 288.92, F.S.; specifying the applicability 79 

of certain provisions of the Code of Ethics for Public 80 

Officers and Employees to division officers of 81 

Enterprise Florida, Inc.; amending s. 288.9604, F.S.; 82 

specifying the applicability of certain provisions of 83 

the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees 84 

to the board of directors of the Florida Development 85 

Finance Corporation; amending s. 331.3081, F.S.; 86 

specifying the applicability of certain provisions of 87 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 4 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees 88 

to the board of directors of Space Florida; amending 89 

s. 627.351, F.S.; specifying the applicability of 90 

certain provisions of the Code of Ethics for Public 91 

Officers and Employees to senior managers and members 92 

of the board of governors of Citizens Property 93 

Insurance Corporation; prohibiting a former member of 94 

the board of governors from representing another 95 

person or entity before the corporation for a 96 

specified timeframe; providing an effective date. 97 

  98 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 99 

 100 

Section 1. Paragraph (b) of subsection (1) of section 101 

28.35, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 102 

28.35 Florida Clerks of Court Operations Corporation.— 103 

(1) 104 

(b)1. The executive council shall be composed of eight 105 

clerks of the court elected by the clerks of the courts for a 106 

term of 2 years, with two clerks from counties with a population 107 

of fewer than 100,000, two clerks from counties with a 108 

population of at least 100,000 but fewer than 500,000, two 109 

clerks from counties with a population of at least 500,000 but 110 

fewer than 1 million, and two clerks from counties with a 111 

population of more than 1 million or more. The executive council 112 

shall also include, as ex officio members, a designee of the 113 

President of the Senate and a designee of the Speaker of the 114 

House of Representatives. The Chief Justice of the Supreme Court 115 

shall designate one additional member to represent the state 116 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 5 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

courts system. 117 

2. The Legislature determines that it is in the public 118 

interest for the members of the executive council of the 119 

corporation to be subject to the requirements of s. 112.313, 120 

including s. 112.313(9); s. 112.3135; and s. 112.3143(2), 121 

notwithstanding the fact that the council members are not public 122 

officers or employees. For purposes of these sections, the 123 

council members shall be considered to be public officers or 124 

employees. 125 

Section 2. Section 112.3142, Florida Statutes, is amended 126 

to read: 127 

112.3142 Ethics training for specified constitutional 128 

officers and elected municipal officers.— 129 

(1) As used in this section, the term “constitutional 130 

officers” includes the Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, the 131 

Attorney General, the Chief Financial Officer, the Commissioner 132 

of Agriculture, state attorneys, public defenders, sheriffs, tax 133 

collectors, property appraisers, supervisors of elections, 134 

clerks of the circuit court, county commissioners, district 135 

school board members, and superintendents of schools. 136 

(2)(a) All constitutional officers must complete 4 hours of 137 

ethics training each calendar year which annually that 138 

addresses, at a minimum, s. 8, Art. II of the State 139 

Constitution, the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 140 

Employees, and the public records and public meetings laws of 141 

this state. This requirement may be satisfied by completion of a 142 

continuing legal education class or other continuing 143 

professional education class, seminar, or presentation if the 144 

required subjects are covered. 145 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 6 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(b) Beginning January 1, 2015, all elected municipal 146 

officers must complete 4 hours of ethics training each calendar 147 

year which addresses, at a minimum, s. 8, Art. II of the State 148 

Constitution, the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 149 

Employees, and the public records and public meetings laws of 150 

this state. This requirement may be satisfied by completion of a 151 

continuing legal education class or other continuing 152 

professional education class, seminar, or presentation if the 153 

required subjects are covered. 154 

(c)(b) The commission shall adopt rules establishing 155 

minimum course content for the portion of an ethics training 156 

class which that addresses s. 8, Art. II of the State 157 

Constitution and the Code of Ethics for Public Officers and 158 

Employees. 159 

(d) The Legislature intends that a constitutional officer 160 

or elected municipal officer who is required to complete ethics 161 

training pursuant to this section receive the required training 162 

as close as possible to the date that he or she assumes office. 163 

A constitutional officer or elected municipal officer assuming a 164 

new office or new term of office on or before March 31 must 165 

complete the annual training on or before December 31 of the 166 

year in which the term of office began. A constitutional officer 167 

or elected municipal officer assuming a new office after March 168 

31 is not required to complete ethics training for the calendar 169 

year in which he or she assumes the new office. 170 

(3) Each house of the Legislature shall provide for ethics 171 

training pursuant to its rules. 172 

Section 3. Subsection (1), paragraph (g) of subsection (5), 173 

and paragraphs (a) and (c) of present subsection (7) of section 174 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 7 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

112.3144, Florida Statutes, are amended, present subsections (6) 175 

through (9) of that section are redesignated as subsections (7) 176 

through (10), respectively, and a new subsection (6) is added to 177 

that section, to read: 178 

112.3144 Full and public disclosure of financial 179 

interests.— 180 

(1) An officer who is required by s. 8, Art. II of the 181 

State Constitution to file a full and public disclosure of his 182 

or her financial interests for any calendar or fiscal year shall 183 

file that disclosure with the Florida Commission on Ethics. 184 

Additionally, beginning January 1, 2015, an officer who is 185 

required to complete annual ethics training pursuant to s. 186 

112.3142 must certify on his or her full and public disclosure 187 

of financial interests that he or she has completed the required 188 

training. 189 

(5) Forms for compliance with the full and public 190 

disclosure requirements of s. 8, Art. II of the State 191 

Constitution shall be created by the Commission on Ethics. The 192 

commission shall give notice of disclosure deadlines and 193 

delinquencies and distribute forms in the following manner: 194 

(g) The notification requirements and fines of this 195 

subsection do not apply to candidates or to the first filing 196 

required of any person appointed to elective constitutional 197 

office or other position required to file full and public 198 

disclosure, unless the person’s name is on the commission’s 199 

notification list and the person received notification from the 200 

commission. The appointing official shall notify such newly 201 

appointed person of the obligation to file full and public 202 

disclosure by July 1. The notification requirements and fines of 203 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 8 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

this subsection do not apply to the final filing provided for in 204 

subsection (7)(6). 205 

(6) If a person holding public office or public employment 206 

fails or refuses to file a full and public disclosure of 207 

financial interests for any year in which the person received 208 

notice from the commission regarding the failure to file and has 209 

accrued the maximum automatic fine authorized under this 210 

section, regardless of whether the fine imposed was paid or 211 

collected, the commission may initiate an investigation and 212 

conduct a public hearing without receipt of a complaint to 213 

determine whether the person’s failure to file is willful. If 214 

the commission determines that the person willfully failed to 215 

file a full and public disclosure of financial interests, the 216 

commission shall enter an order recommending that the officer or 217 

employee be removed from his or her public office or public 218 

employment. 219 

(8)(7)(a) The commission shall treat an amended full and 220 

public disclosure of financial interests which that is filed 221 

before prior to September 1 of the current year in which the 222 

disclosure is due as the original filing, regardless of whether 223 

a complaint has been filed. If a complaint pertaining to the 224 

current year alleges a failure to properly and accurately 225 

disclose any information required by this section or if a 226 

complaint filed pertaining to a previous reporting period within 227 

the preceding 5 years alleges a failure to properly and 228 

accurately disclose any information required to be disclosed by 229 

this section, the commission may immediately follow complaint 230 

procedures in s. 112.324. However, If a complaint filed after 231 

August 25 of the year in which the disclosure is due is based 232 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 9 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

upon an error or omission in the annual disclosure and if the 233 

complaint alleges only an immaterial, inconsequential, or de 234 

minimis error or omission, the commission may not take any 235 

action on the complaint, other than notifying the filer of the 236 

complaint. The filer must be given 30 days to file an amended 237 

full and public disclosure of financial interests correcting any 238 

errors. If the filer does not file an amended full and public 239 

disclosure of financial interests within 30 days after the 240 

commission sends notice of the complaint, the commission may 241 

continue with proceedings pursuant to s. 112.324. 242 

(c) For purposes of this section, an error or omission is 243 

immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis if the original 244 

filing provided sufficient information for the public to 245 

identify potential conflicts of interest. However, failure to 246 

certify completion of annual ethics training required under s. 247 

112.3142 does not constitute an immaterial, inconsequential, or 248 

de minimis error or omission. 249 

Section 4. Present subsections (4) through (11) of section 250 

112.3145, Florida Statutes, are redesignated as subsections (5) 251 

through (12), respectively, a new subsection (4) is added to 252 

that section, paragraph (c) is added to present subsection (7) 253 

of that section, and paragraphs (a) and (c) of present 254 

subsection (9) of that section are amended, to read: 255 

112.3145 Disclosure of financial interests and clients 256 

represented before agencies.— 257 

(4) Beginning January 1, 2015, an officer who is required 258 

to complete annual ethics training pursuant to s. 112.3142 must 259 

certify on his or her statement of financial interests that he 260 

or she has completed the required training. 261 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 10 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(8)(7) 262 

(c) If a person holding public office or public employment 263 

fails or refuses to file an annual statement of financial 264 

interests for any year in which the person received notice from 265 

the commission regarding the failure to file and has accrued the 266 

maximum automatic fine authorized under this section, regardless 267 

of whether the fine imposed was paid or collected, the 268 

commission may initiate an investigation and conduct a public 269 

hearing without receipt of a complaint to determine whether the 270 

person’s failure to file is willful. If the commission 271 

determines that the person willfully failed to file a statement 272 

of financial interests, the commission shall enter an order 273 

recommending that the officer or employee be removed from his or 274 

her public office or public employment. 275 

(10)(9)(a) The commission shall treat an amended annual 276 

statement of financial interests which that is filed before 277 

prior to September 1 of the current year in which the statement 278 

is due as the original filing, regardless of whether a complaint 279 

has been filed. If a complaint pertaining to the current year 280 

alleges a failure to properly and accurately disclose any 281 

information required by this section or if a complaint filed 282 

pertaining to a previous reporting period within the preceding 5 283 

years alleges a failure to properly and accurately disclose any 284 

information required to be disclosed by this section, the 285 

commission may immediately follow complaint procedures in s. 286 

112.324. However, If a complaint filed after August 25 of the 287 

year in which the statement is due is based upon an error or 288 

omission in the annual statement and if the complaint alleges 289 

only an immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis error or 290 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 11 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

omission, the commission may not take any action on the 291 

complaint, other than notifying the filer of the complaint. The 292 

filer must be given 30 days to file an amended statement of 293 

financial interests correcting any errors. If the filer does not 294 

file an amended statement of financial interests within 30 days 295 

after the commission sends notice of the complaint, the 296 

commission may continue with proceedings pursuant to s. 112.324. 297 

(c) For purposes of this section, an error or omission is 298 

immaterial, inconsequential, or de minimis if the original 299 

filing provided sufficient information for the public to 300 

identify potential conflicts of interest. However, failure to 301 

certify completion of annual ethics training required under s. 302 

112.3142 does not constitute an immaterial, inconsequential, or 303 

de minimis error or omission. 304 

Section 5. Section 112.31455, Florida Statutes, is amended 305 

to read: 306 

112.31455 Withholding of public salary-related payments 307 

Collection methods for unpaid automatic fines for failure to 308 

timely file disclosure of financial interests.— 309 

(1) Before referring any unpaid fine accrued pursuant to s. 310 

112.3144(5) or s. 112.3145(7) s. 112.3145(6) to the Department 311 

of Financial Services, the commission shall attempt to determine 312 

whether the individual owing such a fine is a current public 313 

officer or current public employee. If so, the commission may 314 

notify the Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of the 315 

appropriate county, municipality, or special district of the 316 

total amount of any fine owed to the commission by such 317 

individual. 318 

(a) After receipt and verification of the notice from the 319 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 12 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

commission, the Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 320 

the county, municipality, or special district shall withhold the 321 

entire amount of any fine owed, and any administrative costs 322 

incurred, from the individual’s next salary-related payment. If 323 

the fine exceeds the amount of the next salary-related payment, 324 

all salary-related payments must be withheld until the fine and 325 

administrative costs are paid in full begin withholding the 326 

lesser of 10 percent or the maximum amount allowed under federal 327 

law from any salary-related payment. The withheld payments shall 328 

be remitted to the commission until the fine is satisfied. 329 

(b) The Chief Financial Officer or the governing body of 330 

the county, municipality, or special district may retain an 331 

amount of each withheld payment, as provided in s. 77.0305, to 332 

cover the administrative costs incurred under this section. 333 

(c) If a current public officer or current public employee 334 

demonstrates to the Chief Financial Officer or the governing 335 

body responsible for paying him or her that the public salary is 336 

his or her primary source of income and that withholding the 337 

full amount of any fine owed from a salary-related payment would 338 

present an undue hardship, the amount withheld from a public 339 

salary may be reduced to not less than 10 percent of the salary-340 

related payment. 341 

(2) If the commission determines that the individual who is 342 

the subject of an unpaid fine accrued pursuant to s. 112.3144(5) 343 

or s. 112.3145(6) is no longer a public officer or public 344 

employee or if the commission is unable to determine whether the 345 

individual is a current public officer or public employee, the 346 

commission may, 6 months after the order becomes final, seek 347 

garnishment of any wages to satisfy the amount of the fine, or 348 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 13 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

any unpaid portion thereof, pursuant to chapter 77. Upon 349 

recording the order imposing the fine with the clerk of the 350 

circuit court, the order shall be deemed a judgment for purposes 351 

of garnishment pursuant to chapter 77. 352 

(2)(3) The commission may refer unpaid fines to the 353 

appropriate collection agency, as directed by the Chief 354 

Financial Officer, to utilize any collection methods provided by 355 

law. Except as expressly limited by this section, any other 356 

collection methods authorized by law are allowed. 357 

(3)(4) Action may be taken to collect any unpaid fine 358 

imposed by ss. 112.3144 and 112.3145 within 20 years after the 359 

date the final order is rendered. 360 

Section 6. Section 112.31456, Florida Statutes, is created 361 

to read: 362 

112.31456 Garnishment of wages for unpaid automatic fines 363 

for failure to timely file disclosure of financial interests.— 364 

(1) Before referring any unpaid fine accrued pursuant to s. 365 

112.3144(5) or s. 112.3145(7) to the Department of Financial 366 

Services, the commission shall attempt to determine whether the 367 

individual owing such fine is a current public officer or 368 

current public employee. If the commission determines that an 369 

individual who is the subject of an unpaid fine accrued pursuant 370 

to s. 112.3144(5) or s. 112.3145(7) is no longer a public 371 

officer or public employee or the commission is unable to 372 

determine whether the individual is a current public officer or 373 

public employee, the commission may, 6 months after the order 374 

becomes final, seek garnishment of any wages to satisfy the 375 

amount of the fine, or any unpaid portion thereof, pursuant to 376 

chapter 77. Upon recording the order imposing the fine with the 377 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 14 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

clerk of the circuit court, the order shall be deemed a judgment 378 

for purposes of garnishment pursuant to chapter 77. 379 

(2) The commission may refer unpaid fines to the 380 

appropriate collection agency, as directed by the Chief 381 

Financial Officer, to use any collection methods provided by 382 

law. Except as expressly limited by this section, any other 383 

collection methods authorized by law are allowed. 384 

(3) Action may be taken to collect any unpaid fine imposed 385 

by ss. 112.3144 and 112.3145 within 20 years after the date the 386 

final order is rendered. 387 

Section 7. Section 112.3251, Florida Statutes, is created 388 

to read: 389 

112.3251 Citizen support and direct-support organizations; 390 

standards of conduct.—A citizen support or direct-support 391 

organization created or authorized pursuant to law must adopt 392 

its own ethics code. The ethics code must contain the standards 393 

of conduct and disclosures required under ss. 112.313 and 394 

112.3143(2), respectively. However, an ethics code adopted 395 

pursuant to this section is not required to contain the 396 

standards of conduct specified in s. 112.313(3) or (7). The 397 

citizen support or direct-support organization may adopt 398 

additional or more stringent standards of conduct and disclosure 399 

requirements, provided that those standards of conduct and 400 

disclosure requirements do not otherwise conflict with this 401 

part. The ethics code must be conspicuously posted on the 402 

website of the citizen support or direct-support organization. 403 

Section 8. Section 112.3261, Florida Statutes, is created 404 

to read: 405 

112.3261 Lobbying before expressway authorities, 406 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 15 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

independent special districts, port authorities; registration 407 

and reporting.— 408 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 409 

(a) “Compensation” has the same meaning as in s. 112.3215. 410 

(b) “Expenditure” has the same meaning as in s. 112.3215. 411 

(c) “Expressway authority” has the same meaning as the term 412 

“authority” in s. 348.0002. 413 

(d) “Independent special district” means a water management 414 

district, hospital district, children’s services district, or 415 

any independent special district, as defined in s. 189.403, that 416 

exercises ad valorem taxing authority. 417 

(e) “Lobbies” means seeking, on behalf of another person, 418 

to influence an expressway authority, independent special 419 

district, or port authority with respect to a decision of the 420 

authority or district in an area of policy or procurement or an 421 

attempt to obtain the goodwill of an authority or district 422 

official or employee. 423 

(f) “Lobbying firm” has the same meaning as in s. 112.3215. 424 

(g) “Lobbyist” has the same meaning as in s. 112.3215. 425 

(h) “Port authority” has the same meaning as in s. 315.02. 426 

(i) “Principal” has the same meaning as in s. 112.3215. 427 

(2) A person may not lobby an expressway authority, 428 

independent special district, or port authority until such 429 

person has registered as a lobbyist with that authority or 430 

district. Such registration shall be due upon initially being 431 

retained to lobby and is renewable on a calendar-year basis 432 

thereafter. Upon registration, the person shall provide a 433 

statement signed by the principal or principal’s representative 434 

stating that the registrant is authorized to represent the 435 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 16 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

principal. The principal shall also identify and designate its 436 

main business on the statement authorizing that lobbyist 437 

pursuant to a classification system approved by the authority or 438 

district. The registration form shall require each lobbyist to 439 

disclose, under oath, the following: 440 

(a) The lobbyist’s name and business address. 441 

(b) The name and business address of each principal 442 

represented. 443 

(c) The lobbyist’s area of interest. 444 

(d) The existence of any direct or indirect business 445 

association, partnership, or financial relationship with any 446 

employee of an authority or district with which he or she 447 

lobbies or intends to lobby. 448 

(3) An expressway authority, independent special district, 449 

or port authority shall make lobbyist registrations available to 450 

the public. If an authority or district maintains a website, a 451 

database of current registered lobbyists and principals must be 452 

available on the authority’s or district’s website. 453 

(4) A lobbyist shall promptly send a written statement to 454 

the expressway authority, independent special district, or port 455 

authority cancelling the registration for a principal upon 456 

termination of the lobbyist’s representation of that principal. 457 

An authority or district may remove the name of a lobbyist from 458 

the list of registered lobbyists if the principal notifies the 459 

authority or district that a person is no longer authorized to 460 

represent that principal. 461 

(5) An expressway authority, independent special district, 462 

or port authority may establish an annual lobbyist registration 463 

fee, not to exceed $40, for each principal represented. 464 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 17 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(6)(a)1. Each lobbying firm shall file a compensation 465 

report with the expressway authority, independent special 466 

district, or port authority for each calendar quarter during any 467 

portion of which one or more of the firm’s lobbyists were 468 

registered to represent a principal. The compensation report 469 

shall include the following: 470 

a. Full name, business address, and telephone number of the 471 

lobbying firm; 472 

b. Name of each of the firm’s lobbyists; and 473 

c. Total compensation provided or owed to the lobbying firm 474 

from all principals for the reporting period, reported in one of 475 

the following categories: $0; $1 to $49,999; $50,000 to $99,999; 476 

$100,000 to $249,999; $250,000 to $499,999; $500,000 to 477 

$999,999; $1 million or more. 478 

2. For each principal represented by one or more of the 479 

firm’s lobbyists, the lobbying firm’s compensation report shall 480 

also include the following: 481 

a. Full name, business address, and telephone number of the 482 

principal; and 483 

b. Total compensation provided or owed to the lobbying firm 484 

for the reporting period, reported in one of the following 485 

categories: $0; $1 to $9,999; $10,000 to $19,999; $20,000 to 486 

$29,999; $30,000 to $39,999; $40,000 to $49,999; or $50,000 or 487 

more. If the category “$50,000 or more” is selected, the 488 

specific dollar amount of compensation must be reported, rounded 489 

up or down to the nearest $1,000. 490 

3. If a lobbying firm subcontracts work from another 491 

lobbying firm and not from the original principal: 492 

a. The lobbying firm providing the work to be subcontracted 493 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 18 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

shall be treated as the reporting lobbying firm’s principal for 494 

reporting purposes under this paragraph; and 495 

b. The reporting lobbying firm shall, for each lobbying 496 

firm identified under subparagraph 2., identify the name and 497 

address of the principal originating the lobbying work. 498 

4. The senior partner, officer, or owner of the lobbying 499 

firm shall certify to the veracity and completeness of the 500 

information submitted pursuant to this paragraph. 501 

(b) For each principal represented by more than one 502 

lobbying firm, the authority or district shall aggregate the 503 

quarterly reporting period and calendar-year compensation 504 

reported as provided or owed by the principal. 505 

(c) The reporting statements shall be filed no later than 506 

45 days after the end of each reporting period. The four 507 

reporting periods are from January 1 through March 31, April 1 508 

through June 30, July 1 through September 30, and October 1 509 

through December 31, respectively. Reporting statements may be 510 

filed by electronic means established by the authority or 511 

district. 512 

(d) The authority or district shall establish procedures 513 

with respect to notifying a lobbying firm that fails to timely 514 

file a report and is assessed a fine, the grounds for waiving a 515 

fine, and the appeal of an assessed fine. The procedures shall 516 

address the following: 517 

1. Upon determining that the report is late, the person 518 

designated to review the timeliness of reports shall immediately 519 

notify the lobbying firm of its failure to timely file the 520 

report and that a fine is being assessed for each late day. The 521 

fine shall be $50 per day per report for each late day, up to a 522 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 19 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

maximum fine of $5,000 per late report. 523 

2. Upon receipt of the report, the person designated to 524 

review the timeliness of reports shall determine the amount of 525 

the fine due based upon the earliest of the following: 526 

a. The date that a report is actually received by the 527 

authority or district. 528 

b. The date that an electronic receipt for the report is 529 

issued. 530 

3. Unless the fine is appealed, it shall be paid within 30 531 

days after the notice of payment due is transmitted by the 532 

authority or district. The authority or district may only use 533 

the moneys collected to administer the provisions of this 534 

section. 535 

4. A fine may not be assessed against a lobbying firm the 536 

first time any reports for which the lobbying firm is 537 

responsible are not timely filed. However, to receive the one-538 

time fine waiver, all reports for which the lobbying firm is 539 

responsible must be filed within 30 days after the notice that 540 

any reports have not been timely filed is transmitted by the 541 

authority or district. A fine shall be assessed for any 542 

subsequent late-filed reports. 543 

5. A lobbying firm may appeal or dispute a fine, based upon 544 

unusual circumstances surrounding the failure to file on the 545 

designated due date, and may request, and is entitled to, a 546 

hearing before the authority or district, which may waive the 547 

fine in whole or in part for good cause shown. Any such request 548 

shall be made within 30 days after the notice of payment due is 549 

transmitted by the authority or district. In such case, the 550 

lobbying firm shall, within the 30-day period, notify the person 551 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 20 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

designated to review the timeliness of reports in writing of his 552 

or her intention to bring the matter before the authority or 553 

district. 554 

6. The person designated to review the timeliness of 555 

reports shall notify the authority or district of the failure of 556 

a lobbying firm to file a report after notice or the failure of 557 

a lobbying firm to pay the fine imposed. All lobbyist 558 

registrations for lobbyists who are partners, owners, officers, 559 

or employees of a lobbying firm that fails to timely pay a fine 560 

are automatically suspended until the fine is paid or waived, 561 

and the authority or district shall promptly notify all affected 562 

principals of each suspension and each reinstatement. 563 

7. A fine imposed under this subsection which is not waived 564 

by final order of the authority or district and which remains 565 

unpaid more than 60 days after the notice of payment due or more 566 

than 60 days after the authority or district renders a final 567 

order on the lobbying firm’s appeal may be recorded as a 568 

judgment in the appropriate circuit court. The authority or 569 

district may take any actions necessary to enforce the judgment. 570 

(7)(a) Notwithstanding s. 112.3148, s. 112.3149, or any 571 

other provision of law to the contrary, no lobbyist or principal 572 

shall make, directly or indirectly, and no expressway authority, 573 

independent special district, or port authority official, 574 

member, or employee shall knowingly accept, directly or 575 

indirectly, any expenditure. 576 

(b) No person shall provide compensation for lobbying to an 577 

individual or business entity that is not a lobbying firm. 578 

(8) The commission has exclusive jurisdiction of complaints 579 

alleging that a person covered by this section has failed to 580 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 21 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

register, has failed to submit a compensation report, has made 581 

or received a prohibited expenditure, or has knowingly submitted 582 

false information in any report or registration required under 583 

this section. The complaint proceedings must be conducted 584 

pursuant to s. 112.324. The commission shall investigate any 585 

lobbying firm, lobbyist, principal, agency, officer, or employee 586 

upon receipt of information from a sworn complaint or from a 587 

random audit of lobbying reports indicating a possible violation 588 

other than a late-filed report. 589 

(9) Any person who is required to be registered or to 590 

provide information under this section or under procedures 591 

established pursuant to this section and who knowingly fails to 592 

disclose any material fact that is required by this section or 593 

procedures established pursuant to this section, or who 594 

knowingly provides false information on any report required by 595 

this section or by procedures established pursuant to this 596 

section, commits a noncriminal infraction, punishable by a fine 597 

not to exceed $5,000. Such penalty is in addition to any other 598 

penalty assessed pursuant to subsection (8). 599 

(10) If a person is uncertain about the applicability and 600 

interpretation of this section, he or she may submit in writing 601 

the facts of the situation to the commission with a request for 602 

an advisory opinion to establish his or her standard of duty. An 603 

advisory opinion shall be rendered by the commission and, until 604 

amended or revoked, shall be binding on the conduct of the 605 

person who sought the opinion, unless material facts were 606 

omitted or misstated in the request. 607 

(11) An expressway authority, independent special district, 608 

or port authority shall be diligent to ascertain whether persons 609 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 22 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

required to register pursuant to this section have complied. An 610 

authority or district may not knowingly authorize a person who 611 

is not registered pursuant to this section to lobby the 612 

authority or district. 613 

(12) Upon discovery of a violation of this section, an 614 

expressway authority, an independent special district, a port 615 

authority, or any person may file a sworn complaint with the 616 

commission. 617 

(13) An expressway authority, independent special district, 618 

and port authority shall establish policies and procedures to 619 

administer this section, including the forms for registration 620 

and compensation reports and procedures for registration. All 621 

policies and procedures adopted by an authority or district 622 

shall be posted on the authority’s or district’s website or be 623 

made available by regular mail or e-mail upon request. 624 

Section 9. Paragraph (c) of subsection (1) of section 625 

288.901, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 626 

288.901 Enterprise Florida, Inc.— 627 

(1) CREATION.— 628 

(c) The Legislature determines that it is in the public 629 

interest that for the members of the Enterprise Florida, Inc., 630 

board of directors to be subject to the requirements of s. 631 

112.313, including s. 112.313(9); s. 112.3135; ss.112.3135, and 632 

s. 112.3143(2), and 112.313, excluding s. 112.313(2), 633 

notwithstanding the fact that the board members are not public 634 

officers or employees. For purposes of those sections, the board 635 

members shall be considered to be public officers or employees. 636 

The exemption set forth in s. 112.313(12) for advisory boards 637 

applies to the members of the Enterprise Florida, Inc., board of 638 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 23 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

directors. Further, each member of the board of directors who is 639 

not otherwise required to file financial disclosures pursuant to 640 

s. 8, Art. II of the State Constitution or s. 112.3144, shall 641 

file disclosure of financial interests pursuant to s. 112.3145. 642 

Section 10. Present paragraph (b) of subsection (2) of 643 

section 288.92, Florida Statutes, is redesignated as paragraph 644 

(c), and a new paragraph (b) is added to that subsection, to 645 

read: 646 

288.92 Divisions of Enterprise Florida, Inc.— 647 

(2) 648 

(b) The Legislature determines that it is in the public 649 

interest that the officers and agents of the divisions of 650 

Enterprise Florida, Inc., including any corporations created to 651 

carry out its missions, be subject to s. 112.313, including s. 652 

112.313(9); s. 112.3135; and s. 112.3143(2), notwithstanding the 653 

fact that the division officers and agents are not public 654 

officers or employees. 655 

Section 11. Paragraph (a) of subsection (3) of section 656 

288.9604, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 657 

288.9604 Creation of the authority.— 658 

(3)(a)1. A director may not shall receive no compensation 659 

for his or her services, but is entitled to the necessary 660 

expenses, including travel expenses, incurred in the discharge 661 

of his or her duties. Each director shall hold office until his 662 

or her successor has been appointed. 663 

2. The Legislature determines that it is in the public 664 

interest that a director of the board of directors of the 665 

Florida Development Finance Corporation be subject to s. 666 

112.313, including s. 112.313(9); s. 112.3135; and s. 667 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 24 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

112.3143(2), notwithstanding the fact that the directors are not 668 

public officers or employees. For purposes of these sections, 669 

the directors shall be considered to be public officers or 670 

employees. 671 

Section 12. Section 331.3081, Florida Statutes, is amended 672 

to read: 673 

331.3081 Board of directors.— 674 

(1) Space Florida shall be governed by a 13-member 675 

independent board of directors that consists of the members 676 

appointed to the board of directors of Enterprise Florida, Inc., 677 

by the Governor, the President of the Senate, and the Speaker of 678 

the House of Representatives pursuant to s. 288.901(5)(a)7. and 679 

the Governor, who shall serve ex officio, or who may appoint a 680 

designee to serve, as the chair and a voting member of the 681 

board. 682 

(2) The Legislature determines that it is in the public 683 

interest that members of Space Florida’s board of directors be 684 

subject to s. 112.313, including s. 112.313(9); s. 112.3135; and 685 

s. 112.3143(2), notwithstanding the fact that the board members 686 

are not public officers or employees. For purposes of these 687 

sections, the board members shall be considered to be public 688 

officers or employees. 689 

Section 13. Paragraph (d) of subsection (6) of section 690 

627.351, Florida Statutes, is amended to read: 691 

627.351 Insurance risk apportionment plans.— 692 

(6) CITIZENS PROPERTY INSURANCE CORPORATION.— 693 

(d)1. All prospective employees for senior management 694 

positions, as defined by the plan of operation, are subject to 695 

background checks as a prerequisite for employment. The office 696 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 25 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

shall conduct the background checks pursuant to ss. 624.34, 697 

624.404(3), and 628.261. 698 

2. On or before July 1 of each year, employees of the 699 

corporation must sign and submit a statement attesting that they 700 

do not have a conflict of interest, as defined in part III of 701 

chapter 112. As a condition of employment, all prospective 702 

employees must sign and submit to the corporation a conflict-of-703 

interest statement. 704 

3. Senior managers and members of the board of governors 705 

are subject to part III of chapter 112, including, but not 706 

limited to, the code of ethics and public disclosure and 707 

reporting of financial interests, pursuant to s. 112.3145. For 708 

purposes of part III of chapter 112, the senior managers and 709 

members of the board of governors shall be considered to be 710 

public officers or employees. Notwithstanding s. 112.3143(2), a 711 

board member may not vote on any measure that would inure to his 712 

or her special private gain or loss; that he or she knows would 713 

inure to the special private gain or loss of any principal by 714 

whom he or she is retained or to the parent organization or 715 

subsidiary of a corporate principal by which he or she is 716 

retained, other than an agency as defined in s. 112.312; or that 717 

he or she knows would inure to the special private gain or loss 718 

of a relative or business associate of the public officer. 719 

Before the vote is taken, such member shall publicly state to 720 

the assembly the nature of his or her interest in the matter 721 

from which he or she is abstaining from voting and, within 15 722 

days after the vote occurs, disclose the nature of his or her 723 

interest as a public record in a memorandum filed with the 724 

person responsible for recording the minutes of the meeting, who 725 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 26 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

shall incorporate the memorandum in the minutes. Senior managers 726 

and board members are also required to file such disclosures 727 

with the Commission on Ethics and the Office of Insurance 728 

Regulation. The executive director of the corporation or his or 729 

her designee shall notify each existing and newly appointed 730 

member of the board of governors and senior managers of their 731 

duty to comply with the reporting requirements of part III of 732 

chapter 112. At least quarterly, the executive director or his 733 

or her designee shall submit to the Commission on Ethics a list 734 

of names of the senior managers and members of the board of 735 

governors who are subject to the public disclosure requirements 736 

under s. 112.3145. 737 

4. A former member of the board of governors is prohibited 738 

from representing another person or entity before the 739 

corporation for 2 years after termination of service on the 740 

board of governors. A former member of the board of governors is 741 

also prohibited from entering into employment or a contractual 742 

relationship with an insurer that entered into a take-out bonus 743 

agreement with the corporation while the former member served on 744 

the board of governors for a period of 2 years after the former 745 

member’s termination of service on the board of governors. 746 

5.4. Notwithstanding s. 112.3148, or s. 112.3149, or any 747 

other provision of law, an employee or board member may not 748 

knowingly accept, directly or indirectly, any gift or 749 

expenditure from a person or entity, or an employee or 750 

representative of such person or entity, which has a contractual 751 

relationship with the corporation or who is under consideration 752 

for a contract. An employee or board member who fails to comply 753 

with subparagraph 3. or this subparagraph is subject to 754 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 846 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

582-01844-14 2014846c1 

Page 27 of 27 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

penalties provided under ss. 112.317 and 112.3173. 755 

6.5. Any senior manager of the corporation who is employed 756 

on or after January 1, 2007, regardless of the date of hire, who 757 

subsequently retires or terminates employment is prohibited from 758 

representing another person or entity before the corporation for 759 

2 years after retirement or termination of employment from the 760 

corporation. 761 

7.6. Any senior manager of the corporation who is employed 762 

on or after January 1, 2007, regardless of the date of hire, who 763 

subsequently retires or terminates employment is prohibited from 764 

having any employment or contractual relationship for 2 years 765 

with an insurer that has entered into a take-out bonus agreement 766 

with the corporation. 767 

Section 14. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 768 











The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  SB 806 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Bradley 

SUBJECT:  Value Adjustment Board Proceedings 

DATE:  March 3, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. White  Yeatman  CA  Favorable 

2.     AFT   

3.     AP   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 806 alters the process for petitioning a value adjustment board to review tax assessments. The 

bill allows a taxpayer to file a single petition for multiple items of tangible personal property of a 

similar nature. Additionally, the bill requires that petition forms be made available by value 

adjustment boards. The bill also requires that the property appraiser’s property record card be in 

the evidence list prior to the hearing. 

II. Present Situation: 

Value Adjustment Boards 

Chapter 194, F.S., provides for administrative and judicial review of tax assessments. Each 

county in Florida has a value adjustment board (VAB) composed of five members1 that reviews 

appeals of the ad valorem tax decisions made by county property appraisers.2 The VAB hears 

evidence from both petitioners and property appraisers as to whether properties are appraised at 

their fair market value, as well as issues related to tax exemptions, deferments, and portability.3 

 

Petition Process for VAB Hearing 

Property appraisers establish the value of taxable property by January 1 each year, and review 

and apply exemptions, assessment limitations, and classifications that may reduce a property’s 

taxable value.4 VABs have no authority to review, by their own motion, the determinations of the 

                                                 
1 Section 194.015, F.S. 
2 Section 194.011, F.S. 
3 Additionally, VABs appoint special magistrates, who are qualified real estate appraisers, personal property appraisers or 

attorneys, to act as impartial agents in conducting hearings and making recommendations on all petitions. 
4 For timeframes and instructions on filing, see Dep’t of Revenue, Petitions to the Value Adjustment Board, 

http://dor.myflorida.com/dor/property/brochures/pt101.pdf (last visited Feb. 27, 2014). 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 806   Page 2 

 

property appraiser.5 Rather, the property owner files a petition to initiate a review, which may cost 

up to $15 per petition.6  

 

The Florida Department of Revenue (DOR), in their property tax oversight role, maintains a 

calendar indicating when the petition process begins (early March), and when petitions must be 

received by (mid-September), each year.7 VAB petitions may be found at the DOR website,8 the 

County Property Appraiser’s office, and in most counties at the office or website of the VAB 

Clerk. The clerk of the value adjustment board9 is responsible for receiving completed petitions, 

acknowledging receipt to the taxpayer, sending a copy of the petition to the property appraiser, 

and scheduling appearances before the value adjustment board. 

 

Prior to the hearing, an exchange of evidence can take place between the petitioner and the 

property appraiser, if so requested in writing. Regardless of whether petitioners initiate an 

evidence exchange, the property appraiser is required to provide the property record card10 to 

petitioners on receipt of the petition, unless the property record card is available online from the 

property appraiser.11 

 

Filing Fees and Joint Petitions 

The cost to file a petition is capped at $15 by statute. There is no fee for timely-filed petitions 

appealing homestead exemption denials. All other petitions, including late-filed homestead 

exemption petitions, must be filed with a non-refundable $15 filing fee. Cash, money orders, 

checks (made payable to the Clerk of Court) and credit cards (plus a 3.5 percent service fee) are 

accepted by most Clerks of Court. The VAB waives the filing fee of a petitioner who 

demonstrates at the time of filing that the petitioner is an eligible recipient of temporary 

assistance under ch. 414, s. 194.013(2), F.S.12 All filing fees are allocated and utilized to defray 

costs incurred in connection with the operation of the VAB.13 

 

Owners of “contiguous, undeveloped parcels” may file a single, joint petition if the Property 

Appraiser determines such parcels are substantially similar in nature. Condominium, 

cooperative, or homeowners’ associations may file a single joint petition on behalf of any 

association members who own parcels of property that the “Property Appraiser determines are 

substantially similar with respect to location, proximity to amenities, number of rooms, living 

area, and condition.” A single filing fee for joint petitions is to be charged, and the fee must not 

                                                 
5 See Chapter 2013-95, ss. 1-4, Laws of Fla. (CS/HB 1193). 
6 Section 190.013, F.S. 
7 See the most recent calendar for exact dates. Dep’t of Revenue, Value Adjustment Board Calendar, 

http://dor.myflorida.com/dor/property/cofficials/pdf/pt902020.pdf (last visited Feb. 27, 2014). 
8 See Florida Administrative Code (FAC) 12D-9.015; Dep’t of Revenue, Value Adjustment Board Forms and Calendar, 

http://dor.myflorida.com/dor/property/forms/index.html#11 (last visited Feb. 27, 2014) (listed as Form DR-486). 
9 The county clerk usually serves as the clerk of the value adjustment board. Section 194.015, F.S. 
10 A property record card contains relevant information used in computing the petitioner’s current assessment. 
11 Section 194.032(2)(a), F.S.; see Chapter 2013-109, s. 8, Laws of Fla. (SB 556). 
12 To be eligible for the waiver, the petitioner must submit appropriate documentation issued by the Department of Children 

and Family Services along with the petition. Section 194.013(2), F.S. 
13 Section 194.013(4), F.S. 



BILL: SB 806   Page 3 

 

exceed $5 per parcel, but will be no less than $15 per petition, and is to be proportionately paid 

by affected parcel owners.14 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

The bill alters the process for petitioning a value adjustment board to review tax assessments 

made by a county property appraiser. 

 

Section 1 amends s. 194.011, F.S., to allow a taxpayer seeking resolution from a VAB to file a 

single petition for multiple items of tangible personal property of a similar nature, instead of 

submitting multiple petitions and associated fees. Current law requires anyone who owns 

tangible personal property15 on January 1 and who has a proprietorship, partnership, or 

corporation, or is a self-employed agent or a contractor, to file a tangible personal property return 

to the property appraiser by April 1 each year.16 Property owners who lease, lend or rent property 

must also file. The bill would help them consolidate their filings onto one petition. 

 

Several VABs currently exercise their discretion to offer petition forms on their websites or in 

their offices. The bill would require that all VABs have petition forms and distribute them. 

 

It is currently unclear whether a situation could arise wherein a property appraiser’s property 

record card is not included in the evidence list due to lack of transmission by the clerk. The bill 

removes that contingency, and thus requires that the property appraiser’s property record card be 

in the evidence list prior to the hearing. 

 

Section 2 provides an effective date of July 1, 2014. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

Article VII, section 18(b) of the Florida Constitution requires any general law that 

reduces a local government’s authority to raise revenues in the aggregate to be passed by 

a two-thirds vote of the membership of each house of the Legislature.17 However, the bill 

appears to be exempt under article VII, section 18(d) of the Florida Constitution.18  

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

                                                 
14 Section 194.013(1), F.S. 
15 Examples are computers, furniture, tools, machinery, signs, equipment, leasehold improvements, supplies, and leased 

equipment. 
16 Section 193.062, F.S. 
17 FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 18(b). 
18 An insignificant fiscal impact means an amount not greater than ten cents times the average statewide population for the 

applicable fiscal year. FLA. CONST. art. VII, s. 18(d); Revenue Estimating Conference, Analysis of HB651/SB806 (adopted 

Feb. 14, 2014). 



BILL: SB 806   Page 4 

 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

The bill may make the petition process less costly, and more available to taxpayers. The 

Revenue Estimating Conference reports that the bill will have an impact of less than 

$200,000, annually, on the amount of fees collected by clerks of VABs.19 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

By allowing the use of a single petition for multiple items of tangible personal property, 

the bill may alleviate the burden of multiple $15 filings for taxpayers who file petitions 

for a VAB hearing. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

While the DOR reports no significant operational impact to the DOR,20 it is undetermined 

whether the bill will have an impact on the overall number of additional petitions filed. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends section 194.011 of the Florida Statutes. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 

                                                 
19 Revenue Estimating Conference, Analysis of HB651/SB806 (adopted Feb. 14, 2014). 
20 DOR, Legislative Bill Analysis for SB 806 (Feb. 18, 2014). 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 806 

 

 

  

By Senator Bradley 

 

 

 

 

 

7-00913C-14 2014806__ 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to value adjustment board proceedings; 2 

amending s. 194.011, F.S.; requiring the clerk of the 3 

value adjustment board to have available and 4 

distribute specified forms; authorizing the owner of 5 

multiple items of tangible personal property to file a 6 

joint petition with the value adjustment board under 7 

certain circumstances; requiring the property 8 

appraiser to include the property record card in an 9 

evidence list for a value adjustment board hearing 10 

under certain circumstances; providing an effective 11 

date. 12 

  13 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 14 

 15 

Section 1. Paragraphs (a) and (f) of subsection (3) and 16 

paragraph (b) of subsection (4) of section 194.011, Florida 17 

Statutes, are amended to read: 18 

194.011 Assessment notice; objections to assessments.— 19 

(3) A petition to the value adjustment board must be in 20 

substantially the form prescribed by the department. 21 

Notwithstanding s. 195.022, a county officer may not refuse to 22 

accept a form provided by the department for this purpose if the 23 

taxpayer chooses to use it. A petition to the value adjustment 24 

board shall describe the property by parcel number and shall be 25 

filed as follows: 26 

(a) The clerk of the value adjustment board and the 27 

property appraiser shall have available and shall distribute 28 

forms prescribed by the Department of Revenue on which the 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 806 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

7-00913C-14 2014806__ 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

petition shall be made. Such petition shall be sworn to by the 30 

petitioner. 31 

(f) An owner of contiguous, undeveloped parcels, or an 32 

owner of multiple items of tangible personal property, may file 33 

with the value adjustment board a single joint petition if the 34 

property appraiser determines such parcels or items of tangible 35 

personal property to be are substantially similar in nature. 36 

(4) 37 

(b) No later than 7 days before the hearing, if the 38 

petitioner has provided the information required under paragraph 39 

(a), and if requested in writing by the petitioner, the property 40 

appraiser shall provide to the petitioner a list of evidence to 41 

be presented at the hearing, together with copies of all 42 

documentation to be considered by the value adjustment board and 43 

a summary of evidence to be presented by witnesses. The evidence 44 

list must contain the property appraiser’s property record card 45 

if provided by the clerk. Failure of the property appraiser to 46 

timely comply with the requirements of this paragraph shall 47 

result in a rescheduling of the hearing. 48 

Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 49 





 

The Florida Senate 

Committee Agenda Request 

 

File signed original with committee office  S-020 (03/2004) 

To: Senator Wilton Simpson, Chair 

 Committee on Community Affairs  

Subject: Committee Agenda Request 

Date: February 6, 2014 

 

 

I respectfully request that Senate Bill # 806, relating to Value Adjustment Board Proceedings, be 

placed on the: 

 

  committee agenda at your earliest possible convenience. 

 

  next committee agenda. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        
Senator Rob Bradley 

Florida Senate, District 7 

 



The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  CS/SB 544 

INTRODUCER:  Agriculture Committee and Senator Simpson and others 

SUBJECT:  Licensure to Carry a Concealed Weapon or Firearm 

DATE:  March 3, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Cellon  Cannon  CJ  Favorable 

2. Akhavein  Becker  AG  Fav/CS 

3. White  Yeatman  CA  Favorable 

4.     AP   

 

Please see Section IX. for Additional Information: 

COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE - Substantial Changes 

I. Summary: 

CS/SB 544 creates a new section of law within ch. 790, F.S., to allow the Department of 

Agriculture and Consumer Services (department) to appoint county tax collectors to accept new 

and renewal concealed weapon or firearm license applications. The applicant information would 

be electronically input and transmitted to the department’s Division of Licensing headquarters in 

Tallahassee for processing and subsequent issuance by mail only. Currently, it is the 

department’s responsibility to issue concealed weapon and firearm licenses to qualified 

applicants.1 

 

County tax collectors who are interested in being appointed by the department will submit a 

written application for acceptance. Upon approval of the tax collector’s qualifications by the 

department, the Division of Licensing then has the discretion to enter into a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) with the tax collector. Both the department and the division have the 

authority to rescind the MOU. 

 

All personal identifying information provided for the license or renewal that is contained in a tax 

collector’s records as a result of the MOU is given confidential and exempt status by the linked 

bill, SB 546. 

                                                 
1 Section 790.0601(1), F.S. 

REVISED:         



BILL: CS/SB 544   Page 2 

 

II. Present Situation: 

The Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (DACS, or department) is responsible for 

issuing concealed weapon and firearm licenses to those applicants who qualify.2 As of the end of 

fiscal year (FY) 2012-2013, there were 1,098,458 valid Florida concealed weapon licenses.3 

During FY 2012-2013, the department received 96,840 new license applications, 2,153 

applications for license renewal, and the department issued 99,606 new concealed weapon 

licenses and 2,239 renewals.4 During FY 2013-2014, the department received 107,666 new 

license applications and 2,172 applications for license renewal, and issued 109,971 new 

concealed weapon licenses and 2,265 renewals.5 

 

Concealed Weapon License Application Requirements 

To obtain a concealed weapons license, a person must complete, under oath, an application that 

includes: 

 

 The name, address, place and date of birth, race, and occupation of the applicant; 

 A full frontal view color photograph of the applicant which must be taken within the 

preceding 30 days; 

 A statement that the applicant has been furnished with a copy of ch. 790, F.S., relating to 

weapons and firearms and is knowledgeable of its provisions; 

 A warning that the application is executed under oath with penalties for falsifying or 

substituting false documents; 

 A statement that the applicant desires a concealed weapon or firearms license as a means of 

lawful self-defense; 

 A full set of fingerprints; 

 Documented proof of completion of a firearms safety and training course; and 

 A nonrefundable license fee no greater than $70 for a new license or no greater than $60 for a 

renewal.6 

 

There is an additional fee for processing the fingerprints, typically $42. According to information 

provided by the department, $42 is the fee payable to the Florida Department of Law 

Enforcement (FDLE). A portion of the $42 covers fees paid by FDLE to the FBI for assistance in 

completing the required background check.7 Sheriff’s offices are statutorily authorized to collect 

$5 for fingerprinting services.8 

 

Section 790.06(6)(c), F.S., requires the department to either issue the license or deny its issuance 

and notify the applicant within 90 days of receiving a completed application. The department 

typically meets this requirement except under circumstances explained on the link to “Frequently 

                                                 
2 Id. 
3 DACS, Concealed Weapon or Firearm License Reports, http://www.freshfromflorida.com/Divisions-

Offices/Licensing/Concealed-Weapon-License/Statistical-Reports (last visited Feb. 25 10, 2014). 
4 Id. 
5 Id. 
6 Section 790.06(1)-(5), F.S. 
7 E-mail correspondence with the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services (Jan. 16, 2014). 
8 Section 790.06(6)(b), F.S.  



BILL: CS/SB 544   Page 3 

 

Asked Questions” on the department webpage. The most common reasons for delay and the 

department response to those issues are explained as follows: 9 

 

 If we find that your application is incomplete for some reason (a missing answer to a 

question; check made out for the wrong amount; no firearms training documentation; etc.), 

we will notify you by letter of this problem and request that you provide us with the missing 

information or documentation. 

 If law enforcement authorities determine that your fingerprints are insufficiently legible to 

complete a proper background check, we will send you a letter requesting a second 

fingerprint submission as required by law. If your second fingerprint submission is also 

deemed illegible, we can then ask the FBI to conduct a name-based background check. 

 If the background check results we receive from law enforcement authorities reflect a 

potentially disqualifying crime without a final disposition, we will send you a letter 

requesting that you provide us with court documents indicating the final disposition. 

 

The department has made a “Fast Track Processing” system available to applicants in 8 regional 

offices.10 During an appointment, the applicant can fill out and submit the application, have their 

fingerprints scanned electronically, have their picture taken and make their payment. Staff 

reviews the application for completeness at the regional office before it is submitted to the 

department’s Division of Licensing for final processing. Renewal concealed weapon licenses 

require far less documentation and therefore can be completed much faster either via a regional 

office or mail in. In fact, if a renewal is done in one of the eight regional offices, with few 

exceptions, the limited processing work can be done onsite and the renewal license is issued to 

the waiting applicant.11 

 

County Tax Collector Authority 

Article VIII, Section 1(d) of the Florida Constitution provides that Tax Collectors are elected 

County Officers. The tax collector is the county officer charged with the collection of ad valorem 

taxes levied by the county, the school board, any special taxing districts within the county, and 

all municipalities within the county.12 County tax collections are supervised by the state 

Department of Revenue.13 Tax collectors may appoint deputies to act on their behalf in carrying 

out the duties prescribed by law.14 

 

Several state agencies and departments are currently authorized to enter into agreements with 

county tax collectors for various purposes. Some examples that are similar to the arrangement 

with the department contemplated by the bill include: 

 

                                                 
9 DACS, Frequently Asked Questions, http://www.freshfromflorida.com/Divisions-Offices/Licensing/Frequently-Asked-

Questions (last visited Feb. 25, 2014).   
10 The regional offices are located in Fort Walton Beach, Jacksonville, Doral, Orlando, Punta Gorda, Tallahassee, Tampa, and 

West Palm Beach. DACS, Regional Office Locations, www.freshfromflorida.com (last visited Feb. 25, 2014). 
11 DACS, Fast Track Processing, www.freshfromflorida.com (last visited Feb. 25, 2014). 
12 Section 192.001(4), F.S.   
13 See generally Ch. 195, F.S.; s. 197.603, F.S. 
14 Section 197.103, F.S.   



BILL: CS/SB 544   Page 4 

 

 The Department of State may appoint a county tax collector as an agent to accept 

applications for licenses or license renewals or other similar registrations.15 

 The Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (DHSMV) authorizes tax collectors 

to act as agents of the department in matters of motor vehicle registration. DHSMV has 

statutory authority to install The Florida Real Time Vehicle Information System in the tax 

collectors offices to facilitate the agency relationship.16 

 DHSMV also has a statutory mandate to enter interagency agreements with county tax 

collectors to issue driver licenses, identification cards, and vessel registrations.17 

 The county tax collectors may sell licenses for game hunting and fishing, as authorized by 

statute and the Fish and Wildlife Conservation Commission.18 

 The Department of Business and Professional Regulation (DBPR) may enter into an 

agreement with county tax collectors to act as the department’s agent to accept applications 

for licenses or renewals of licenses to practice professions that fall within DBPR 

jurisdiction.19 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 amends s. 790.06, F.S., to authorize the department to appoint any of Florida’s 64 

elected tax collectors to accept new and renewal concealed weapon or firearm license 

applications. 

 

Section 2 creates s. 790.0625, F.S., to allow the department to appoint elected county tax 

collectors to accept applications on behalf of the Division of Licensing for concealed weapon or 

firearm licenses. The applicant information would be electronically input and transmitted to the 

division in Tallahassee for processing and subsequent issuance by mail only. 

 

County tax collectors who are interested in being appointed by the department will submit a 

request to the division. The division then has the discretion to enter into a Memorandum of 

Understanding with the tax collector. Both the department and the division have the authority to 

rescind the MOU. 

 

All personal identifying information provided for the license or renewal that is contained in a tax 

collector’s records as a result of the MOU is given confidential and exempt status by the linked 

bill, SB 546. 

 

Appointed tax collectors may not maintain a list of persons who apply for or receive a new or 

renewal concealed weapon or firearm license. Maintaining such a list makes the person subject 

to the provisions of s. 790.335, F.S.20 

                                                 
15 Section 288.037, F.S.   
16 Section 320.03, F.S.   
17 Section 322.135, F.S., s. 328.73, F.S.   
18 Section 379.352, F.S.   
19 Section 455.213, F.S.   
20 Section 790.335, F.S., states: “PROHIBITIONS.—No state governmental agency or local government, special district, or 

other political subdivision or official, agent, or employee of such state or other governmental entity or any other person, 

public or private, shall knowingly and willfully keep or cause to be kept any list, record, or registry of privately owned 

firearms or any list, record, or registry of the owners of those firearms.” Such conduct is subject to third degree felony 

penalties and a $5 million dollar fine. 



BILL: CS/SB 544   Page 5 

 

 

A tax collector appointed under the provisions of the bill is entitled to charge the applicant a 

convenience fee in the amount of $22 for accepting new license applications and $12 for 

accepting each renewal application. License fees collected by the tax collector are to be remitted 

to the department weekly. 

 

The bill authorizes tax collectors approved for appointment under newly-created s. 790.0625, 

F.S., to administer fingerprints for license applicants. 

  

The bill prohibits persons who are not appointed by the department from handling applications 

for any fee or compensation. 

 

The bill creates a second degree misdemeanor for willful violations of newly-created 

s. 790.0625, F.S. 

 

The bill makes no changes to eligibility criteria or license application requirements. 

 

Section 3 appropriates the sums of $707,608 in recurring and $105,503 in nonrecurring funds 

from the Division of Licensing Trust Fund to the department for the 2014-2015 fiscal year. It 

also authorizes 11 full-time positions for the purpose of implementing the provisions of the bill. 

 

Section 4 provides that this act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

Persons applying for a new concealed weapon or firearm license would be charged a $22 

convenience fee and those applying for a renewal would pay a $12 renewal application 

fee by participating tax collectors. 



BILL: CS/SB 544   Page 6 

 

C. Government Sector Impact:21 

The department expects an increase in the number of concealed weapon and firearm 

license applicants and renewals given the convenience of being able to apply or renew at 

a local tax collector rather than having only eight regional offices or the mail as options. 

The department estimates that an indeterminate amount of additional revenue will be 

generated and paid into the Division of Licensing Trust Fund from additional tax 

collector offices receiving and initially processing the increase in applications. 

 

The department has indicated that implementation will require 11 additional positions at a 

total cost of $728,721 in year one, with recurring costs of $687,218 thereafter. These 

costs would be paid from the Division of Licensing Trust Fund. 

 

EXPENDITURES 

 

FY 14-15 FY 16-16 FY 16-17 

Salaries and Benefits:    

4 Compliance Officers 157,863 157,863 157,863 

4 Corp Doc Records Examiners 148,080 148,080 148,080 

2 Systems Programmer II - SES 119,154 119,154 119,154 

1 Accountant I 39,466 39,466 39,466 

    

Expenses:    

11 Professional Expense Packages 68,871 68,871 68,871 

    

Operating Capital Outlay:    

Electronic Fingerprinting Scanners 

($15,000 per unit; estimate 10 purchases 

per year over three years for participating 

tax collectors 

150,000 150,000 150,000 

    

Special Category:    

11 Human Resources Allocations 3,784 3,784 3,784 

    

Non-Recurring Expenses:    

11 Professional Expenses Packages 41,503 0 0 

    

TOTAL OPERATING COSTS: $728,721 $687,218 $687,218 

 

Tax collectors choosing to apply to be appointed to receive new and renewal license 

applications would staff the receiving and initial application processing function with 

existing or new staff as determined by the tax collector. Without knowing the exact 

number of interested and eligible tax collectors, the DACS analysis uses an arbitrary 

estimate of 30 tax collectors. The department currently plans on providing one $15,000 

electronic fingerprint scanner to each tax collector appointed; the annual maintenance and 

                                                 
21 Information contained in this portion of this bill analysis is from DACS, Division of Licensing, Senate Bill 544 Agency 

Analysis (Jan. 23, 2014). 



BILL: CS/SB 544   Page 7 

 

future replacement will be the responsibility of the tax collector. Additional information 

technology equipment required for each tax collector office includes a minimum of two 

personal computers, a camera and document imaging scanner, among other equipment 

costing approximately $3,000 for a minimum set up. This minimum equipment set up 

would be the tax collector’s responsibility. 

 

As currently envisioned, applicant electronic fingerprint background checks would be 

transmitted by tax collectors directly to Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE). 

In this scenario, the tax collectors would have the option of either having FDLE bill them 

directly for the cost and charging the concealed weapon license applicant a fee to cover 

the FDLE cost (which includes the FBI fee) plus any additional amount to defray tax 

collector costs or transmitting the electronic fingerprints and having the applicant pay 

FDLE on their own, within 30 days. The sheriff’s offices give applicants this option when 

conducting fingerprint background checks. 

 

Network connectivity to transmit applicant information will be provided via a standard 

My Florida Net (MFN) connection available to all state agencies. This MFN connection 

is currently in place in tax collector locations where driver licenses and motor vehicle 

tags are issued. No additional cost would be incurred and the data transmission would be 

encrypted via this secure network. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill substantially amends section 790.06 of the Florida Statutes. 

 

This bill creates section 790.0625 of the Florida Statutes. 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

CS by Agriculture on February 17, 2014: 

The committee substitute includes two appropriations and authorizes 11 full-time 

positions to implement the provisions of the bill. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 



BILL: CS/SB 544   Page 8 

 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 544 

 

 

  

By the Committee on Agriculture; and Senators Simpson, Latvala, 

Bean, Benacquisto, Hays, Brandes, Bradley, Negron, Dean, Evers, 

Stargel, and Galvano 

 

 

 

575-01837-14 2014544c1 

Page 1 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to licensure to carry a concealed 2 

weapon or firearm; amending s. 790.06, F.S.; 3 

authorizing an applicant for a license to carry a 4 

concealed weapon or firearm to submit the application 5 

to an appointed tax collector; creating s. 790.0625, 6 

F.S.; defining terms; authorizing the Department of 7 

Agriculture and Consumer Services to appoint tax 8 

collectors to accept applications for new or renewal 9 

licenses to carry a concealed weapon or firearm on 10 

behalf of the Division of Licensing of the Department 11 

of Agriculture and Consumer Services; requiring a tax 12 

collector seeking appointment to submit a written 13 

request to the division; providing requirements for 14 

the request; requiring the division and an appointed 15 

tax collector to enter into a memorandum of 16 

understanding; authorizing the department or the 17 

division to rescind a memorandum of understanding at 18 

any time; providing that certain personal identifying 19 

information of applicants for licensure is 20 

confidential and exempt; establishing license fees for 21 

new and renewal applications; requiring an appointed 22 

tax collector to remit fees to the department; 23 

prohibiting a tax collector from maintaining a list or 24 

record of concealed weapon or firearm licensees or 25 

applicants; prohibiting a person from processing a 26 

concealed weapon or firearm application for a fee or 27 

compensation unless he or she has been appointed by 28 

the department to do so; providing for criminal 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 544 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-01837-14 2014544c1 

Page 2 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

penalties; providing an appropriation; authorizing a 30 

specified number of full-time equivalent positions 31 

with associated salary rate within the department; 32 

providing an effective date. 33 

  34 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 35 

 36 

Section 1. Subsection (5) of section 790.06, Florida 37 

Statutes, is amended to read: 38 

790.06 License to carry concealed weapon or firearm.— 39 

(5) The applicant shall submit to the Department of 40 

Agriculture and Consumer Services or an approved tax collector 41 

pursuant to s. 790.0625: 42 

(a) A completed application as described in subsection (4). 43 

(b) A nonrefundable license fee of up not to exceed $70, if 44 

he or she has not previously been issued a statewide license, or 45 

of up a nonrefundable license fee not to exceed $60 for renewal 46 

of a statewide license. The cost of Costs for processing the set 47 

of fingerprints as required in paragraph (c) is shall be borne 48 

by the applicant. However, an individual holding an active 49 

certification from the Criminal Justice Standards and Training 50 

Commission as a “law enforcement officer,” “correctional 51 

officer,” or “correctional probation officer” as defined in s. 52 

943.10(1), (2), (3), (6), (7), (8), or (9) is exempt from the 53 

licensing requirements of this section. If such any individual 54 

holding an active certification from the Criminal Justice 55 

Standards and Training Commission as a “law enforcement 56 

officer,” a “correctional officer,” or a “correctional probation 57 

officer” as defined in s. 943.10(1), (2), (3), (6), (7), (8), or 58 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 544 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-01837-14 2014544c1 

Page 3 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

(9) wishes to receive a concealed weapons or firearms license, 59 

he or she such person is exempt from the background 60 

investigation and all background investigation fees, but must 61 

shall pay the current license fees regularly required to be paid 62 

by nonexempt applicants. Further, a law enforcement officer, a 63 

correctional officer, or a correctional probation officer as 64 

defined in s. 943.10(1), (2), or (3) is exempt from the required 65 

fees and background investigation for a period of 1 year after 66 

his or her subsequent to the date of retirement of said officer 67 

as a law enforcement officer, a correctional officer, or a 68 

correctional probation officer. 69 

(c) A full set of fingerprints of the applicant 70 

administered by a law enforcement agency or the Division of 71 

Licensing of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services 72 

or an approved tax collector pursuant to s. 790.0625. 73 

(d) A photocopy of a certificate, or an affidavit, or 74 

document as described in paragraph (2)(h). 75 

(e) A full frontal view color photograph of the applicant 76 

taken within the preceding 30 days, in which the head, including 77 

hair, measures 7/8 of an inch wide and 1 1/8 inches high. 78 

Section 2. Section 790.0625, Florida Statutes, is created 79 

to read: 80 

790.0625 Appointment of tax collectors to accept 81 

applications for a concealed weapon or firearm license; fees; 82 

penalties.– 83 

(1) As used in this section, the term: 84 

(a) “Department” means the Department of Agriculture and 85 

Consumer Services. 86 

(b) “Division” means the Division of Licensing of the 87 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 544 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-01837-14 2014544c1 

Page 4 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. 88 

(2) The department, at its discretion, may appoint tax 89 

collectors, as defined in s. 1(d) of Art. VIII of the State 90 

Constitution, to accept applications on behalf of the division 91 

for concealed weapon or firearm licenses. Such appointment shall 92 

be for specified locations that will best serve the public 93 

interest and convenience in applying for these licenses. 94 

(3) A tax collector seeking to be appointed to accept 95 

applications for new or renewal concealed weapon or firearm 96 

licenses must submit a written request to the division stating 97 

his or her name, address, telephone number, each location within 98 

the county at which the tax collector wishes to accept 99 

applications, and other information as required by the division. 100 

(a) Upon receipt of a written request, the division shall 101 

review it and at its discretion may decline to enter into a 102 

memorandum of understanding or, if approved, enter into a 103 

memorandum of understanding with the tax collector to accept 104 

applications for new or renewal concealed weapon or firearm 105 

licenses on behalf of the department. 106 

(b) The department or the division may rescind a memorandum 107 

of understanding for any reason at any time. 108 

(4) All personal identifying information that is provided 109 

pursuant to s. 790.06 and contained in the records of a tax 110 

collector appointed under this section is confidential and 111 

exempt as provided in s. 790.0601. 112 

(5) A tax collector appointed under this section may 113 

collect and retain a convenience fee of $22 for each new 114 

application and $12 for each renewal and shall remit weekly to 115 

the department the license fees for deposit in the Division of 116 



Florida Senate - 2014 CS for SB 544 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

575-01837-14 2014544c1 

Page 5 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

Licensing Trust Fund. 117 

(6)(a) A tax collector appointed under this section may not 118 

maintain a list or record of persons who apply for or are 119 

granted a new or renewal license to carry a concealed weapon or 120 

firearm. A violation of this paragraph is subject to s. 790.335. 121 

(b) A person may not handle an application for a concealed 122 

weapon or firearm for a fee or compensation of any kind unless 123 

he or she has been appointed by the department to do so. 124 

(7) A person who willfully violates this section commits a 125 

misdemeanor of the second degree, punishable as provided in s. 126 

775.082 or s. 775.083. 127 

Section 3. For the 2014-2015 fiscal year, there is 128 

appropriated to the Department of Agriculture and Consumer 129 

Services the sums of $707,608 in recurring and $105,503 in 130 

nonrecurring funds from the Division of Licensing Trust Fund, 131 

and 11 full-time equivalent positions with associated salary 132 

rate of 295,751 are authorized for the purpose of implementing 133 

this act. 134 

Section 4. This act shall take effect July 1, 2014. 135 













The Florida Senate 

BILL ANALYSIS AND FISCAL IMPACT STATEMENT 
(This document is based on the provisions contained in the legislation as of the latest date listed below.) 

Prepared By: The Professional Staff of the Committee on Community Affairs  

 

BILL:  SB 926 

INTRODUCER:  Senator Simpson 

SUBJECT:  Wage Dispute Protection 

DATE:  February 28, 2014 

 

 ANALYST  STAFF DIRECTOR  REFERENCE  ACTION 

1. Stearns  Yeatman  CA  Favorable 

2.     JU   

3.     RC   

 

I. Summary: 

SB 926 creates s. 448.111, F.S., to govern county and state regulation of wage theft. The bill 

provides requirements for county ordinances regulating wage theft and authorizes county 

funding to assist in addressing claims of wage theft. The bill provides an exemption for county 

ordinances enacted by a certain date, but otherwise preempts further regulation of wage theft to 

the state. 

 

The bill provides definitions for “legal services organization” and “wage theft.” 

II. Present Situation: 

Wage Theft 

“Wage theft” is a general term sometimes used to describe the failure of an employer to pay any 

portion of wages due to an employee. Wage theft encompasses a variety of employer violations 

of federal and state law resulting in lost income to an employee. Wage theft may occur if: 

 

 An employee is paid below the state or federal minimum wage; 

 An employee is paid partial wages or not paid at all; 

 A non-exempt employee is not paid time and a half for overtime hours; 

 An employee is required to work off the clock; 

 An employee has their time card altered; 

 An employee is misclassified as an independent contractor; or 

 An employee does not receive a final paycheck after the termination of employment. 

 

REVISED:         



BILL: SB 926   Page 2 

 

Employee Protection: Federal and State 

A variety of federal and state laws protect employees from wage theft. Federal laws are 

administered by the United States Department of Labor, and may be enforced by federal 

authorities or by private lawsuits.1 The Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)2 is the federal law most 

often used to address wage theft. State court actions to recover unpaid wages can be brought 

under Florida’s minimum wage laws or through a common law breach of contract claim. 

 

Federal Protection of Employees: Fair Labor Standards Act 

The FLSA establishes a federal minimum wage, which is the lowest hourly wage that can be 

paid in the United States. Currently, the federal minimum wage is $7.25 per hour.3 A state may 

set the rate higher than the federal minimum but not lower.4  

 

The FLSA also requires employers to pay one and one-half times regular wages for any time 

worked in excess of 40 hours during a workweek.5 In addition, it establishes standards for 

recordkeeping and child labor. The FLSA applies to most classes of workers, but a major 

exception is that it does not apply to most employees of businesses doing less than $500,000 in 

annual business.6 

 

The FLSA provides for enforcement in three separate ways: 

 

 Civil actions or lawsuits by the federal government;  

 Criminal prosecutions by the United States Department of Justice; or 

 Private lawsuits by employees or workers, which includes individual lawsuits and collective 

actions. 

 

An employer who violates section 206 (minimum wage) or section 207 (maximum hours) of the 

FLSA is liable to the employee for the amount of the unpaid wages and may be liable for 

liquidated damages equal to the amount of the unpaid wages. 

 

State Protection of Employees 

State law provides for protection of employees, including anti-discrimination,7 work safety,8 and 

a state minimum wage. Article X, s. 24(c) of the Florida Constitution provides that “Employers 

shall pay Employees Wages no less than the Minimum Wage for all hours worked in Florida.” 

 

If an employer does not pay the state minimum wage, the constitution provides that an employee 

may bring a civil action in a court of competent jurisdiction for the amount of the wages 

                                                 
1 Links to most federal laws and regulations that affect wage and hour issues are located at www.dol.gov/whd/reg-library.htm 

(last visited February 28, 2014).  
2 29 U.S.C. ch. 8. 
3The U.S. Department of Labor Wage and Hour Division provides information about the minimum wage and minimum wage 

laws at http://www.dol.gov/whd/minimumwage.htm (last visited February 28, 2014). 
4 29 U.S.C. s. 218(a). 
5 29 U.S.C. s. 207(a)(1). 
6 The U.S. Department of Labor provides lists of the types of employees covered and exempt from the FLSA at 

http://www.dol.gov/compliance/guide/minwage.htm#who (last visited February 28, 2014). 
7 Section 760.10, F.S. 
8 Sections 448.20-26 and 487.2011-2071, F.S. 



BILL: SB 926   Page 3 

 

withheld. If the employee prevails, in addition to the unpaid wages, a court may also award the 

employee liquidated damages in the amount of the wages withheld and reasonable attorney’s 

fees and costs. Further, any employer that willfully violates the minimum wage law is fined 

$1,000 for each violation. The Attorney General is also empowered to bring a civil action to 

enforce the state’s minimum wage laws. 

 

The current state minimum wage is $7.93 per hour, which is higher than the federal minimum 

wage.9 Federal law requires the payment of the higher of the federal or state minimum wage.10 

 

Chapter 448, F.S., includes the Florida Minimum Wage Act, which implements the 

constitutional minimum wage requirements. Chapter 448, F.S., also prohibits an employer from 

retaliating against the employee for enforcing his or her rights, and it preserves the rights that an 

employee has under any collective bargaining agreement or employee contract.11 

 

In addition to remedies under state minimum wage laws, an employee may bring a common law 

breach of contract claim for unpaid wages. Section 448.08, F.S., allows the court to award 

attorney’s fees and costs to the prevailing party in an action for unpaid wages. 

 

Home Rule and Preemption 

Article VIII, sections 1 and 2 of the State Constitution establish two types of local governments: 

counties12 and municipalities. Local governments have wide authority to enact various 

ordinances to accomplish their local needs.13 Under home rule powers, a municipality or county 

may legislate concurrently with the Legislature on any subject that has not been preempted to the 

state. 

 

Preemption reserves the power to legislate on specific topics exclusively to the state and thereby 

abrogates the typical broad home-rule powers of local governments.14 Florida law recognizes 

two types of preemption: express and implied.15 Express preemption requires that a statute 

contain specific language of preemption directed to the particular subject at issue.16 

 

In the absence of express preemption a court may still find that the state’s regulation of an area 

of law is so pervasive as to constitute implied preemption.17 However, courts are careful when 

imputing intent on behalf of the Legislature to preclude a local government from using its home 

rule powers.18 Factors that point to a pervasive legislative scheme include the nature of the 

subject matter, the need for state uniformity, and the scope and purpose of the state legislation.19 

                                                 
9 See http://www.floridajobs.org/minimumwage/Announcement_2014.pdf (last visited February 28, 2014). 
10 29 U.S.C. §218(a). 
11 Section 448.105, F.S. 
12 Florida has both charter and non-charter counties. 
13 Article VIII of the State Constitution establishes the powers of charter counties, non-charter counties, and municipalities. 

Chapters 125 and 166, F.S., provide additional powers and constraints on counties and municipalities. 
14 City of Hollywood v. Mulligan, 934 So. 2d 1238, 1243 (Fla. 2006). 
15 Id. 
16 Id. 
17 See Tribune Co. v. Cannella, 458 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1984).  
18 Sarasota Alliance for Fair Elections, Inc. v. Browning, 28 So. 3d. 880, 886 (Fla. 2010). 
19 Id. 



BILL: SB 926   Page 4 

 

A court will then consider whether strong public policy reasons exist for finding an area to be 

preempted by the Legislature.20 Regulation of public records is an example of an area where the 

courts have found implied preemption.21 

 

Currently, there is no express preemption of wage laws to the federal or state government. It is 

unclear whether a court would find that the existing laws regarding employee wages are an 

implied preemption of the subject. 

 

Local Regulation of Wage Theft 

Florida’s two most populous counties, Miami-Dade County and Broward County, have passed 

ordinances dealing with wage theft claims. Alachua County has also passed a wage theft 

ordinance.22 In addition, Palm Beach County has passed a resolution condemning wage theft and 

has created a program for wage theft claimants to be represented by the Legal Aid Society of 

Palm Beach County.23  

 

Miami-Dade’s ordinance,24 passed in February 2010, was one of the first local wage theft 

ordinances in the United States. The ordinance is administered by the county’s Department of 

Small Business Development (SBD) and provides a local process for employees to file claims for 

unpaid wages. The process cannot be used if the employee has made a claim under state or 

federal law; however, a claim under the ordinance does not preclude later claims under state or 

federal law. The ordinance only applies to claims for payment of more than $60 in wages, and 

claims must be filed within one year after the last day the unpaid work was performed. Claims 

that are not resolved before the hearing are heard by a hearing examiner who is deemed to be 

qualified to hear wage theft matters. If the hearing officer determines by a preponderance of the 

evidence that back wages are owed, the employee must be awarded three times the amount of the 

wages found to be owed and the employer must pay the county’s administrative processing costs 

and costs of the proceeding. If the employee is not successful, neither party reimburses the 

county’s costs. 

 

Broward County’s ordinance took effect on January 2, 2013.25 It provides a process that is 

similar to Miami-Dade County’s ordinance, but that has some significant differences. These 

differences include: 

 

 A claim cannot be considered unless the employee gave the employer written notice of the 

failure to pay wages within 60 days of the date the wages were due and the employer had a 

minimum of 15 days to pay or resolve the claim before it was filed. 

                                                 
20 Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, Inc. v. Tallahassee Medical Center Inc., 681 So. 2d 826, 831 (Fla. 1st 

DCA 1996).  
21 See Tribune Co. v. Cannella, 458 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 1984).  
22 Gainesville Sun, County commission passes wage-theft ordinance Tuesday, published April 17, 2013, 

http://www.alligator.org/news/local/article_7074e0f8-a710-11e2-bf3b-0019bb2963f4.html (last visited February 28, 2014). 
23 Sun-Sentinel, Palm Beach County renews compromise wage theft effort, published January 15, 2014, http://articles.sun-

sentinel.com/2014-01-15/news/sfl-palm-beach-county-renews-compromise-wage-theft-effort-20140115_1_wage-county-

commission-low-income-workers (last visited February 28, 2014).  
24 Miami Dade County, Fla., Code ch. 22. 
25 Broward County Code of Ordinances, ch. 20½, Non-Payment of Earned Wages. 



BILL: SB 926   Page 5 

 

 A successful claimant is awarded double the amount of unpaid wages, rather than triple 

wages as in the Miami-Dade County ordinance. 

 In addition to paying the county’s costs as is required by the Miami-Dade County ordinance, 

a losing employer is also required to reimburse the employee for reasonable costs and 

attorney’s fees incurred in connection with the hearing. 

 Like the Miami-Dade County ordinance, an unsuccessful claimant is not required to pay 

either the employer’s or the county’s costs. However, under the Broward County ordinance 

the employee must be ordered to pay the employer’s reasonable costs and attorney’s fees and 

the county’s costs if the hearing officer finds that the claim had no basis in law or fact. 

 

Alachua County’s ordinance was implemented on January 1, 2014. It is similar to the Broward 

ordinance in several respects. It also provides that an employee must contact an employer 

regarding a claim within sixty days of the date that wages were due to be paid and allow the 

employer 15 days to respond. The ordinance awards twice the amount of unpaid wages to a 

successful claimant. However, the Alachua County ordinance requires that a complaint be filed 

within 180 days of the date that wages were due to be paid (as opposed to one year). The 

Alachua County ordinance does not provide a minimum dollar threshold that claims must meet 

in order to be filed.  

 

Palm Beach County has also considered passing a wage theft ordinance since a proposed 

ordinance was brought before the commissioners in February 2011. Following that time, Palm 

Beach County supported a Wage Recovery Program administered by the Legal Aid Society of 

Palm Beach County. The Legal Aid Society program assists employees in collecting unpaid 

wages through existing civil or administrative remedies. On January 11, 2014, the commission 

passed a resolution renewing a contract for $104,000 with the Legal Aid Society to manage the 

Wage Recovery Program.26According to the society, the program has recovered approximately 

$200,000 in back wages.27  

 

Small Claims Court Costs 

Fees for filing an action in Small Claims Court, which is a part of the County Court, are set by 

s. 34.041(1)(a), F.S., as follows: 

 

 $50 for claims less than $100; 

 $75 for claims from $100 - $500; 

 $170 for claims from $500.01 - $2500; and 

 $295 for claims of more than $2,500. 

 

In addition to the filing fee, the claimant must serve the employer with notice of the suit. Process 

may be served on a Florida defendant by certified mail, which costs approximately six dollars. If 

that is unsuccessful, process must be served by the sheriff or an authorized process server. The 

cost for service by the sheriff is $40 as provided in s. 30.231(1)(a), F.S. 

                                                 
26 Sun-Sentinel, Palm Beach County renews compromise wage theft effort, published January 15, 2014, http://articles.sun-

sentinel.com/2014-01-15/news/sfl-palm-beach-county-renews-compromise-wage-theft-effort-20140115_1_wage-county-

commission-low-income-workers (last visited February 28, 2014). 
27 Id. 



BILL: SB 926   Page 6 

 

III. Effect of Proposed Changes: 

Section 1 creates s. 448.111, F.S., to authorize county ordinances regulating wage theft so long 

as the ordinances meet certain requirements. If a county determines that local regulation of wage 

theft is necessary, it may adopt an ordinance with the following provisions: 

 

 The county partners with a local legal services organization (LSO) to establish a process for 

addressing wage theft claims by the LSO. 

 Upon a request for assistance by an individual that has experienced wage theft, the LSO shall 

determine whether the individual has a bona fide claim. 

 The LSO notifies the individual’s employer and provides the employer with an opportunity 

to resolve the matter. 

 The LSO works with the employee and employer to resolve the issue informally and quickly. 

Informal resolution may include obtaining attorney fees and costs from the employer. 

 The LSO shall file court actions as appropriate and refer unresolved claims to local pro bono 

or other counsel for resolution.  

 The county establishes a reporting mechanism to receive regular reports regarding the LSO’s 

work on cases of wage theft. 

 

An LSO is defined in the bill as “an organization that provides free or low-cost legal services to 

qualified persons and meets the minimum standards established by The Florida Bar for providing 

such services, including a legal practice clinic operated by an accredited Florida law school.” An 

LSO qualifies as “local” under the bill if it is located within the relevant county or within an 

adjoining county.  

 

The bill defines “wage theft” as “an illegal or improper underpayment or nonpayment of an 

individual employee’s wage, salary, commission, or other similar form of compensation within a 

reasonable time after the date on which the employee performed the work to be compensated.”  

 

The bill authorizes counties to dedicate county funds to assist the LSO in addressing claims of 

wage theft.  

 

The bill expressly preempts to the state any other regulation of wage theft by a county, 

municipality, or other political subdivision that exceeds the provisions described above. 

However, the bill provides an exemption from preemption for local ordinances governing wage 

theft that were enacted on or before January 1, 2014.  

 

Section 2 provides that the bill shall take effect upon becoming law.  

IV. Constitutional Issues: 

A. Municipality/County Mandates Restrictions: 

None. 



BILL: SB 926   Page 7 

 

B. Public Records/Open Meetings Issues: 

None. 

C. Trust Funds Restrictions: 

None. 

D. Other Constitutional Issues: 

As noted in the discussion of the effects of the bill, the Florida Constitution sets forth 

certain requirements and remedies regarding minimum wage claims. This bill cannot be 

interpreted to preclude an employee from exercising those state constitutional rights, 

which are currently implemented in ch. 448, F.S.  

V. Fiscal Impact Statement: 

A. Tax/Fee Issues: 

None. 

B. Private Sector Impact: 

If counties utilize the authority provided by this bill to enact new ordinances and to assist 

legal services organizations in addressing wage theft claims, it is likely that this bill will 

result in an increase in the number of claims. As a result, this bill may have an impact on 

both employees seeking payment of allegedly unpaid compensation and employers who 

are sued for payment of unpaid wages. 

C. Government Sector Impact: 

If counties utilize the authority provided by this bill to enact new ordinances regulating 

wage theft and to assist legal services organizations in addressing such claims, the bill 

may increase costs to the judiciary as a result of the increased number of claims. 

VI. Technical Deficiencies: 

None. 

VII. Related Issues: 

None. 

VIII. Statutes Affected: 

This bill creates section 448.111 of the Florida Statutes. 



BILL: SB 926   Page 8 

 

IX. Additional Information: 

A. Committee Substitute – Statement of Changes: 
(Summarizing differences between the Committee Substitute and the prior version of the bill.) 

None. 

B. Amendments: 

None. 

This Senate Bill Analysis does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill’s introducer or the Florida Senate. 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 926 

 

 

  

By Senator Simpson 

 

 

 

 

 

18-01390-14 2014926__ 

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

A bill to be entitled 1 

An act relating to local regulation of wage theft; 2 

creating s. 448.111, F.S.; defining terms; providing 3 

requirements for county ordinances regulating wage 4 

theft; authorizing county funding to assist in 5 

addressing claims of wage theft; preempting further 6 

regulation of wage theft to the state; providing an 7 

exception for an ordinance enacted by a specified 8 

date; providing an effective date. 9 

  10 

Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida: 11 

 12 

Section 1. Section 448.111, Florida Statutes, is created to 13 

read: 14 

448.111 Local regulation of wage theft.— 15 

(1) DEFINITIONS.—As used in this section, the term: 16 

(a) “Legal services organization” means an organization 17 

that provides free or low-cost legal services to qualified 18 

persons and meets the minimum standards established by The 19 

Florida Bar for providing such services, including a legal 20 

practice clinic operated by an accredited Florida law school. 21 

(b) “Wage theft” means an illegal or improper underpayment 22 

or nonpayment of an individual employee’s wage, salary, 23 

commission, or other similar form of compensation within a 24 

reasonable time after the date on which the employee performed 25 

the work to be compensated. A wage theft occurs when an employer 26 

fails to pay a portion of the wages, salary, commissions, or 27 

other similar forms of compensation due to an employee within a 28 

reasonable time after the date on which the employee performed 29 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 926 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

18-01390-14 2014926__ 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

the work, according to the current applicable rate and the pay 30 

schedule of the employer established by policy or practice. 31 

(2) LOCAL ORDINANCES; REQUIRED PROVISIONS.—Upon the 32 

determination by a county that a local solution to wage theft is 33 

necessary, the county may adopt a local ordinance that includes 34 

the following provisions: 35 

(a) The county shall partner with a local legal services 36 

organization for the purpose of establishing a local process 37 

through which claims of wage theft shall be addressed by the 38 

legal services organization. The county may partner with a legal 39 

services organization located within the county itself or within 40 

an adjoining county. 41 

(b) An individual who has experienced wage theft may 42 

contact the legal services organization for assistance in 43 

recovering wages. The legal services organization shall 44 

determine whether the individual has a bona fide claim for 45 

unpaid wages. 46 

(c) The legal services organization shall notify the 47 

employer and provide the employer with an opportunity to resolve 48 

the matter of unpaid wages in the manner deemed most appropriate 49 

to each claim. The notification may occur by telephone, written 50 

correspondence, or any other means deemed appropriate by the 51 

legal services organization. 52 

(d) The legal services organization shall work with the 53 

employee and employer to resolve the issue informally but 54 

expeditiously. The informal resolution may include obtaining 55 

attorney fees and costs from the employer. 56 

(e) The legal services organization shall file court 57 

actions as appropriate and refer unresolved claims to local pro 58 



Florida Senate - 2014 SB 926 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

18-01390-14 2014926__ 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

bono or other counsel for resolution. 59 

(f) The county shall establish a reporting mechanism 60 

through which the county receives regular reports regarding the 61 

legal services organization’s work on cases of wage theft. The 62 

county may require monthly, quarterly, or annual reports, or any 63 

combination thereof. 64 

(3) FUNDING.—The county may dedicate county funds to assist 65 

the legal services organization in addressing claims of wage 66 

theft. 67 

(4) PREEMPTION.—Except as provided in subsection (5), any 68 

regulation of wage theft by a county, municipality, or other 69 

political subdivision that exceeds the provisions in this 70 

section is preempted to the state. 71 

(5) CURRENT ORDINANCES.—Notwithstanding subsection (4), a 72 

local ordinance governing wage theft which was enacted on or 73 

before January 1, 2014, is not preempted by this section. 74 

Section 2. This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 75 























































































































































CourtSmart Tag Report 
 
Room: SB 301 Case:  Type:  
Caption: Senate Community Affairs Committee Judge:  
 
Started: 3/5/2014 1:31:52 PM 
Ends: 3/5/2014 3:11:16 PM Length: 01:39:25 
 
1:32:02 PM Call to order 
1:32:53 PM Tab 2 SB 720 Senator Galvano's legislative aide Ally 
1:33:36 PM Amendment 1 barcode 199272 
1:34:35 PM Roll call on SB 730 
1:34:45 PM Bill passes 
1:34:51 PM Tab 3 SB 378 Senator Abruzzo 
1:35:47 PM Amendment 1 barcode 280972 
1:36:11 PM Senator Soto 
1:37:18 PM Roll call on SB 378 
1:37:46 PM Tab 4 SB 358 Senator Ring's legislative aide J.J Piskadlo 
1:39:37 PM Senator Hukill 
1:40:36 PM Roll call on SB 358 
1:40:57 PM Bill passes 
1:41:00 PM Tab 5 SB 392 Senator Brandes 
1:41:38 PM Senator Smith 
1:42:13 PM Speaker H. Lee Moffitt representing AAA - The Auto Club Group 
1:47:22 PM Senator Thompson 
1:47:51 PM Senator Thrasher 
1:51:11 PM Senator Soto 
1:53:31 PM Senator Latvala 
1:55:02 PM Senator Hukill 
1:58:38 PM Roll call on SB 392 
1:58:52 PM Bill passes 
1:58:58 PM Tab 1 SB 626 Senator Hay's legislative aide Nanci Cornwell 
1:59:49 PM Amendment 1 barcode 188614 
2:00:59 PM Senator Soto 
2:01:39 PM Senator Smith 
2:02:49 PM Senator Bradley 
2:11:51 PM Senator Hukill 
2:13:34 PM Roll call on SB 626 
2:13:48 PM Bill passes 
2:13:56 PM Tab 6 SB 586 Senator Altman's legislative aide Rick Kendust 
2:15:22 PM Speaker David Cullen representing Sierra Club Florida 
2:16:39 PM Senator Bradley 
2:18:59 PM Senator Soto 
2:20:05 PM Senator Hukill 
2:21:33 PM Roll call on SB 586 
2:21:44 PM Bill passes 
2:21:56 PM Tab 8 SB 806 Senator Bradley 
2:23:00 PM Roll call on SB 806 
2:23:11 PM Bill passes 
2:23:26 PM Tab 7 SB 846 Senator Latvala 
2:26:05 PM Senator Smith 
2:26:54 PM Amendment 1 barcode 318152 
2:27:48 PM Senator Bradley 
2:28:18 PM Speaker Kraig Conn representing Florida League of Cities 
2:30:14 PM Amendment 1 withdrawn 
2:30:17 PM Amendment 2 barcode 579214 
2:30:52 PM Amendment 3 barcode 368688 
2:31:16 PM Senator Smith 
2:31:44 PM Amendment 4 barcode 401810 
2:32:15 PM Amendment 5 barcode 775920 



2:33:29 PM Amendment to amendment 5 barcode 147526 
2:34:03 PM Amendment 6 barcode 233736 
2:34:41 PM Amendment 7 barcode 516268 
2:35:24 PM Amendment 8 barcode 883636 
2:37:19 PM Roll call on SB 846 
2:37:33 PM Bill passes 
2:37:57 PM Tab 9 SB 544 Senator Simpson 
2:39:21 PM Speaker Carol Jordan representing Tax Collectors Office 
2:40:05 PM Speaker Marion Hammer representing NRA 
2:41:39 PM Roll call on SB 544 
2:41:43 PM Bill passes 
2:41:54 PM Tab 10 SB 926 Senator Simpson 
2:44:15 PM Senator Soto 
2:45:34 PM Senator Latvala 
2:49:49 PM Speaker Samantha Padgett representing Florida Retail Federation 
2:51:58 PM Senator Thompson 
2:52:54 PM Senator Smith 
2:53:26 PM Speaker Rich Templin representing Florida AFL - CIO 
2:59:44 PM Senator Latvala 
3:01:45 PM Speaker Karen Woodall representing FL Center for Fiscal and Economic Policy 
3:07:21 PM Senator Thrasher 
3:08:57 PM Senator Thompson 
3:10:02 PM Roll call on SB 926 
3:10:24 PM Bill passes 
3:11:12 PM Adjournment 


	Intro
	Expanded Agenda (Long)

	Tab 1
	S0626
	CA Bill Analysis 3/5/2014
	188614
	0626__
	SB 626 Appearance Cards.pdf
	SB 626 Agenda Request.pdf
	Request for aide to present SB 626.pdf


	Tab 2
	S0730
	CA Bill Analysis 3/6/2014
	199272
	0730__
	SB 730 Appearance Cards.pdf
	SB 730 Agenda Request.pdf


	Tab 3
	S0378
	CA Bill Analysis 3/6/2014
	280972
	0378c1
	SB 378 Appearance Cards.pdf


	Tab 4
	S0358
	CA Bill Analysis 3/5/2014
	0358__
	SB 358 Agenda Request.pdf
	SB 358 LA to present.pdf


	Tab 5
	S0392
	CA Bill Analysis 3/5/2014
	0392__
	SB 392 Appearance Cards.pdf
	SB 392 Agenda Request.pdf


	Tab 6
	S0586
	CA Bill Analysis 3/5/2014
	0586c1
	SB 586 Appearance Cards.pdf
	Request for aide to present SB 586.pdf
	SB 586 Agenda Request.pdf


	Tab 7
	S0846
	CA Bill Analysis 3/6/2014
	318152
	579214
	368688
	401810
	775920
	147526
	233736
	516268
	883636
	0846c1
	SB 846 Appearance Cards.pdf


	Tab 8
	S0806
	CA Bill Analysis 3/5/2014
	0806__
	SB 806 Appearance Cards.pdf
	SB 806 Agenda Request.pdf


	Tab 9
	S0544
	CA Bill Analysis 3/5/2014
	0544c1
	SB 544 Appearance Cards.pdf


	Tab 10
	S0926
	CA Bill Analysis 3/5/2014
	0926__
	SB 926 Appearance Cards.pdf
	Document provided by Rich Templin re SB 926.pdf

	Comment
	TagReport.pdf





